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The board of directors (the “Board”) of Postal Savings Bank of China Co., Ltd. (the “Bank”™)
hereby announces the audited annual results of the Bank and its subsidiaries for the year ended
December 31, 2023 and the proposed payment of cash dividend for 2023. The Audit Committee
of the Board of the Bank has reviewed such audited annual results. This announcement complies
with the relevant content requirements of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited in relation to preliminary announcements of annual
results. The Bank’s Annual Report for 2023 will be published on the websites of Hong Kong
Exchanges and Clearing Limited at www.hkexnews.hk and of the Bank in due course, and will
be sent to the H shareholders of the Bank according to their chosen means of receipt of corporate
communications.

By order of the Board
Postal Savings Bank of China Co., Ltd.
Du Chunye
Joint Company Secretary

Beijing, PRC
March 28, 2024

As at the date of this announcement, the Board of the Bank comprises Mr. Liu Jianjun and Ms. Yao Hong as Executive
Directors; Mr. Han Wenbo, Mr. Chen Donghao, Mr. Wei Qiang, Mr. Huang Jie, Mr. Liu Yue and Mr. Ding Xiangming
as Non-executive Directors; Mr. Wen Tiejun, Mr. Chung Shui Ming Timpson, Mr. Hu Xiang, Ms. Pan Yingli and Mr.
Tang Zhihong as Independent Non-executive Directors.

* Postal Savings Bank of China Co., Ltd. is not an authorized institution within the meaning of the Banking
Ordinance (Chapter 155 of the Laws of Hong Kong), not subject to the supervision of the Hong Kong Monetary
Authority, and not authorized to carry on banking and/or deposit-taking business in Hong Kong.



Important Notice

The Board of Directors, the Board of Supervisors, Directors, Supervisors and the senior management of the Bank undertake
that the information in this report is true, accurate and complete and contains no false records, misleading statements or
material omissions, and they assume individual and joint legal liabilities for such information.

The 2023 annual report, highlights and results announcement were reviewed and approved at the meeting of the Board
of Directors of the Bank held on March 28, 2024. The number of Directors who should attend the meeting is 13, among
which 13 Directors attended the meeting in person. The attendance was in compliance with the requirements of the
Company Law of the People’s Republic of China and the Articles of Association.

In accordance with the Company Law of the People’s Republic of China, the Administrative Measures for Provisioning
of Financial Enterprises, the Articles of Association and relevant requirements, cash dividends totaling approximately
RMB25,881 million (before tax) will be distributed to all ordinary shareholders whose names appeared on the share
register on the record date at RMB2.610 (before tax) per ten ordinary shares. The Bank did not convert its capital reserve
to share capital in 2023. The aforesaid profit distribution scheme is subject to review and approval at the 2023 Annual
General Meeting. For details of the Bank’s profit during the reporting period, please refer to “Discussion and Analysis -
Analysis of Financial Statements”.

During the reporting period, there was no misappropriation of the Bank’s funds by its controlling shareholder or other
related parties for non-operating purposes and no material guarantee business that violated the applicable regulations
and procedures.

The financial report of the Bank for the year 2023, prepared in accordance with PRC GAAP and IFRSs, has been audited by
Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Certified Public Accountants LLP and Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu in accordance with domestic
and international auditing standards respectively with unqualified auditor’s reports issued.

The Board of Directors of Postal Savings Bank of China Co., Ltd.
March 28, 2024

Mr. Liu Jianjun, Legal Representative of the Bank, Mr. Xu Xueming, Vice President in charge of finance of the Bank, and
Ms. Deng Ping, General Manager of Finance and Accounting Department of the Bank, hereby declare and warrant the
truthfulness, accuracy and completeness of the financial statements contained in this report.

This report contains forward-looking statements on the Bank’s financial position, business performance and
development. These statements are based on existing plans, estimates and forecasts and may involve future plans
which do not constitute any substantive commitments to investors by the Bank. Hence, investors and persons
concerned shall be fully aware of the risks and understand the difference between plans, estimates and commitments.

During the reporting period, the Bank was not aware of any material risk that would adversely affect its future
development strategies and business targets. The Bank proactively took measures to effectively manage all kinds of

risks. Please refer to “Discussion and Analysis — Risk Management” for details.

This report is prepared in both Chinese and English. In case of discrepancy between the two versions, the Chinese version
shall prevail.
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Definitions

“Articles of Association”

“Bank/PSBC/Postal
Savings Bank of China”

“central bank/PBC”

“China Post Group”

“CSRC”
"Group"
“HKEx”

“Hong Kong Listing Rules”

“Hong Kong Stock Exchange”
“IFRSs”

IIMOFII

“NFRA/former CBIRC/
former CBRC”

“new rules on asset
management”

“new rules on capital
management”

“PRC GAAP”

“PSBC Consumer Finance”
“PSBC Wealth Management”
“Sannong”

”SFO"
”SM ES"

IISSEII
“SSE Listing Rules”

“YOU* BANK”

The Articles of Association of Postal Savings Bank of China Co., Ltd., as amended,
supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time

Postal Savings Bank of China Co., Ltd., a joint stock limited liability company
established in the PRC in accordance with PRC laws, including its predecessors,
branches and sub-branches, directly-operated outlets and agency outlets (to the
extent of agency outlets’ operations, risk management and licenses in relation to
agency banking businesses they conduct) and subsidiaries (where the context so
requires)

People’s Bank of China

China Post Group Corporation Limited, a wholly state-owned company restructured
from the former China Post Group Corporation in accordance with the Company Law
of the People’s Republic of China, is the controlling shareholder of the Bank

China Securities Regulatory Commission
The Bank and its subsidiaries
Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited

The Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited, as amended, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited

International Financial Reporting Standards and the related amendments and
interpretations issued by the International Accounting Standards Board

Ministry of Finance of the PRC

National Financial Regulatory Administration or its predecessors, i.e., the former
China Banking and Insurance Regulatory Commission, or the former China Banking
Regulatory Commission (where the context so requires)

Guiding Opinions on Regulating Asset Management Business of Financial Institutions
and other related regulations

Capital Rules for Commercial Banks and other related regulations

The Accounting Standards for Business Enterprises issued by the MOF on February 15,
2006, and other related regulations issued thereafter

PSBC Consumer Finance Co., Ltd.
PSBC Wealth Management Co., Ltd.
Agriculture, rural areas and farmers

The Securities and Futures Ordinance, Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong, as
amended, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time

Enterprises classified as micro, small, and medium-sized enterprises under the
Classification Standards of Small and Medium Enterprises

Shanghai Stock Exchange

Rules Governing the Listing of Stocks on Shanghai Stock Exchange, as amended,
supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time

YOU* BANK, a direct bank subsidiary set up by the Bank

The currency for the amounts included in this report, unless otherwise stated, is Renminbi (“RMB”).

Certain amounts and percentage figures included in this report have been subject to rounding adjustments. Accordingly,
figures shown as totals in certain tables may not be an arithmetic aggregation of the figures preceding them.

Postal Savings Bank of China Co,, Ltd. | 2023 Annual Report



Discussion and Analysis Corporate Governance

Company Profile

? The postal savings business in ° The Bank was transformed into
| China can be traced back to a joint stock limited liability
i its start in 1919 with a history company in January 2012.

of over one hundred years.

. g

Financial Statements and Others

The Bank was listed on
the SSE in December
2019.

°

) 1919 2007 mmm

. In March 2007, based on the reform of . The Bank went public and was
the previous postal savings management listed on the Hong Kong Stock

system, Postal Savings Bank of China Exchange in September 2016.

Limited was officially established.

With approximately 40,000 outlets and services covering over 660 million personal customers, the Bank focuses
on providing financial services to Sannong customers, urban and rural residents, and SMEs. Relying on its
unique model and resource endowment featuring directly-operated outlets and agency outlets, it is committed
to meeting the financial needs of the most promising customers during China’s economic transformation. In
addition, the Bank is accelerating its transformation towards a new retail bank featuring data-driven, channel
coordination, interaction between wholesale and retail as well as efficient operation. It has shown superior
asset quality and significant development potential, and is a leading major retail bank in China.

The Bank is committed to serving the real economy, actively implementing national strategies, and fulfilling
its social responsibilities. It adheres to the customer-centric philosophy and has established a financial service
system where online and offline services connect with each other for joint development, providing customers
with quality, convenient and efficient integrated financial services. It adheres to the risk-based approach as
well as a prudent and sound risk appetite, enhances the leading role of risk management on all fronts, and
continuously improves the comprehensive risk management framework featuring “all aspects, whole process
and entire staff”. It continues to follow the operation philosophy of “gaining a first-mover advantage with
market insights’, takes bold action in innovation and reform, deepens capacity building, and strives for high-
quality development.

Since its establishment 17 years ago, the Bank has been playing an increasingly important role in the market
with marked influence. It has been rated A+ and A1 this year by Fitch Ratings and Moody’s Investors Service,
respectively, which are the same as China’s sovereignty credit ratings. It has been rated A, AAAspc and AAA by
S&P Global Ratings, S&P Global (China) Ratings and CCXI, respectively. In 2023, it ranked 12th in The Banker’s
list of “Top 1000 World Banks” in terms of tier 1 capital.

/ﬁ\
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Faced with new requirements for the financial sector in a new era and on a new journey, the Bank will thoroughly implement the new
development philosophy, focus on high-quality development, stay committed to the general principle of pursuing progress while ensuring
stability, and comprehensively deepen reform and innovation. Committed to fulfilling its economic, political and social responsibilities as a major
state-owned bank, the Bank will press ahead with “five priorities” of technology finance, green finance, inclusive finance, pension finance and
digital finance, continue to improve the quality and efficiency of serving the real economy and the ability of serving customers, and accelerate the
transformation and development towards “uniqueness, comprehensiveness, lightness, digitalization and intensiveness”. It will adhere to the “5 plus
1" strategic path’, move faster to build the five differentiated growth poles in Sannong finance, microfinance, proactive credit extension, wealth
management, and financial market business, and make every effort to be a first-tier large retail bank which is trustworthy, distinctive, prudent,

safe, innovative, and with remarkable value.

1 "5 plus 1" strategic path refers to digital finance, eco-finance, coordinated finance, industrial finance and green finance, and end-to-end risk management and compliance.

Green wor \u
, better Nife
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Strategic Positioning and Corporate Culture

Build a first-tier large retail bank
which is trustworthy, distinctive,
prudent, safe, innovative,
and with remarkable value

Strategic
Vision

Empower high-quality development
with financial technology,

accelerate transformation of
business models, build a smart
risk control system and enhance

value creation to be a leading

digital ecology bank serving

Strategic
Objectives

Deliver accessible
financial services in both
urban and rural areas

the rural revitalization
and new urbanization

Create value for customers.
Integrity is the cornerstone of our

development.
Prudence leads to sustainability.
Employees are our greatest asset.
Excellence comes through

Be responsible,
resilient and caring

professionalism.
Embrace change and keep
innovating.

Company
Spirit

Brand

Together we
make it better

Management philosophy: Keep it simple and

reduce administrative burden.

Business philosophy: Gain a first-mover

advantage with market insights.

Risk philosophy: Prudence and compliance lead

to stability, and risk control is the key to sustainable

development.

Service philosophy: Pour our heart and soul for

customer satisfaction.

Talent philosophy: Respect the value of

employees, tap their potential, and bring them

closer to their dreams.

Coordination philosophy: See the bigger
picture, act with one mind, and make

\ progress toward a shared future.

Premise

Company
Philosophies
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Discussion and Analysis Corporate Governance Financial Statements and Others

In 2023, the Bank adhered to the people-centered values and prioritized serving the real
economy as the fundamental purpose, with the prevention and control of financial risks
as an enduring task. Centering around the strategic objectives and guidelines of the 14th
Five-Year Plan, the Bank gave full play to its distinctive endowments, accelerated the
development of five differentiated growth poles, strengthened the development of major
capabilities in six aspects, and enhanced the competitiveness and strength of PSBC.

Distinctive Endowments and Advantages

The advantage of widely accessible “online + offline” channels

Relying on the operation model of “directly-operated + agency outlets”, the Bank has nearly 40,000 financial outlets covering 99% of counties; among 492
thousand administrative villages nationwide, 420 thousand ULE stations were built by China Post Group and over 300,000 creditworthy villages were built by
PSBC; and online direct banking and mobile banking have become online supplements to the widely accessible offline channels.

The advantage of comprehensive, accurate and reliable information

The Bank collaborated with local governments and leading local enterprises in building a farmers' information data platform which is shared by the Bank, the
government, and enterprises. Through this platform, the Bank has access to information of over 2.20 million farmers’ cooperatives, over 1.80 million family
farms and over 10,000 leading agricultural industrialization enterprises. In addition, the Bank also conducted field trips to verify production and operation
situations, ensuring the accuracy and reliability of the data and information from different dimensions. These reliable data sources will provide accurate
information support for the Bank's targeted credit extension and risk prevention and control.

The advantage of an ecosystem with multiple business models and business types

Leveraging the resource advantages of China Post Group, the Bank formed a rural credit ecosystem in the process of solving the difficulties of sales and
helping thousands of small farmers sell their products to large markets in China. It also formed the foundation of supply chain finance in the process of
solving the difficulties of logistics and promoting the integration of small industries in thousands of villages into the economic cycle. Furthermore, in the
process of solving the difficulties of financing and providing lines of credit to millions of farmers in China, it changed the situation from "individual farmers
with no collateral" to "proactive credit extension for thousands of villages and tens of thousands of farmers" by leveraging sales data brought by the flow of
goods, warehousing data brought by delivery and logistics, and settlement data brought by the flow of funds.

Strategy Implementation

Firstly, notable achievements were seen in developing the Secondly, the building of the major capabilities in
five differentiated growth poles six aspects was continuously advanced

The increment of agro-related loans reached a new record high. The Bank deepened its The Bank strengthened professional core capabilities in core
efforts on serving the five major customer groups of villages, cooperatives, farmers, agricultural business, persisted in creating value for customers, improved the
enterprises and rural supermarkets’, and the balance of agro-related loans amounted to customer segmentation management system, and continued to
RMB2.15 trillion, representing an increase of RMB346,498 million. The Bank achieved fast strengthen the building of workforce. The Bank strengthened its
breakthroughs in its capability of providing inclusive finance. The balance of inclusive loans system support capability, centered around the “optimization

of customer journey”, promoted the overall improvement of
customer service capacities, solidified the intensive operational
management mechanism, and optimized the risk management
operating mechanism. The Bank strengthened capabilities
of coordination and integration and consolidated the
organizational synergy, steadily improving the effectiveness of the
collaboration between China Post Group and the Bank, between
the business lines, and between the parent bank and subsidiaries,

to micro and small-sized enterprises (MSEs) amounted to RMB1.46 trillion, nearly 90% of which
were granted online. Loans to sci-tech enterprises amounted to RMB326,772 million, up 37.65%
over the prior year-end. The Bank maintained a leading position in the industry in terms of
the growth of proactive credit extension business and the quality of risk control. The loan
balance of proactive credit extension exceeded RMB150 billion, with an NPL ratio below 0.5%.
The Bank further advanced the building of a wealth management system. The AUM (assets
under management of personal customers) reached RMB15.23 trillion, representing an increase

of RMB1.34 trillion over the prior year end. The Bank continued to enhance its influence in the acquiring more than 2 million customers through collaboration
interbank ecosystem, with 2,407 institutions registering with the interbank ecosystem platform between China Post Group and the Bank. The Bank strengthened
“Together We Thrive” and a cumulative transaction volume exceeding RMB2 trillion. the capability of technological facilitation, advanced

/ informationization projects in a comprehensive manner, and

the proportion of self-developed systems in the Bank increased
to 73%. The Bank strengthened the capability of institutional
drive, optimized the human resources management mechanism,
improved the resource allocation mechanism centered on RAROC
(risk-adjusted return on capital), and continuously enhanced
its financial support capability. The Bank strengthened the
leading role of innovation. Through optimizing service models,

leading business transformation and unleashing development
prevention management mechanism, with the overall asset quality remaining stable. The momentum, the Bank fostered new differentiated competitive

NPL ratio was 0.83%, which was among the best of major state-owned banks. advantages.

Thirdly, the leading role of risk management was strengthened

The Bank deepened the implementation of advanced approaches for capital management
and the construction of intelligent risk control, established the “future-oriented”
mechanism throughout the entire process, improved the risk monitoring models,
prevented and resolved risks in key areas, and perfected the internal control and case

1

“Villages, cooperatives, farmers, agricultural enterprises and rural supermarkets” refer to administrative villages, farmers' cooperatives, family farms

and large farming households, agro-related enterprises and rural supermarkets.
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* Postal Savings Bank of China Co., Ltd. is not an authorized institution within the meaning of the Banking Ordinance (Chapter 155 of the

Laws of Hong Kong), not subject to the supervision of the Hong Kong Monetary Authority, and not authorized to carry on banking and/or

deposit-taking business in Hong Kong.
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Financial Highlights

The financial data and indicators in this report have been prepared in accordance with the IFRSs. Unless otherwise
specified, they are consolidated data of the Bank and its subsidiaries and denominated in Renminbi.

Operating income Net profit attributable to equity holders of the Bank

(In RMB100 million) Year-on-year increase | (In RMB100 million) Year-on-year increase
2.24% ! 1.23%
)3,429.12 | 862.70
3,353.91 % ! 852.24 r
3,191.07 % E o %
2,865.37 ' _
2,771.16 % ! 64190 %
/ ! 609.33 /
2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 E 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023

Total assets Total loans to customers

1
1
(In RMB trillion) Increase from prior year-end : (In RMB trillion) Increase from prior year-end
11.80% | 13.02%
A | A
15.73 | 8.15
y ! 7
ko 14.07 % E " 7.21 Z
11.35 / ! ' /
10.22 % ! 572 %
% X 4.97 /
_ | _
end of end of end of end of end of : end of end of end of end of end of
2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 | 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023
1

Customer deposits Loan-to-deposit ratio

1
1
(In RMB trillion) Increase from prior year-end E (%) Increase from prior year-end
9.76% : 1 .68 percentage points
1
j 13.96 : j 58.39
12.71 % : 56.84 56.71 %
11.35 Z E o 55.19 Z
10.36 .
9.31 % E %
end of end of end of end of end of : end of end of end of end of end of
2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 1 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023
1

Non-performing loan ratio Core tier 1 capital adequacy ratio

(%) Decrease from prior year-end (%) Increase from prior year-end

0.17 percentage point

9.90 9.60 9.92 )

0.01 percentage point

0.88 K

0.86

0.82 0.84 g/%&’; /
. .
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Discussion and Analysis Corporate Governance Financial Statements and Others

Key Financial Data

In RMB million, unless otherwise stated

Item 2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
Operating results
Operating income 342,912 335,391 319,107 286,537 277,116
Net interest income 281,803 273,593 269,382 253,378 242,686
Net fee and commission income 28,252 28,434 22,007 16,495 14,623
Operating expenses 225,142 208,680 190,995 167,984 157,976
Credit impairment losses 26,167 35,328 46,638 50,398 55,384
Profit before income tax 91,599 91,364 81,454 68,136 63,745
Net profit 86,424 85,355 76,532 64,318 61,036
Net profit attributable to equity holders of

the Bank 86,270 85,224 76,170 64,199 60,933
Net cash generated from

operating activities 263,337 474,914 109,557 161,772 26,443

Per share data (in RMB Yuan)
Basic and diluted earnings per sharet 0.83 0.85 0.78 0.71 0.72

Note (1): Calculated in accordance with the Rules for the Compilation and Submission of Information Disclosure by Companies that Offer
Securities to the Public No. 9 - Calculation and Disclosure of Return on Net Assets and Earnings per Share (Revision 2010) issued
by the CSRC. There are no potential diluted ordinary shares of the Bank, so the diluted earnings per share is the same as the
basic earnings per share. The calculation of relevant indicators excludes the impact of other equity instruments.
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In RMB million, unless otherwise stated

December 31, December 31, December 31, December 31, December 31,

Item™ 2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
Data as at the end of the reporting

period
Total assets 15,726,631 14,067,282 12,587,873 11,353,263 10,216,706
Total loans to customers® 8,148,893 7,210,433 6,454,099 5,716,258 4,974,186
Allowance for impairment losses on

loans to customers® 233,648 232,723 216,900 203,897 166,124
Loans to customers, net 7,915,245 6,977,710 6,237,199 5,512,361 4,808,062
Financial investments® 5,387,588 4,958,899 4,348,620 3,914,650 3,675,030
Cash and deposits with central bank 1,337,501 1,263,951 1,189,458 1,219,862 1,154,843
Total liabilities 14,770,015 13,241,468 11,792,324 10,680,333 9,671,827
Customer deposits? 13,955,963 12,714,485 11,354,073 10,358,029 9,314,066
Equity attributable to equity holders

of the Bank 954,873 824,225 794,091 671,799 543,867
Net capital 1,165,404 1,003,987 945,992 784,579 671,834
Core tier 1 capital - net 780,106 679,887 635,024 542,347 492,212
Additional tier 1 capital - net 170,152 140,126 157,982 127,954 47,948
Risk-weighted assets 8,187,064 7,266,134 6,400,338 5,651,439 4,969,658
Per share data (in RMB Yuan)
Net assets per share® 7.92 7.41 6.89 6.25 5.75

Note (1): In accordance with the relevant regulations under the Notice on Amending the Format of Financial Statements for Financial
Enterprises in 2018 (Cai Kuai [2018] No. 36) issued by the MOF, from 2018 onward, the interest on corresponding assets and
liabilities is included in the balance of carrying amounts of the financial instruments accordingly, and should no longer be
accounted for as separate items of “interest receivable” or “interest payable”. The balance of “interest receivable” or “interest
payable” listed under “other assets” or “other liabilities” is only interest receivable or interest payable on relevant matured
financial instruments but not received nor paid on the date of the balance sheet.

Note (2): For ease of reference, “loans to customers” refers to “loans and advances to customers” and “customer deposits” refers to
“deposits from customers” in this report.

Note (3): Allowance for impairment losses on loans to customers measured at amortized cost.

Note (4): Consists of financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss, financial assets measured at fair value through other
comprehensive income - debt instruments, financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income -
equity instruments, and financial assets measured at amortized cost.

Note (5): Calculated by dividing equity attributable to ordinary shareholders of the Bank at the end of the period by the total number of

ordinary shares at the end of the period.
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Financial Indicators

Item 2023 2022 2021 2020 2019

Profitability (%)

Return on average total assets™" 0.58 0.64 0.64 0.60 0.62
Return on weighted average equity? 10.85 11.89 11.86 11.84 13.10
Net interest margin® 2.01 2.20 2.36 2.42 2.53
Net interest spread® 1.99 2.18 2.30 2.36 2.48
Net fee and commission income to

operating income ratio 8.24 8.48 6.90 5.76 5.28
Cost-to-income ratio® 64.87 61.44 59.08 57.86 56.29

Note (1): Calculated by dividing net profit by the average balance of total assets at the beginning and at the end of the reporting period.

Note (2): Calculated in accordance with the Rules for the Compilation and Submission of Information Disclosure by Companies that Offer
Securities to the Public No. 9 - Calculation and Disclosure of Return on Net Assets and Earnings per Share (Revision 2010) issued
by the CSRC. The calculation of relevant indicators excludes the impact of other equity instruments.

Note (3): Calculated by dividing net interest income by the average balance of interest-earning assets.

Note (4): Calculated by the spread between yield on average balance of interest-earning assets and cost on average balance of interest-
bearing liabilities.

Note (5): Calculated by dividing operating expenses (less taxes and surcharges) by operating income.

December 31, December 31, December 31, December 31, December 31,
Item 2023 2022 2021 2020 2019

Asset quality (%)

Non-performing loan ratio™ 0.83 0.84 0.82 0.88 0.86
Allowance to NPLs ratio? 347.57 385.51 418.61 408.06 389.45
Allowance to loans ratio® 2.88 3.26 3.43 3.60 3.35
Capital adequacy ratio (%)
Core tier 1 capital adequacy ratio® 9.53 9.36 9.92 9.60 9.90
Tier 1 capital adequacy ratio® 11.61 11.29 12.39 11.86 10.87
Capital adequacy ratio® 14.23 13.82 14.78 13.88 13.52
Risk-weighted assets to total assets

ratio?” 52.06 51.65 50.85 49.78 48.64
Total equity to total assets ratio 6.08 5.87 6.32 5.93 533

Note (1): Calculated by dividing the total NPLs by total loans to customers, and the total loans exclude the accrued interest.

Note (2): Calculated by dividing total allowance for impairment losses on loans to customers by total NPLs. Total allowance for
impairment losses on loans to customers includes allowance for impairment losses on loans to customers measured at
amortized cost and allowance for impairment losses on loans to customers measured at fair value through other comprehensive
income.

Note (3): Calculated by dividing the total allowance for impairment losses on loans to customers by total loans to customers, the total
loans do not include the accrued interest.

Note (4): Calculated by dividing core tier 1 capital (net of core tier 1 capital deductions) by risk-weighted assets.

Note (5): Calculated by dividing tier 1 capital (net of tier 1 capital deductions) by risk-weighted assets.

6): Calculated by dividing total capital (net of capital deductions) by risk-weighted assets.

Note (7): Calculated by dividing risk-weighted assets by total assets.



Financial Highlights

Other Major Indicators

Regulatory December31, December31, December31, December31, December 31,

Item criteria 2023 2022 2021 2020 2019

Liquidity ratio (%)™ RMB and foreign 225 83.39 73.87 72.86 71.61 67.96

currency

Percentage of loans to largest <10 13.34 16.50 18.72 23.21 27.19
single borrower (%)?

Percentage of loans to the ten 23.14 27.14 28.67 34.49 39.42
largest borrowers (%)

Loan migration ratio (%) Normal 0.95 0.89 0.60 0.61 0.78

Special mention 32.73 29.22 24.09 45.47 15.73

Substandard 50.99 44.76 48.27 29.48 55.48

Doubtful 72.59 5341 56.81 7832 76.16

Note (1): Calculated by dividing current assets by current liabilities.

Note (2): Percentage of loans to the largest single borrower = balance of loans to the largest borrower/net capital x 100%. The largest

borrower refers to the borrower with the highest balance of loans at the period end. As at the end of the reporting period,

China State Railway Group Co., Ltd. was the Bank’s largest single borrower. The outstanding loan balance with China State

Railway Group Co., Ltd. was RMB155,479 million, accounting for 13.34% of the Bank’s net capital. The credit line the Bank

extended to China State Railway Group Co., Ltd. includes the legacy credit line of RMB240.0 billion which was approved by the

relevant regulatory authorities. As at the end of the reporting period, the outstanding loan balance under such credit line for
China State Railway Group Co., Ltd. was RMB139.5 billion. After deduction of this RMB139.5 billion, the Bank’s balance of loans
to China State Railway Group Co., Ltd. accounts for 1.37% of the Bank’s net capital.

Credit Ratings

Rating Agency 2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
S&P Global Ratings A (stable) A (stable) A (stable) A (stable) A (stable)
Moody’s Investors Service A1 (negative) A1 (stable) A1 (stable) A1 (stable) A1 (stable)
Fitch Ratings A+ (stable) A+ (stable) A+ (stable) A+ (stable) A+ (stable)
S&P Global (China) Ratings AAAspc (stable) AAAspc (stable) AAAspc (stable) AAAspc (stable) AAAspc (stable)
CCXI AAA (stable) AAA (stable) AAA (stable) AAA (stable) AAA (stable)
Quarterly Financial Data
In RMB million
2023
Item Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4
Operating income 88,242 88,915 83,215 82,540
Net profit attributable to equity holders of the Bank 26,280 23,284 26,091 10,615
Net cash generated from operating activities 24,216 59,281 (111,915) 291,755
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Message from the Management

The year 2023 was the first year for fully implementing
the guiding principles from the 20th National Congress
of the Communist Party of China (CPC). China’s economy,
powered up through overcoming difficulties, was showing
a clearer trend of recovery and building up greater
confidence for a long-term upward trajectory. PSBC
integrated itself into the overall national development,
closely followed the economic trends, and made vigorous
and determined efforts to forge ahead and pursue
progress. It accelerated capacity building, innovation,
and transformation, focused on the development of five
differentiated growth poles’, and achieved steady growth
in business performance. As at the end of the year, PSBC's
total assets reached RMB15.73 trillion, up by 11.80%
over the prior year-end; its operating income reached
RMB342,912 million, up by 2.24% year on year; its net
profit was RMB86,424 million, up by 1.25% year on year.
Its asset structure was further optimized, and its loan-to-
deposit ratio continued to improve, with the net interest
margin continuously maintaining a leading position
among peers. PSBC climbed up to the 12th place on The
Banker’s list of “Top 1000 World Banks 2023" in terms of

tier 1 capital.

Looking back on this year, we gained a deeper
understanding of the vital connection between finance
and the real economy, as they coexist and thrive
together. At the critical stage of economic recovery and
development, we provided the most reliable financial
support to our retail and corporate customers, serving
as the lifeblood and oxygen supply to the real economy,
which was not only an undeniable responsibility but
also a nurturing source for long-term development. We
actively responded to national policies and supported the

development of a modern industrial system. Incremental

loans to the real economy exceeded the increment of the
Bank's total loans to customers; both the medium and
long-term loans to the manufacturing sector and loans
to sci-tech enterprises rose by over 37% in the year. The
balance of green loans amounted to RMB637,878 million,
which injected momentum into cultivating new quality
productive forces. We continued to deepen our support
in areas with weak financial supply, such as Sannong
finance, micro and small-sized enterprises (MSEs), and
the private economy. The increment of agro-related loans
reached a new record high. The annual net increase of
inclusive loans for MSEs accounted for nearly 30% of the
net increase of total loans to customers. The number of
private enterprises with loans from the Bank increased
by over 90 thousand. We contributed to the recovery and
expansion of consumption, with our newly gained market
share of consumer credit ranking first among peers. We
felt the pulse of the economy and worked closely with our
customers, whether on major projects of the country, at
the forefront of technological innovation or in relation to
people’s daily lives, leaving our footprint amidst the wave
of green mountains and clear waters and in the bustling
streets and alleys, and making relentless efforts to create a
better life.

While focusing on the needs of the economy and
customer desires, we put more efforts into improving
ourselves. Through adjusting strategies and innovating
financial service models to adapt to new changes
and new features of financial demand, we improved
our internal capabilities and strived to accelerate our
progress on this new journey. Taking stock of this year,
we have seen positive results brought by innovation and

transformation in many aspects:

1 Refers to the five differentiated growth poles in Sannong finance, microfinance, proactive credit extension, wealth management

and financial market business.
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— The three-year action plan for wealth management has
taken root. We strived to get closer to our customers,
selected products based on customer interests, and
responded to customer needs with asset allocation and
differentiated services. We improved the talent cultivation
mechanism, organized on-site training for more than
10,000 people, and enhanced our professional skills to
provide professional and convenient services to our
customers and empower the frontline staff with efficiency.
We upgraded our high-end client service venues, with
more than 100 wealth centers in place. We consistently
deepened our investor education and carried out investor
education in nearly 40,000 outlets, helping our customers
gain insight into their wealth needs and providing them
with long-term companionship. As at the end of the year,
we served over 50 million VIP customers, an increase of

8.72%.

- The application of the business model of proactive credit
extension in retail credit was accelerated. Relying on
the large customer base of PSBC, we have been actively
exploring a new model of retail credit development
that could achieve low-cost customer acquisition and
risk control through proactive credit extension. Under
the proactive credit extension model, we used precise
customer portraits to identify potential high-quality
customers of Sannong finance, consumer credit and credit
cards to implement marketing. We replaced the dispersed
operations of the customer managers with centralized
operations from the Head Office to achieve cost-effective
customer reach and operation. We implemented end-
to-end online acceptance, approval and disbursement
to deliver a minimalist customer experience of “instant
approval and instant disbursement”. Over the 15 months
since its implementation, the loan balance of proactive
credit extension exceeded RMB150 billion, with a non-

performing loan (NPL) ratio below 0.5%.

Corporate Governance Financial Statements and Others

- We fully promoted the new “1 plus N” operation and
service system for corporate banking. Based on corporate
clients’ needs for tailor-made and integrated financial
services, we carried out reform and in-depth application
of the operation mechanism, and developed a marketing
support service system that integrates the front, middle
and back offices by focusing on the six dimensions
of customer, product, collaboration, service, risk and
technology. In just over a year, the number of corporate
clients signing up for the lead-bank service doubled; the
finance product aggregate (FPA) increased by one-fourth;
and more efficient, long-lasting win-win cooperation with

more customers was established.

- We continuously enhanced our influence in the interbank
ecosystem. Leveraging the “Together We Thrive” platform,
we built an ecosystem of financial scenarios which connects
customers, offers a wide range of products, and facilitates
information sharing, so as to better meet the differentiated
service needs of interbank clients. The Bank’s fund
advantage became a powerful driving force in its digital
transformation. As at the end of the year, more than 2,400
customers signed for the platform, and the cumulative

trading amount exceeded RMB?2 trillion.

As the management of a bank, we are well aware that
it is not easy to maintain long-term success. There are
no shortcuts on the path of practicing long-termism. In
light of this, we persisted in doing the “difficult but right
things”, and focused on internal transformation in 2022
to comprehensively build the “Major Capabilities in Six
Aspects”' and strengthen the foundation. We focused
on innovation and change in 2023 to build the five
differentiated growth poles and lead the breakthroughs,
and made consistent efforts to enhance our brand as a

trustworthy bank. We adhered to a prudent risk appetite

1 Refers to “major capabilities in six aspects” including core business, system support, coordination and integration, technological

facilitation, institutional drive and innovation leadership.
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and carried out process management and closed-loop
management by applying digital risk control technologies,
thereby ensuring asset quality. As at the end of the year,
the NPL ratio was 0.83%, and the NPL formation ratio was
0.85%. All risk indicators were maintained at an excellent
level in the industry. We put risk management first at
all times, built and applied the “future-oriented” model,
gained a comprehensive understanding of customers from
multiple dimensions such as industry trends, enterprises’
growth potential and enterprises’ financial performance,
enhanced customer risk identification capability, changed
from the previous follower strategy to active marketing,
and facilitated the business development of acting as
the lead bank. During the year, we approved business for
nearly 10,000 customers by using the “future-oriented”
model, with the total approved amount exceeding
RMB1.3 trillion. We advanced financial digitalization,
integrated PSBC Brain with big model technology,
built new generative Al capability, and accelerated the
reshaping of service models for digital finance. With the
introduction of Mobile Banking 9.0, we created immersive
companion service featuring “Al space + digital employees
+ video customer service”, enhancing the quality and
efficiency of financial services. Upholding the principle
of "using good steel for the blade”, we streamlined
organizational processes and unleashed the potential of
resources. Positive results were achieved in advancing
the pilot reform of transformation to a dumbbell-shaped
organizational structure. The intensive operations helped
improve the efficiency of consumer credit operations by
42%, reduced manpower for review and approval of micro
loans by 60%. Over 67% of debt collection for consumer
credit were replaced by intelligent speech. PSBC made
another big step towards becoming a more asset-light,

more efficient, and modern first-class commercial bank.
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In 2024, the Central Financial Work Conference outlined
the financial development blueprint with Chinese
characteristics in the new era, and a new chapter has
unfolded for the financial work of the new era on the new
journey. PSBC will always adhere to Xi Jinping Thought
on Socialism with Chinese Characteristics for a New Era,
uphold the political consciousness and put people first in
its financial work, practice financial culture with Chinese
characteristics, serve as the main force in serving the real
economy, and act as a ballast in maintaining financial
stability. As there will be challenges and obstacles along
the way, we must have the resolve and not be disturbed
by the surrounding noise and the composure to make our
own way unburdened to persist in the pursuit of long-
term value in the test of market changes. The Bank will
seek progress while ensuring stability, promote stability
through progress, and strive to achieve healthy and long-

term sustainable development amid cyclical fluctuations.

We will closely follow the national strategy, find our
own fit in the high-quality development of the “five
priorities”, and contribute to the work of building China
into a financial powerhouse. It is the bounden duty
of finance to serve the real economy, and adhering to
differentiated development is the long-term strategic
choice of PSBC. Focusing on technology finance, green
finance, inclusive finance, pension finance, and digital
finance, PSBC has been striving to build differentiated
growth poles, which will open up broader development

space.

- We are committed to building ourselves as the main
force for rural revitalization, a comprehensive service
provider for inclusive finance. “Delivering accessible

financial services in both urban and rural areas” is the



Discussion and Analysis

mission and philosophy of PSBC. Over the past 17 years,
we have built a network advantage based on geographical,
kinship and social relationships, forged a professional,
dedicated and attentive inclusive service team, and
explored a path for the sustainable development of
inclusive finance. In line with the development direction
of building a high-level inclusive financial system, we will
serve the country’s needs and the people’s expectations
with our own strengths, and promote the targeted
development of the rural market in response to the
effective needs of Sannong customers; extend the service
radius for small and medium-sized enterprises and enrich
service scenarios to support the sustainable development
of micro and small-sized business entities; actively respond
to residents’ wealth needs, focus on enhancing the ability
to create value for personal customers, and benefit the
people’s livelihood and warm their hearts with convenient

and high-quality services.

- We are committed to becoming a driving force in
technology finance. Speeding up the realization of
high-level self-reliance and strength in science and
technology is the only way to promote high-quality
development. In 2022, we proposed to build service
expertise for specialized and sophisticated enterprises
that produce new and unique products as a unique
advantage of PSBC. Nowadays, we are gradually building
a unique “3 plus 2" technology finance model, focusing
on three types of customer groups, namely high-tech
enterprises, technology-oriented small and medium-sized
enterprises, and specialized and sophisticated enterprises
that produce new and unique products, and taking
industrial parks and industrial chains as the business
driver, so as to accelerate the expansion of services
for traditional industries with ongoing transformation
such as automobiles and emerging industries such as

electronics and information technology. We will rely on
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the “future-oriented” model, and provide full life-cycle
financial services to accompany the growth of enterprises,
so as to strive for a “first-mover” advantage in the race of

technology finance.

- We are committed to building a digital ecosystem-
based bank. We will further promote the transformation
of FinTech capabilities into digital and intelligent
advantages, optimize resource allocation, improve
management efficiency, and empower value creation.
We will further promote the proactive credit extension
model in lower-tier markets and continuously expand
the boundaries to meet potential and effective financial
needs. The “Together We Thrive” interbank ecosystem
platform will be upgraded to continuously enhance the
integrated service capability for interbank customers;
more portable interactions will be realized through
mobile banking; more potential will be released through
“cloud counter” remote services; and the video operation
system will support more scenarios, etc. The new quality
productive forces driven by the digital economy bring

more possibilities for development.

- We are committed to becoming a promoter of pension
finance. We will give full play to the advantages of wide
customer coverage, deep network penetration and abundant
collaborative resources. We will comprehensively build
a three-dimensional pension financial system of “three
horizontals and three verticals’, targeting the three main
groups, namely the pre-retirement, the elderly, and families.
We will deeply explore the three major areas of pension
finance, pension service finance and pension industry
finance, promote product sharing, service integration and
industry collaboration, work with our customers to create
a high-quality future for elderly care, and strive to become
a caring bank that accompanies our customers in their
retirement journey and an important service bank for the

comprehensive promotion of national pension finance.
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- We are committed to putting green finance into
action. We will take continuous action to advocate the
concept of “Green World, Better Life”, vigorously develop
sustainable finance, green finance, and climate financing,
innovate green and inclusive financial products, carbon
finance and climate-friendly products, and increase the
scale of green loans and green investment and financing,
explore transition finance and just transition, support
biodiversity conservation, and contribute to peeking
carbon dioxide emissions and achieving carbon neutrality.
We will strive to build a first-class green and inclusive

bank, climate-friendly bank and eco-friendly bank.

We will strive to promote refined management and
integrate the system capabilities built by the building of
the “Major Capabilities in Six Aspects” and the new drivers
of innovation and transformation into the whole process
of PSBC’s operation and management. We will seek
the best solutions for financial services while grasping
business rules and “squeeze the water from the dry towel”
in the era of meager profit, so as to achieve effective
countercyclical development. We will manage costs in a
refined manner and formulate scientific and quantitative
yardsticks for resource allocation, with resources precisely
allocated to all aspects. We will effectively control
expenditure like a “tap” to prevent any wastage, and
meticulously calculate every expense. We will vigorously
promote organizational adjustments and intensive

operations to maximize the utilization of resources already
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invested. We will refine our management processes,
meticulously scrutinize every element, process, and service,
and continuously refine business processes to make them
simpler and more accessible with superior experience
and strong competitiveness, so as to dig deeper into
comprehensive value and improve customer experience.
We will manage risks in a refined manner and implement
the comprehensive risk management requirements of
“all aspects, whole process, and entire staff” in all stages
of monitoring, guidance, constraints, accountability, and
retrospective review, so as to not only “prevent problems
before they arise” but also “resolve problems before they

escalate”.

All things in the world are accomplished through
prudence and failed through carelessness, and prosperity
depends on diligence and gets wasted due to idleness.
Every long-termism believer is dedicated to preparing
for the future while securing the present and is able
to withstand the test of storms while seizing the
opportunities of the times. PSBC has the confidence and
the capabilities to steadfastly pursue the path of financial
development with Chinese characteristics, responds
to the uncertainties of the changing landscape with its
own certainty, and fosters innovation, capabilities and
management as a panacea for achieving countercyclical
breakthroughs and high-quality development. In the
coming year, we will ride the waves and, together with
all our customers and investors, stride forward toward a

bright and promising future!



Chairman of the
Board of Supervisors









Environment and Prospect

In 2023, the global economy continued its recovery trend,
yet with divergent growth prospects and accumulation of
potential financial risks. Developed economies generally
saw high inflation, high interest rates and high debts,
almost coming to the end of the interest rate hike cycle.
Emerging economies have temporarily halted rate hikes or
started easing, leading to divergent monetary policies.

China’s economy continued to pick up, but was still
challenged by, among others, insufficient effective
demand, overcapacity in some industries, relatively weak
social expectations and many hidden risks. There were
bottlenecks in the domestic circulation, while the external
environment was becoming more complex, challenging
and uncertain. In face of a complex and severe international
environment and the arduous task of advancing reform
and development while ensuring stability at home,
China stepped up macroeconomic regulation, expanded
domestic demand, adjusted the structure, boosted
confidence, and controlled risks, and solidly advanced
high-quality development. Proactive fiscal policies were
further intensified to improve effectiveness, focusing on
expanding investment, stimulating consumption and
ensuring people’s livelihood. Prudent monetary policies
were implemented with precision and strength, increasing
countercyclical adjustments, stabilizing and reducing
financing costs for the real economy, and keeping the
RMB exchange rate basically stable at an adaptive and
equilibrium level. China’s banking industry maintained a
steady development momentum, with continuous efforts
in increasing loan supply, constantly optimizing the credit
structure, and further improving the quality and efficiency
of serving the real economy. Its asset quality was generally
stable, and the overall risk coverage capacity was sufficient.

Looking ahead to 2024, the world economy will face
rising uncertainties in growth, and the policy and market
spillover risks from developed economies will continue
to impact emerging economies through channels such
as exchange rates, capital flows, and external debts.
Overall, the opportunities for China’s economy outweigh
the challenges, with more tailwinds than headwinds.
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By adhering to the principle of seeking progress while
maintaining stability, promoting stability through
progress, and establishing the new before abolishing
the old, China will completely, fully and faithfully apply
the new development philosophy on all fronts, speed up
building the new development paradigm, and coordinate
the efforts to expand domestic demand and deepen
supply-side structural reforms, the efforts to promote new
urbanization and boost comprehensive rural revitalization,
and the efforts to drive high-quality development and
ensure high-level security, so as to effectively upgrade and
appropriately expand its economic output. China will step
up countercyclical and cross-cyclical regulation through
macroeconomic policies, properly intensifying proactive
fiscal policies to improve its quality and effectiveness,
and ensuring prudent monetary policies to be flexible,
appropriate, targeted and effective, so as to keep
liquidity adequate and at a reasonable level, and align
the aggregate financing to the real economy and money
supply with the expected targets of economic growth and
price levels. The banking industry will resolutely carry out
the decisions and plans of the CPC Central Committee
and the State Council, fully act on the requirements of
the Central Financial Work Conference and the Central
Economic Work Conference, and implement the new
development philosophy in a complete, accurate
and comprehensive manner. It will prioritize the
development of “five priorities” of technology finance,
green finance, inclusive finance, pension finance and
digital finance, increase support for key areas and weak
links such as inclusive micro and small-sized enterprises,
manufacturing, green development, sci-tech innovation,
and infrastructure construction, provide high-quality
financial services to the real economy and firmly guard
against systemic financial risks.

2024 is a key year for the implementation of the guiding
principles of the 20th CPC National Congress. The Bank
will take Xi Jinping Thought on Socialism with Chinese
Characteristics for a New Era as its guide, thoroughly
implement the guiding principles of the 20th CPC
National Congress and the Second Plenary Session of



Overview

the 20th CPC Central Committee, earnestly implement
the guiding principles of the Central Financial Work
Conference and the Central Economic Work Conference,
and uphold the principle of seeking progress while
maintaining stability and promoting stability through
progress. Led by high-quality Party building, based on
capability building, driven by innovation and reform, and
supported by refined management, the Bank will speed
up its development as a first-class large retail bank and
contribute to the building of a financial powerhouse.

Firstly, the Bank will resolutely implement the major
decisions and plans of the CPC Central Committee, and
fulfill its responsibilities as a major state-owned bank.
It will vigorously support national strategies including
the innovation-driven development strategy and the
strategy of coordinated regional development as well as
such key areas as food and energy security, scientific and
technological innovation, and advanced manufacturing.
It will make solid efforts in “five priorities” of technology
finance, green finance, inclusive finance, pension
finance and digital finance, and vigorously support rural
revitalization. Specifically, the Bank will build inclusive
finance into its biggest feature and most prominent
advantage, accelerate the building of its differentiated
advantages in pension finance, effectively enhance the
service capabilities of technology finance, press ahead
with green finance, comprehensively drive digital finance,
and strive to be the main force serving rural revitalization,
a provider of integrated inclusive finance services, and an
emerging force driving technology finance.

Secondly, the Bank will refine business management, and
build differentiated competitive advantages. Remaining
focused on AUM, the Bank will make solid efforts in
customer asset allocation, accelerate the transformation
of business models in consumer finance, credit cards and
finance related to agriculture, rural areas, and farmers, and
comprehensively improve the capability of retail banking
to create value for customers. The Bank will continue to
deepen the new “1 plus N” operation and service system’
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of corporate banking, intensify the integration and
synergy, and tailor differentiated and integrated financial
services based on the characteristics of customer groups.
The Bank will closely follow market changes, improve
asset allocation and trading capabilities, strengthen the
development of inter-bank ecosystem, and improve the
returns of the treasury and asset management businesses.

Thirdly, the Bank will strengthen technological
empowerment and speed up digital and intelligent
transformation. The Bank will make all-out efforts to
advance the implementation of the 14th Five-Year Plan
on IT Development, develop key projects at a faster pace,
fully leverage the supporting role of the integration of
business and technology, and enhance the effectiveness of
technology application. The Bank will drive empowerment
through digital and intelligent applications, conduct
research and development of big data technology, perfect
the data service system, and step up the building of
data application scenarios, to cover all key customers,
main businesses and critical links. It will also consolidate
the foundation for system operation, and expediate
the transformation towards intelligent operation and
maintenance.

Fourthly, the Bank will coordinate development and
security, and firmly forestall risks. It will implement the
new rules on capital management, vigorously promote
compliance with the advanced approaches for capital
management, advance intelligent risk control, and
accelerate the digital transformation of risk control, to
boost the comprehensive risk management capability. It
will refine the industry research mechanism, strengthen
the capability of being future-oriented, and deepen the
concept of risk-based management. The Bank will tighten
control at the source, focus on key areas, and control
credit risks precisely and effectively. The Bank will sharpen
the capability of internal control and case prevention
management, step up compliance management, and
improve the mechanism and management system for case

prevention.

1 The new “1 plus N” operation and service system refers to a system under which the Bank carries out reform and in-depth
application of the operation mechanism, and develops a marketing support service system that integrates the front, middle and
back offices by focusing on the six dimensions of customer, product, collaboration, service, risk and technology.
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In 2023, the Bank adhered to the strategic positioning of retail banking, continuously advanced innovation and reform,
constantly deepened capacity building, gradually developed differentiated competitive advantages with a focus on

building five differentiated growth poles, and realized sound development momentum across the Bank.

Firstly, the scale of business achieved steady growth. As at the end of the reporting period, the Bank’s total assets reached
RMB15.73 trillion, an increase of 11.80% over the prior year-end, of which total loans to customers amounted to RMB8.15
trillion, an increase of 13.02% over the prior year-end, with RMB182,126 million more than the incremental growth in
the prior year, achieving a record high increment. Total liabilities reached RMB14.77 trillion, an increase of 11.54% from
the end of last year, of which customer deposits reached RMB13.96 trillion, an increase of 9.76% from the end of last
year. The core liabilities maintained a steady and healthy development. Loan-to-deposit ratio was 58.39%, an increase of
1.68 percentage points compared with the prior year-end, which represented the continuous optimization of the asset

structure.

Secondly, operating results remained stable. During the reporting period, the Bank’s net profit attributable to equity
holders stood at RMB86,270 million, a year-on-year increase of 1.23%; the operating income amounted to RMB342,912
million, up 2.24% year on year; among which the net interest income was RMB281,803 million, representing a year-on-year
increase of 3.00%; excluding the one-off factor of the transformation to net-value wealth management products in the
prior year, the net fee and commission income increased by 12.05% year on year. Net interest margin was 2.01%, which

stood at a relatively good level in the industry.

Thirdly, asset quality remained stable and excellent. The Bank upheld the prudent and sound risk appetite, continuously
improved its comprehensive risk management framework, accelerated the transformation towards digital and intensive
risk management, and actively empowered high-quality development of its businesses. As at the end of the reporting
period, the Bank’s non-performing loan ratio was 0.83%, a decrease of 0.01 percentage point compared with the prior
year-end, which still was at the leading level in the industry; allowance to NPLs ratio was 347.57%, indicating adequate

risk offset capabilities.
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Analysis of Income Statement
During the reporting period, the Bank recorded a net profit of RMB86,424 million, representing a year-on-year increase of
RMB1,069 million or 1.25%.

Changes of Key Items in the Income Statement

In RMB million, except for percentages

Increase/

Item 2023 2022 (decrease) Change (%)
Net interest income 281,803 273,593 8,210 3.00
Net fee and commission income 28,252 28,434 (182) (0.64)
Net other non-interest income 32,857 33,364 (507) (1.52)
Operating income 342,912 335,391 7,521 2.24
Less: Operating expenses 225,142 208,680 16,462 7.89
Credit impairment losses 26,167 35,328 (9,161) (25.93)
Impairment losses on other assets 4 19 (15) (78.95)

Profit before income tax 91,599 91,364 235 0.26
Less: Income tax expenses 5,175 6,009 (834) (13.88)
Net profit 86,424 85,355 1,069 1.25
Attributable to equity holders of the Bank 86,270 85,224 1,046 1.23
Attributable to non-controlling interests 154 131 23 17.56
Other comprehensive income 288 (6,650) 6,938 -
Total comprehensive income 86,712 78,705 8,007 10.17

Net Interest Income

During the reporting period, the Bank actively responded to downward pressure on the net interest margin in the banking
industry, adhered to the differentiated development strategy, improved the efficiency of asset and liability allocation,
promoted a balance between quantity and price as well as structural optimization, and realized a net interest income of
RMB281,803 million for the year, representing an increase of RMB8,210 million, or 3.00% compared with the same period
of the prior year, of which an increase of RMB30,261 million in net interest income was driven by the scale expansion, and
a decrease of RMB22,051 million in net interest income was brought by the changes in interest rates. Net interest margin
and net interest spread were 2.01% and 1.99%, respectively.
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Average Yield of Interest-Earning Assets and Average Cost of Interest-Bearing Liabilities

In RMB million, except for percentages

2023 2022
Interest Average Interest Average
Average income/ yield/ Average income/ yield/
Item balance expense cost (%) balance expense cost (%)
Assets
Total loans to customers 7,739,734 319,513 4.13 6,899,837 309,240 448
Investments!” 4,315,237 139,081 3.22 3,743,743 128,424 343
Deposits with central bank? 1,231,316 20,003 1.62 1,176,951 19,182 1.62
Deposits and placements with banks
and other financial institutions® 708,713 19,730 2.78 629,301 17,394 2.76
Total interest-earning assets 13,995,000 498,327 3.56 12,449,832 474,240 3.81
Allowance for impairment losses on assets (270,945) - - (261,489) - -
Non-interest-earning assets®” 1,244,150 - - 1,196,773 - -
Total assets 14,968,205 - - 13,385,116 - -
Liabilities
Customer deposits 13,208,698 202,666 1.53 11,930,632 192,661 1.61
Deposits and placements from banks
and other financial institutions® 312,367 6,162 1.97 224,456 4,132 1.84
Debt securities issued® 253,738 7,137 2.81 97,582 3,486 3.57
Borrowings from central bank 30,843 559 1.81 20,428 368 1.80
Total interest-bearing liabilities 13,805,646 216,524 1.57 12,273,098 200,647 1.63
Non-interest-bearing liabilities” 237,882 - - 242,308 - -
Total liabilities 14,043,528 - - 12,515,406 - -
Net Interest Income - 281,803 - - 273,593 -
Net interest spread® - - 1.99 - - 2.18
Net interest margin®® - - 2.01 - - 2.20
Note (1):  Consists of interest-earning assets in financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income and
financial assets measured at amortized cost.
Note (2):  Consists of statutory deposit reserves and surplus deposit reserves.
Note (3):  Consists of deposits with banks and other financial institutions, placements with banks and other financial institutions, and
financial assets held under resale agreements.
Note (4):  Consists of financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss, cash, property and equipment, and deferred tax
assets, etc.
Note (5):  Consists of deposits from banks and other financial institutions, placements from banks and other financial institutions, and
financial assets sold under repurchase agreements.
Note (6):  Consists of qualified tier 2 capital instruments issued and interbank certificates of deposit.
Note (7):  Consists of employee benefits payable, provisions and lease liabilities, etc.
Note (8):  Calculated as the difference between the average yield of total interest-earning assets and the average cost of total interest-
bearing liabilities.
Note (9):  Calculated by dividing net interest income by the average balance of total interest-earning assets.
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Changes in Net Interest Income Due to Changes in Volume and Interest Rate

Financial Statements and Others

In RMB million
2023 vs 2022
Increase/(decrease)

Item Volume! Interest rate® Total®
Assets
Total loans to customers 34,673 (24,400) 10,273
Investments 18,419 (7,762) 10,657
Deposits with central bank 883 (62) 821
Deposits and placements with banks and

other financial institutions 2,211 125 2,336
Total changes in interest income 56,186 (32,099) 24,087
Liabilities
Customer deposits 19,610 (9,605) 10,005
Deposits and placements from banks and

other financial institutions 1,734 296 2,030
Debt securities issued 4,392 (741) 3,651
Borrowings from central bank 189 2 191
Total changes in interest expense 25,925 (10,048) 15,877
Changes in net interest income 30,261 (22,051) 8,210

Note (1):  Represents the difference between the average balance for the period and the average balance for the previous period,

multiplied by the average yield/cost for the period.

Note (2):  Represents the difference between the average yield/cost for the period and the average yield/cost for the previous period,

multiplied by the average balance for the previous period.

Note (3):  Represents the difference between the interest income/expense for the period and the interest income/expense for the

previous period.

Interest Income

During the reporting period, the Bank’s interest income amounted to RMB498,327 million, representing an increase

of RMB24,087 million, or 5.08% compared with the same period of the prior year. It was mainly because that the Bank

focused on building a resource allocation system with RAROC as a yardstick, realizing steady growth in the interest-

earning assets and continuous optimization of the asset structure.

During the reporting period, the Bank was committed to serving the real economy and continued to increase credit

supply to Sannong customers, MSEs, corporate clients and others, realizing RMB319,513 million in interest income from

loans to customers, representing an increase of RMB10,273 million, or 3.32% compared with the same period of the prior

year.
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Among them, interest income from personal loans amounted to RMB203,786 million, representing a decrease of RMB765
million, or 0.37% compared with the same period of the prior year. It was mainly because of the decrease in the interest
income from personal residential mortgage loans as a result of the lower LPR and the adjustment of interest rates on
existing mortgages loans. Additionally, the Bank achieved relatively rapid increase in the interest income of personal
micro loans and other businesses due to rapid growth in scale, which partially offset the impact of interest rate cut on

interest income.

Interest income from corporate loans amounted to RMB109,188 million, representing an increase of RMB13,354 million, or
13.93% compared with the same period of the prior year, primarily due to an increase in the average balance of corporate
loans because the Bank comprehensively promoted a new “1 plus N” operation and service system for corporate finance
and provided customers with comprehensive financial services to facilitate industrial transformation and upgrading as

well as diversified development.

Analysis on Average Yield of Loans to Customers by Business Line

In RMB million, except for percentages

2023 2022
Average Interest Average Average Interest Average
Item balance income yield (%) balance income yield (%)
Personal loans 4,264,355 203,786 4.78 3,914,687 204,551 5.23
Corporate loans 3,018,871 109,188 3.62 2,494,670 95,834 3.84
Discounted bills 456,508 6,539 1.43 490,480 8,855 1.81
Total loans to customers 7,739,734 319,513 4.13 6,899,837 309,240 4.48

Analysis on Average Yield of Loans to Customers by Maturity Structure

In RMB million, except for percentages

2023 2022
Average Interest Average Average Interest Average
Item balance income yield (%) balance income yield (%)
Short-term loans 2,753,695 107,961 3.92 2,472,616 107,905 4.36
Medium- and long-term loans 4,986,039 211,552 4.24 4,427,221 201,335 4.55
Total loans to customers 7,739,734 319,513 4.13 6,899,837 309,240 4.48
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During the reporting period, the Bank’s interest income from investments amounted to RMB139,081 million, representing
an increase of RMB10,657 million, or 8.30% compared with the same period of the prior year. It was mainly because the
Bank focused on creating differentiated growth poles in the financial market, actively seized market opportunities and
dynamically optimized asset allocation, leading to the increase in the average balance of financial investments such as

bonds and interbank certificates of deposit.

During the reporting period, the Bank’s interest income from deposits with central bank amounted to RMB20,003 million,
representing an increase of RMB821 million, or 4.28% compared with the same period of the prior year, primarily driven

by the increase of the scale of deposit reserves.

During the reporting period, the Bank’s interest income from deposits and placements with banks and other financial
institutions amounted to RMB19,730 million, representing an increase of RMB2,336 million, or 13.43% compared with
the same period of the prior year. It was primarily because that the Bank seized the opportunity of higher interest rates,
optimized the business structure, and increased the average balance of time deposits with banks and placements with

banks. It was also driven by the improvement in average yield of bonds held under resale agreements.

Interest Expense

During the reporting period, the Bank adhered to the concept of value creation, stepped up top-level design and tapped
into the potential of structural adjustments, resulting in the continuous improvement in the quality of liability business
development with a further decreased cost of interest-bearing liabilities. The interest expense amounted to RMB216,524
million, representing an increase of RMB15,877 million, or 7.91% year on year, primarily due to the increased interest
expense on customer deposits and debt securities issued. The average cost of interest-bearing liabilities was 1.57%, a

year-on-year decrease of 6 bps.

During the reporting period, following the development strategy of “quality over scale”, the Bank vigorously promoted the
development of value deposits through policy guideline such as performance appraisal and interest rate management.
The average cost of deposits decreased by 8 bps year on year to 1.53%, among which the average cost of personal
deposits decreased by 9 bps year on year. The Bank’s interest expense on customer deposits amounted to RMB202,666
million, representing an increase of RMB10,005 million, or 5.19% year on year, primarily driven by the growth in the scale

of deposits.



Analysis of Financial Statements

Analysis on Average Cost of Customer Deposits by Product Type

In RMB million, except for percentages

2023 2022

Average Interest Average Average Interest Average
Item balance Expense cost (%) balance Expense cost (%)
Personal deposits
Demand deposits 3,007,188 6,550 0.22 2,913,777 8,173 0.28
Time deposits 8,748,546 176,781 2.02 7,653,179 166,299 217
Subtotal 11,755,734 183,331 1.56 10,566,956 174,472 1.65
Corporate deposits
Demand deposits 932,518 8,101 0.87 911,537 7,681 0.84
Time deposits 520,446 11,234 2.16 452,139 10,508 2.32
Subtotal 1,452,964 19,335 1.33 1,363,676 18,189 1.33
Total customer deposits 13,208,698 202,666 1.53 11,930,632 192,661 1.61

During the reporting period, the Bank’s interest expense on deposits and placements from banks and other financial
institutions amounted to RMB6,162 million, representing an increase of RMB2,030 million, or 49.13% compared with the
same period of the prior year, primarily driven by the growth in the scale of bonds sold under repurchase agreements and

the increase in the costs of borrowing in US dollars.

During the reporting period, the Bank's interest expense on debt securities issued amounted to RMB7,137 million,
representing an increase of RMB3,651 million, or 104.73% compared with the same period of the prior year. It was mainly
because the Bank proactively optimized the liability structure and issued interbank certificates of deposit and tier 2 capital

bonds, with an increase in scale.

Net Fee and Commission Income

During the reporting period, the Bank attached greater emphasis on capacity building, focused on key products, and
continued to advance the diversified development of intermediary business. The net fee and commission income
amounted to RMB28,252 million for the year, representing a year-on-year decrease of RMB182 million, or 0.64%. Excluding
the one-off factor of the transformation to net-value wealth management products in the prior year, the net fee and

commission income increased by 12.05% year on year, which continued to maintain a double-digit growth.
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Fee and commission income amounted to RMB51,104 million, representing a year-on-year increase of RMB1,359 million,
or 2.73%. Specifically, agency business fee income amounted to RMB20,857 million, representing a year-on-year increase
of RMB4,058 million, or 24.16%. It was mainly because the Bank actively developed differentiated growth poles for
wealth management, focused on customer needs, enriched its products, and improved capability of resource allocation,
achieving rapid growth in the income from its wealth management business. Fee income from bank cards business
amounted to RMB11,925 million, representing a year-on-year increase of RMB43 million, or 0.36%. It was mainly because
the Bank deepened institutional and mechanism reforms of the credit card business, strengthened product innovation,
further developed the business district and scenario system, and achieved a stable growth of credit card business fee
income. Fee and commission income from settlement and clearing amounted to RMB10,230 million, representing a year-
on-year increase of RMB695 million, or 7.29%. It was mainly because the Bank promoted scenario-based and digital
transformation of settlement products, resulting in fast growth in income from corporate settlement business. Wealth
management fee income amounted to RMB2,821 million, representing a year-on-year decrease of RMB4,785 million, or
62.91%, primarily due to the one-off factor for the transformation to net-value products in the prior year and a decreased
scale of wealth management products. Investment banking fee income amounted to RMB2,388 million, representing
a year-on-year increase of RMB717 million, or 42.91%. It was mainly because the Bank enhanced the synergy between
investment banking and commercial banking, stimulated operational efficiency of business development, accelerated
the growth of bond financing, syndicated loans, etc. and realized rapid growth in the investment banking income. Other
business income amounted to RMB1,752 million, representing a year-on-year increase of RMB714 million, or 68.79%,
which was mainly because the Bank focused on the dual-drive of "settlement plus financing" and realized rapid growth in

the fee income from businesses such as off-balance sheet bills and letters, supply chain finance, etc.

Fee and commission expense amounted to RMB22,852 million, representing a year-on-year increase of RMB1,541 million,
or 7.23%, primarily due to an increase in commission expenses as a result of the growth in the scale of sales of financial

products at postal agency outlets.

Components of Net Fee and Commission Income
In RMB million, except for percentages

Increase/

Item 2023 2022 (decrease) Change (%)
Agency business 20,857 16,799 4,058 24.16
Bank cards business 11,925 11,882 43 0.36
Settlement and clearing 10,230 9,535 695 7.29
Wealth management 2,821 7,606 (4,785) (62.91)
Investment banking 2,388 1,671 717 4291
Custody business 1,131 1,214 (83) (6.84)
Others 1,752 1,038 714 68.79
Fee and commission income 51,104 49,745 1,359 2.73

Less: Fee and commission expense 22,852 21,311 1,541 7.23

Net fee and commission income 28,252 28,434 (182) (0.64)
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Net Other Non-Interest Income
During the reporting period, the Bank’s net other non-interest income amounted to RMB32,857 million, representing a

decrease of RMB507 million, or 1.52% compared with the same period of the prior year.

In particular, net trading gains and net gains on investment securities totaled RMB29,179 million, representing an increase
of RMB3,947 million, or 15.64% compared with the same period of the prior year. It was mainly because that the Bank
further created differentiated growth poles in the financial market, continued to optimize the allocation of non-interest
assets, and increased the investment in securities investment funds with less capital consumption and tax benefits
in recent years, leading to increased dividend income. It also leveraged the advantages of its interbank ecosystem to
accelerate the flow of bill transactions, resulting in increased buy-sell spread income. Furthermore, it continuously
optimized the investment portfolio structure, leading to higher valuations of bonds and securities investment fund, which

also contributed to the increase.

Net gains on derecognition of financial assets measured at amortized cost amounted to RMB2,242 million, representing
an increase of RMB1,322 million, or 143.70% compared with the same period of the prior year, primarily due to the gains

from the issuance of NPA securitization products as the Bank accelerated the NPA disposal.

Net other operating gains amounted to RMB1,418 million, representing a decrease of RMB5,791 million, or 80.33%
compared with the same period of the prior year, primarily due to the fluctuation of the exchange rate of the U.S. dollar

against the RMB and the impact on the base number due to redemption of preference shares in the prior year.

Components of Net Other Non-Interest Income

In RMB million, except for percentages

Increase/

Item 2023 2022 (decrease) Change (%)
Net trading gains 4,460 3,673 787 21.43
Net gains on investment securities 24,719 21,559 3,160 14.66
Net gains on derecognition of financial

assets measured at amortized cost 2,242 920 1,322 143.70
Net other operating gains 1,418 7,209 (5,791) (80.33)
Share of results of associates 18 3 15 500.00
Total 32,857 33,364 (507) (1.52)
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Operating Expenses
During the reporting period, the Bank upheld control over total volume, prioritized profitability and rationally allocated
cost resources. Operating expenses amounted to RMB225,142 million, representing an increase of RMB16,462 million, or

7.89% compared with the same period of the prior year.

In particular, deposit agency fee and others amounted to RMB114,924 million, representing an increase of RMB12,676
million, or 12.40% compared with the same period of the prior year, primarily due to an increase in scale of personal
deposits taken by postal agency outlets. Staff costs amounted to RMB64,017 million, representing an increase of RMB1,139
million, or 1.81% compared with the same period of the prior year. Depreciation and amortization stood at RMB12,128
million, representing an increase of RMB828 million, or 7.33% compared with the same period of the prior year, mainly
because the Bank further implemented technology empowerment strategies, accelerated digital and intelligent
transformation and continuously increased investment in information technology, driving increase in depreciation of

property and equipment as well as amortization of intangible assets.

Major Components of Operating Expenses

In RMB million, except for percentages

Increase/
Item 2023 2022 (decrease) Change (%)
Deposit agency fee and others 114,924 102,248 12,676 12.40
Staff costs 64,017 62,878 1,139 1.81
Depreciation and amortization 12,128 11,300 828 7.33
Taxes and surcharges 2,703 2,620 83 3.17
Other expenses 31,370 29,634 1,736 5.86
Total operating expenses 225,142 208,680 16,462 7.89

Credit Impairment Losses

During the reporting period, the Bank adhered to a prudent risk management policy and made a provision for impairment
in an objective and reasonable manner. Credit impairment losses amounted to RMB26,167 million, representing a
decrease of RMB9,161 million, or 25.93% compared with the same period of the prior year. It was mainly because that as
China’s economy recovered with an upward momentum, the Bank’s credit asset quality remained stable, and the provision

for impairment losses on loans decreased compared with the same period of the prior year.
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Income Tax Expenses
During the reporting period, the Bank’s income tax expenses amounted to RMB5,175 million, representing a decrease of
RMB834 million, or 13.88% compared with the same period of the prior year, mainly due to the tax saving effect as the

Bank actively optimized the business structure, with increase in tax-reduced and tax-free income.

Segment Information

Operating Income by Operating Segment

In RMB million, except for percentages

2023 2022
Item Amount Percentage (%) Amount Percentage (%)
Personal banking 249,750 72.83 234,872 70.03
Corporate banking 56,634 16.52 51,324 15.30
Treasury business 35,919 10.47 48,572 14.48
Others 609 0.18 623 0.19
Total operating income 342,912 100.00 335,391 100.00

For further details of business scope of each segment, please refer to “Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements —

44.1 Operating segment”.

Operating Income by Geographical Segment

In RMB million, except for percentages

2023 2022
Item Amount Percentage (%) Amount Percentage (%)
Head Office (15,832) (4.62) 9,290 2.77
Yangtze River Delta 58,564 17.08 52,957 15.79
Pearl River Delta 47,825 13.95 44,196 13.18
Bohai Rim 55,732 16.25 50,299 15.00
Central China 101,416 29.58 92,198 27.48
Western China 71,925 20.97 65,598 19.56
Northeastern China 23,282 6.79 20,853 6.22
Total operating income 342,912 100.00 335,391 100.00

For further details of the scope of each geographical segment, please refer to “Notes to the Consolidated Financial

Statements — 44.2 Geographical segment”.
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Balance Sheet Analysis

Assets

The Bank fully implemented the decisions and plans of the CPC Central Committee, stayed true to the fundamental
purpose of serving the real economy with financial services, coordinated asset allocation and channeled more financial
resources into the real economy. During the reporting period, the Bank strengthened the synergy between assets and
liabilities as well as scale and profitability, used RAROC as the yardstick, further optimized its asset structure and improved
its value creation capability. Relying on resource endowment, the Bank continuously increased credit supply to key areas
and weak links, leading to a steady increase in the loan-to-deposit ratio and the percentage of credit assets in total assets.
The Bank strengthened prediction of market trends, highlighted investment analysis as guidance, optimized non-credit
business layout and improved the efficiency of fund use.

As at the end of the reporting period, the Bank’s total assets amounted to RMB15,726,631 million, representing an
increase of RMB1,659,349 million, or 11.80% compared with the prior year-end, of which net loans to customers amounted
to RMB7,915,245 million, representing an increase of RMB937,535 million, or 13.44% compared with the prior year-end;
financial investments amounted to RMB5,387,588 million, representing an increase of RMB428,689 million, or 8.64%
compared with the prior year-end. In terms of the structure, net loans to customers accounted for 50.33% of total assets,
representing an increase of 0.73 percentage point compared with the prior year-end; financial investments accounted
for 34.26% of total assets, representing a decrease of 0.99 percentage point compared with the prior year-end. Loan-to-
deposit ratio was 58.39%, representing an increase of 1.68 percentage points compared with the prior year-end; the asset
structure was further optimized.

Key Items of Assets
In RMB million, except for percentages

December 31, 2023 December 31, 2022
Item Amount Percentage (%) Amount Percentage (%)
Total loans to customers 8,148,893 - 7,210,433 -
Less: Allowance for impairment
losses on loans™ 233,648 - 232,723 -
Loans to customers, net 7,915,245 50.33 6,977,710 49.60
Financial investments 5,387,588 34.26 4,958,899 35.25
Cash and deposits with central bank 1,337,501 8.50 1,263,951 8.99
Deposits with banks and other financial
institutions 189,216 1.20 161,422 1.15
Placements with banks and other financial
institutions? 297,742 1.89 303,836 2.16
Financial assets held under resale agreements 409,526 2.60 229,870 1.63
Other assets? 189,813 1.22 171,594 1.22
Total assets 15,726,631 100.00 14,067,282 100.00
Note (1):  Allowance for impairment losses on loans to customers measured at amortized cost.
Note (2):  In accordance with the relevant regulations under the Interim Measures for the Management of Gold Leasing Business (Yin

Ban Fa [2022] No.88) issued by the General Administration Department of the PBC, starting from 2023, the gold leasing
business conducted between the Bank and other financial institutions should be presented in “placements with banks and
other financial institutions” instead of “other assets” and the relevant data of the comparative period should be adjusted
accordingly.
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As at the end of the reporting period, total loans to customers amounted to RMB8,148,893 million, representing an

increase of RMB938,460 million, or 13.02% compared with the prior year-end.

Loans to Customers by Business Line

In RMB million, except for percentages

December 31, 2023 December 31, 2022
Item Amount Percentage (%) Amount Percentage (%)
Personal loans 4,470,248 54.86 4,046,105 56.11
Corporate loans 3,214,471 39.45 2,669,362 37.02
Discounted bills 464,174 5.69 494,966 6.87
Total loans to customers 8,148,893 100.00 7,210,433 100.00

Loans to Customers by Maturity

In RMB million, except for percentages

December 31, 2023 December 31, 2022
Item Amount Percentage (%) Amount Percentage (%)
Short-term loans 2,845,045 34.91 2,607,204 36.16
Medium- and long-term loans 5,303,848 65.09 4,603,229 63.84
Total loans to customers 8,148,893 100.00 7,210,433 100.00

Loans to Customers by Geographical Region

In RMB million, except for percentages

December 31, 2023 December 31, 2022
Item Amount Percentage (%) Amount Percentage (%)
Head Office 363,568 4.46 351,522 4.88
Yangtze River Delta 1,693,237 20.78 1,464,429 20.31
Pearl River Delta 1,052,519 12.92 946,038 13.12
Bohai Rim 1,237,696 15.19 1,079,811 14.98
Central China 1,997,777 24.51 1,772,273 24.57
Western China 1,384,281 16.99 1,217,601 16.89
Northeastern China 419,815 5.15 378,759 5.25

Total loans to customers 8,148,893 100.00 7,210,433 100.00
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Personal Loans

As at the end of the reporting period, the Bank's total personal loans amounted to RMB4,470,248 million, representing an

increase of RMB424,143 million, or 10.48% compared with the prior year-end.

In particular, personal consumer loans amounted to RMB2,858,741 million, representing an increase of RMB130,096
million, or 4.77% compared with the prior year-end, RMB67,381 million more than the increment in the same period of
the prior year. This was primarily because the Bank offered full support to meet the needs of first-time home buyers and
improvement needs, grasped the opportunities brought by the development of consumer credit market, strengthened
the innovation of scenario services and marketing models, and created an intelligent and digital online consumer loan
product system to meet diversified consumer credit needs of residents, thus resulting in steady growth in personal

consumer loans.

Personal micro loans amounted to RMB1,392,227 million, representing an increase of RMB257,033 million, or 22.64%
compared with the prior year-end, RMB37,193 million more than the increment in the same period of the prior year,
with the incremental amount hitting a new historical high. This was mainly because the Bank further implemented
the rural revitalization strategy, continued to significantly boost credit extensions in key fields of rural revitalization,
steadily promoted the development of the rural credit system, conducted universal credit extension to rural households,
strengthened customer segmentation and classification operation, and actively created differentiated competitive

advantages in the rural market. The growth rate of micro loans exceeded 20% for four consecutive years.

Credit card overdrafts and others amounted to RMB219,280 million, representing an increase of RMB37,014 million, or
20.31% compared with the prior year-end, RMB29,617 million more than the increment in the same period of the prior
year. This was mainly because the Bank further promoted institutional and mechanism reforms of the credit card business,
focused on building intensive operation and differentiated development capabilities, strengthened credit card customer
expansion and comprehensive marketing, accelerated product innovation, enriched the types of product benefits, and

continued to improve customer comprehensive service capabilities, resulting in fast growth in business scale.

Personal Loans by Product Type

In RMB million, except for percentages

December 31, 2023 December 31, 2022
Item Amount Percentage (%) Amount Percentage (%)
Consumer loans 2,858,741 63.95 2,728,645 67.44
Residential mortgage loans 2,337,991 52.30 2,261,763 55.90
Other consumer loans 520,750 11.65 466,882 11.54
Personal micro loans™ 1,392,227 31.14 1,135,194 28.06
Credit card overdrafts and others 219,280 4.91 182,266 4.50
Total personal loans 4,470,248 100.00 4,046,105 100.00

Note (1): Personal micro loans mainly include loans granted for personal businesses.
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Corporate Loans

As at the end of the reporting period, the Bank’s total corporate loans amounted to RMB3,214,471 million, representing
an increase of RMB545,109 million, or 20.42% compared with the prior year-end, RMB129,683 million more than the
increment in the same period of the prior year, with the incremental amount hitting a new historical high. This was mainly
because the Bank implemented the major national strategic plans, and significantly boosted credit extensions in key
fields like advanced manufacturing, strategic emerging industries, specialized and sophisticated enterprises that produce
new and unique products, inclusive finance and green finance. Meanwhile, the Bank accelerated the development of
differentiated growth poles in microfinance, and established a customer-centric, diversified and full-scenario marketing
service system to provide enterprises with distinctive, integrated and professional comprehensive financial services,

resulting in fast growth in the scale of small business and corporate loans.

As at the end of the reporting period, the top five industries to which the Bank granted corporate loans were
transportation, storage and postal services; manufacturing; financial services; production and supply of electricity, heating,
gas and water; and real estate industry. The balance of loans extended to the top five industries in aggregate accounted

for 67.88% of total corporate loans, representing a decrease of 3.69 percentage points compared with the prior year-end.

Corporate Loans by Industry

In RMB million, except for percentages

December 31, 2023 December 31, 2022

Item Amount Percentage (%) Amount Percentage (%)
Transportation, storage and postal services 859,031 26.72 780,283 29.24
Manufacturing 509,819 15.86 409,673 15.35
Financial services 286,117 8.90 254,629 9.54
Production and supply of electricity,

heating, gas and water 274,330 8.53 254,075 9.52
Real estate 253,086 7.87 211,525 7.92
Wholesale and retail 237,693 7.39 179,418 6.72
Leasing and commercial services 209,006 6.50 148,482 5.56
Construction 198,542 6.18 154,868 5.80
Water conservancy, environmental and

public facilities management 185,950 5.78 128,776 4.82
Mining 84,412 2.64 70,036 2.62
Other industries™ 116,485 3.63 77,597 2.91
Total corporate loans 3,214,471 100.00 2,669,362 100.00

Note (1):  Other industries consist of the agriculture, forestry, animal husbandry, fishery; information transmission, computer services
and the software industry, etc.
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Discounted Bills

As at the end of the reporting period, the Bank’s discounted bills amounted to RMB464,174 million, representing a
decrease of RMB30,792 million, or 6.22% compared with the prior year-end, mainly because the Bank continued to

optimize the business structure and reduced the size of lower-yielding bill assets.

During the reporting period, the Bank continued to highlight investment analysis as guidance, focused on creating
differentiated growth poles in the financial market, continuously optimized the structure of its investment business,
strengthened its research and prediction on market trend, and reasonably adjusted the investment pace, resulting in a

steady growth in the scale of financial investments.

As at the end of the reporting period, the Bank’s financial investments amounted to RMB5,387,588 million, representing

an increase of RMB428,689 million, or 8.64% compared with the prior year-end.

In terms of product, the increase was primarily in the scale of debt securities and interbank certificates of deposit, etc.
Among them, investment in debt securities amounted to RMB4,076,190 million, representing an increase of RMB391,881
million or 10.64% compared with the prior year-end, while that in interbank certificates of deposit amounted to

RMB485,719 million, representing an increase of RMB81,709 million or 20.22% compared with the prior year-end.

In terms of measurement approach, the increase was primarily in financial assets measured at amortized cost and financial
assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income. Among them, the financial assets measured at
amortized cost amounted to RMB3,988,210 million, representing an increase of RMB318,612 million or 8.68% compared
with the prior year-end, which was primarily attributable to the increase in the scale of investment in bonds issued
by financial institutions, government bonds and others; and the financial assets measured at fair value through other
comprehensive income amounted to RMB510,862 million, representing an increase of RMB85,344 million, or 20.06%

compared with the prior year-end.
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Investments by Product

In RMB million, except for percentages

December 31, 2023 December 31, 2022
Item Amount Percentage (%) Amount Percentage (%)
Debt securities 4,076,190 75.66 3,684,309 74.30
Securities investment funds 522,160 9.69 523,774 10.56
Interbank certificates of deposits 485,719 9.02 404,010 8.15
Trust investment plans 149,319 2.77 200,179 4.04
Asset management plans 135,556 2.52 122,943 2.48
Others 18,644 0.34 23,684 0.47
Total financial investments 5,387,588 100.00 4,958,899 100.00

Financial Investments by Measurement Approach

In RMB million, except for percentages

December 31, 2023 December 31, 2022

Item Amount Percentage (%) Amount Percentage (%)
Financial assets measured at fair value

through profit or loss 888,516 16.49 863,783 17.42
Financial assets measured at fair value

through other comprehensive income 510,862 9.48 425,518 8.58
Financial assets measured at amortized cost 3,988,210 74.03 3,669,598 74.00
Total financial investments 5,387,588 100.00 4,958,899 100.00

Investment Structure by Type of Investment Instruments

In RMB million, except for percentages

December 31, 2023 December 31, 2022
Item Amount Percentage (%) Amount Percentage (%)
Debt instruments 5,378,359 99.83 4,947,575 99.77
Equity instruments 9,229 0.17 11,324 0.23

Total financial investments 5,387,588 100.00 4,958,899 100.00
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Investments in Debt Securities

As at the end of the reporting period, the Bank’s investments in debt securities amounted to RMB4,076,190 million,
representing an increase of RMB391,881 million, or 10.64% compared with the prior year-end, mainly because the Bank
deepened development of the investment analysis system, acted proactively to analyse and predict interest rate trend
in the market, optimized the categories of bond investment and portfolio duration, dynamically adjusted the pace of
allocation and increased investments in financial bonds of policy banks and local government bonds with less capital

consumption and tax benefits.

Investments in Debt Securities by Issuing Institution

In RMB million, except for percentages

December 31, 2023 December 31, 2022
Item Amount Percentage (%) Amount Percentage (%)
Bonds issued by financial institutions 2,146,311 52.65 1,937,743 52.59
Government bonds 1,662,081 40.78 1,538,424 41.76
Corporate bonds 267,798 6.57 208,142 5.65
Total investments in debt securities 4,076,190 100.00 3,684,309 100.00

Investments in Debt Securities by Remaining Maturity

In RMB million, except for percentages

December 31, 2023 December 31, 2022
Item Amount Percentage (%) Amount Percentage (%)
Overdue 10 0.00 10 0.00
Within 3 months 180,029 4.42 141,658 3.84
3-12 months 224,946 5.52 318,637 8.65
1-5 years 1,871,424 45.92 1,524,403 41.38
Over 5 years 1,799,781 44.14 1,699,601 46.13

Total investments in debt securities 4,076,190 100.00 3,684,309 100.00
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Investments in Debt Securities by Currency

In RMB million, except for percentages

December 31, 2023 December 31, 2022
Item Amount Percentage (%) Amount Percentage (%)
RMB 4,019,099 98.60 3,629,861 98.52
Foreign currencies 57,091 1.40 54,448 1.48
Total investments in debt securities 4,076,190 100.00 3,684,309 100.00

Financial Bonds

As at the end of the reporting period, the Bank held RMB2,146,311 million of financial bonds issued by financial
institutions, of which, bonds issued by policy banks amounted to RMB1,858,240 million, accounting for 86.58% of the

total.

The Top Ten Financial Bonds in Terms of Par Value
In RMB million, except for percentages

Allowance

Annual for impairment

Debt Securities Par value interest rates (%) Maturity date losses!
2015 Policy Financial Bonds 62,605.95 3.71 2025/8/31 -
2021 Policy Financial Bonds 47,985.00 3.41 2031/6/7 -
2021 Policy Financial Bonds 37,880.00 3.12 2031/9/13 -
2015 Policy Financial Bonds 36,823.26 2.90 2035/9/28 -
2021 Policy Financial Bonds 35,220.00 3.66 2031/3/1 -
2017 Policy Financial Bonds 34,490.00 4.04 2027/4/10 -
2016 Policy Financial Bonds 33,650.00 3.05 2026/8/25 -
2019 Policy Financial Bonds 33,560.00 3.48 2029/1/8 -
2017 Policy Financial Bonds 32,160.00 4.30 2024/8/21 -
2019 Policy Financial Bonds 31,980.00 3.28 2024/2/11 -

Note (1): Excludes allowance for impairment losses for the stage 1 set aside in accordance with the new financial instrument standards.
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Liabilities

The Bank earnestly implemented regulatory requirements, established and improved the liability quality management
system, and regarded high-quality liabilities as the basis for stable operations and the support for serving the real
economy. During the reporting period, the Bank continuously solidified the number and quality of customers, and
carried out core liability businesses with personal deposits as the focus, achieving a steady growth in the scale and
sustaining a stable source. It took the initiative to expand funding channels and improved diversity in liability structure.
It scientifically made overall arrangements for funding sources and the total amount, structure and pace of utilization
to comprehensively balance liquidity and profitability. It adhered to compliance management, carried out transactions,
accounting and statistics of liabilities in a legally compliant way, and firmly guarded against risks. The quality of liability

business development remained stable and saw a moderate increase, with the relevant indicators performing well.

As at the end of the reporting period, the Bank’s total liabilities amounted to RMB14,770,015 million, representing
an increase of RMB1,528,547 million, or 11.54% compared with the prior year-end, among which, customer deposits
amounted to RMB13,955,963 million, representing an increase of RMB1,241,478 million, or 9.76% compared with the prior
year-end; deposits and placements from banks and other financial institutions and financial assets sold under repurchase
agreements amounted to a total of RMB428,879 million, representing an increase of RMB123,764 million, or 40.56%
compared with the prior year-end. It was mainly because the Bank optimized the structure of its liability business and

seized opportunities to increase the scale of interbank liabilities.
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Key Items of Liabilities

In RMB million, except for percentages

December 31, 2023 December 31, 2022

Item Amount Percentage (%) Amount Percentage (%)
Customer deposits 13,955,963 94.49 12,714,485 96.02
Deposits from banks and other financial

institutions 95,303 0.65 78,770 0.59
Placements from banks and other financial

institutions 60,212 0.41 42,699 0.32
Financial assets sold under repurchase

agreements 273,364 1.85 183,646 1.39
Debt securities issued 261,138 1.77 101,910 0.77
Borrowings from central bank 33,835 0.23 24,815 0.19
Other liabilities 90,200 0.60 95,143 0.72
Total liabilities 14,770,015 100.00 13,241,468 100.00

As at the end of the reporting period, the Bank’s customer deposits amounted to RMB13,955,963 million, representing an
increase of RMB1,241,478 million, or 9.76% compared with the prior year-end. The scale of core liabilities maintained a

steady growth.

In particular, personal deposits amounted to RMB12,494,856 million, representing an increase of RMB1,212,659 million,
or 10.75% compared with the prior year-end. It was mainly because the Bank continued to optimize the structure of
deposits by promoting both the volume and quality of personal deposits in depth, and realized rapid growth of deposits
with maturities of one year or less. Corporate deposits amounted to RMB1,458,437 million, representing an increase of
RMB28,871 million, or 2.02% compared with the prior year-end. It was mainly because the Bank constantly improved the

financial service capability for corporate customers, and achieved a growth in corporate time deposits.
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Customer Deposits by Product and Customer

In RMB million, except for percentages

December 31, 2023 December 31, 2022
Item Amount Percentage (%) Amount Percentage (%)
Personal deposits 12,494,856 89.53 11,282,197 88.73
Demand deposits 3,146,947 22.55 3,185,218 25.05
Time deposits 9,347,909 66.98 8,096,979 63.68
Corporate deposits 1,458,437 10.45 1,429,566 11.24
Demand deposits 881,226 6.31 924,174 7.27
Time deposits 577,211 4.14 505,392 3.97
Other deposits™" 2,670 0.02 2,722 0.03
Customer deposits 13,955,963 100.00 12,714,485 100.00

Note (1):  Other deposits consist of remittance payable, credit card deposits and outbound remittance, etc.

Customer Deposits by Geographical Region

In RMB million, except for percentages

December 31, 2023 December 31, 2022
Item Amount Percentage (%) Amount Percentage (%)
Head Office 2,611 0.02 2,441 0.02
Yangtze River Delta 2,253,741 16.15 2,000,354 15.73
Pearl River Delta 1,261,259 9.04 1,166,980 9.18
Bohai Rim 2,118,581 15.18 1,944,364 15.29
Central China 4,352,943 31.19 3,960,154 31.15
Western China 2,936,282 21.04 2,707,062 21.29
Northeastern China 1,030,546 7.38 933,130 7.34
Customer deposits 13,955,963 100.00 12,714,485 100.00

Customer Deposits by Remaining Maturity

In RMB million, except for percentages

December 31, 2023 December 31, 2022
Item Amount Percentage (%) Amount Percentage (%)
Repayable on demand 4,077,821 29.22 4,200,104 33.04
Within 3 months 3,782,457 27.10 3,134,230 24.65
3-12 months 4,717,812 33.81 3,983,662 31.33
1-5 years 1,377,873 9.87 1,396,489 10.98

Over 5 years - - - -

Customer deposits 13,955,963 100.00 12,714,485 100.00
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Equity

As at the end of the reporting period, the Bank’s total equity amounted to RMB956,616 million, representing an increase
of RMB130,802 million, or 15.84% compared with the prior year-end, among which: net proceeds raised by non-public
issuance of ordinary shares of A shares were RMB44,980 million; proceeds raised by the issuance of perpetual bonds were
RMB30 billion; net profit was RMB86,424 million; and distributed dividends on ordinary shares and perpetual bonds were
RMB30,890 million.

Composition of Equity

In RMB million, except for percentages

December 31, 2023 December 31, 2022

Item Amount Percentage (%) Amount Percentage (%)
Share capital 99,161 10.37 92,384 11.19
Other equity instruments — perpetual bonds 169,986 17.77 139,986 16.95
Capital reserve 162,682 17.01 124,479 15.07
Other comprehensive income 5,034 0.53 4,918 0.60
Surplus reserve 67,010 7.00 58,478 7.08
General reserve 201,696 21.08 178,784 21.65
Retained earnings 249,304 26.06 225,196 27.27
Equity attributable to equity holders of

the Bank 954,873 99.82 824,225 99.81
Non-controlling interests 1,743 0.18 1,589 0.19
Total equity 956,616 100.00 825,814 100.00

Off-Balance Sheet Items
The Bank’s off-balance sheet items primarily include derivative financial instruments, contingent liabilities and

commitments.

Derivative financial instruments mainly include interest rate contracts, exchange rate contracts and others. For details of
notional amount and fair value of derivative financial instruments, please refer to “Notes to the Consolidated Financial

Statements - 18 Derivative financial assets and liabilities”.

Contingent liabilities and commitments mainly consist of lawsuits and claims, capital commitments, credit commitments,
collateralized and pledged assets, and commitments on redemption of government bonds. For details of contingent
liabilities and commitments, please refer to “Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements - 42 Contingent liabilities
and commitments”. Credit commitments consist of loan commitments, bank acceptances, guarantees and letters of

guarantee, letters of credit and unused credit card commitments.
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Components of Credit Commitments

In RMB million, except for percentages

December 31, 2023 December 31, 2022
Item Amount Percentage (%) Amount Percentage (%)
Loan commitments 54,667 6.33 91,593 13.11
Bank acceptances 161,994 18.77 95,218 13.62
Guarantees and letters of guarantee 90,880 10.53 56,229 8.05
Letters of credit 95,177 11.03 65,535 9.38
Unused credit card commitments 460,229 53.34 390,287 55.84
Total credit commitments 862,947 100.00 698,862 100.00

Analysis of Cash Flow Statement

During the reporting period, net cash inflow generated from operating activities of the Bank was RMB263,337 million,
a year-on-year decrease of RMB211,577 million, mainly due to the increase in cash paid for loans to customers and the
decrease in cash received from bonds sold under repurchase agreements during the current period as compared to the

previous year.

During the reporting period, net cash outflow used in investing activities of the Bank amounted to RMB242,428 million,
representing a year-on-year decrease of RMB269,079 million, primarily due to the increase in cash received from maturity

of investments in debt securities as compared to the previous year.

During the reporting period, net cash inflow generated from financing activities of the Bank was RMB192,247 million,
compared with a net cash outflow of RMB37,737 million in the previous year, mainly due to the increase in cash received

from the issuance of interbank certificates of deposit during the current period.

Other Financial Information

There were no significant changes in accounting policies of the Bank during the reporting period.

There was no difference between the net profit attributable to equity holders of the Bank in 2023 and the equity
attributable to equity holders of the Bank at the end of 2023 in the financial statements prepared by the Bank under PRC
GAAP and the corresponding figures prepared by the Bank under IFRSs.

During the reporting period, the Bank did not issue any enterprise bonds, corporate bonds or debt financing instruments
of non-financial enterprises that need to be disclosed in accordance with the Standards Concerning the Contents and
Formats of Information Disclosure by Companies Publicly Offering Securities No. 2 — Contents and Formats of Annual

Reports and the Management Measures for the Information Disclosure of Corporate Credit Bonds.
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» Retail Banking Business

» Corporate Banking Business

» Treasury and Asset Management Business

» Inclusive Finance

» Majority-Owned Subsidiaries

> Retail Banking Business

2o/

“

o

The Bank served 663

million personal customers.

Its AUM of personal customers

was RMB1 5.23 trillion,

an increase of RMB1 .34
trillion over the prior year-end.

Income of personal banking

business grew by 6.33%
year on year,

accounting for 7 2 .83%

of the operating income,

up by 2 .8 percentage
points year on year.

The balance of micro
personal loans was

RMB1 .39 trillion,
up by RMB25 7,033

million over the prior year-
end, and the growth rate

exceeded 20% for four
consecutive years.
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Unswervingly following the strategy of building a first-tier large retail bank
and remaining committed to serving the people through financial services, the
Bank focused on improving major capabilities in six aspects, built differentiated
competitive advantages with innovation, and applied the new development
philosophy, to contribute to China’s building as a financial powerhouse. As at
the end of the reporting period, the income of personal banking business grew
by 6.33% year on year, accounting for 72.83% of the operating income, which
was up by 2.8 percentage points year on year. The Bank served 663 million
personal customers, with its AUM reaching RMB15.23 trillion, an increase of
RMB1.34 trillion over the prior year-end. Personal deposits totaled RMB12.49
trillion, up by RMB1.21 trillion from the prior year-end, and personal loans
amounted to RMB4.47 trillion, up by RMB424,143 million from the prior year-

end.
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Business Overview

The Bank continued to create value for customers and
worked hand in hand with customers to paint a picture
of a better life with the power of finance. Focusing on
customer investment needs, the Bank enhanced the
professional capabilities of asset allocation, captured
market opportunities, selected high-quality products and
educated and accompanied customers over the long term,
so as to enhance their investment experience. Focusing on
customer consumption demand, the Bank innovated credit
card products and built a “One City, One Mall” system of
preferential merchants. Through online acceptance and
smart lending approval, the Bank provided customers the
proactive credit extension service that features instant
approval and extension, and improved the availability of
credit services. The Bank explored the building of a new
ecosystem for open banking, accelerated the integration
of finance and life, outlets and business districts as well as
online and offline operations, and created more than 1,300

“smart+"” scenarios.

The Bank accelerated the FinTech innovation, and
created new edges in customer services with new quality

productive forces. The Bank comprehensively upgraded

Corporate Governance Financial Statements and Others

the CRM platform (customer relationship management
system), and integrated it with marketing map
functionality, thus providing more accessible marketing
toolkits to frontline teams. The Bank also innovatively

/

launched the “i Cube” intelligent operation platform,
and built an operational model of “customer acquisition,
touchpoints and marketing” for quick payment customers
to provide them with precise service. Aiming at building
the main customer interaction platform, the Bank
launched the Mobile Banking 9.0 to provide immersive
companion service featuring “Al space + digital employees
+ video customer service”, thus injecting vitality into
customer service. The Bank drove intensive operation,
put into full operation the centralized post-lending
management of consumer credit, and improved the

quality and efficiency of operations management.

Basic Retail Banking

Focusing on customers’ comprehensive financial service
needs, the Bank advanced the deeper integration of
digitalization and financial services, and upgraded the
omni-channel service experience to expand the scope of

customer service.



Retail Banking Business

Basic Financial Services

In terms of personal deposits, the Bank continued to
strengthen its traditional advantages, continuously
provided basic financial services in counties, and seized
the opportunities of peak seasons of the Spring Festival
and grain procurement, with the personal deposits in
counties and areas below the county level accounting for
nearly 70% of the total personal deposits of the Bank. The
Bank increased supply of exclusive large-denomination
certificates of deposit to key customer groups, and made
innovation with the launch of specialty deposit products
like Yue Yue Cun and Cun Tian Li. The Bank promoted
the establishment of settlement scenarios such as agency
distribution, breeding and planting to expand the sources
of demand deposits. As at the end of the reporting period,
the balance of personal deposits exceeded RMB12 trillion.

In terms of debit cards, the Bank accelerated the
innovation of debit card products, upgraded its operation
model, expanded its high-quality customer base, and
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® PSBC TIGER AND RABBIT DEBIT CARDS
WITH ONLINE DESIGN CUSTOMIZATION
ARE NOW AVAILABLE

Tiger and Rabbit (Ignorance Is Bliss) themed debit cards
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promoted active consumption. The Bank gained accurate
insight into the personalized needs of customers and
continued to innovate various types of debit card
segment products. Targeting young customers, the Bank
launched “Tiger and Rabbit” (Ignorance Is Bliss) themed
debit cards and issued the Guizhou “Village BA” co-
branded debit cards as the first of its kind. Targeting
business customers, the Bank tailored Business Card, and
supported it with customized card number service and
other special services. Targeting new urban residents,
the Bank launched a new citizen-themed rider card,
providing customers with preferential rates through the
“U* Card”. The Bank optimized the debit card benefits and
operation mode to motivate customers to use the card for
consumption. The Bank comprehensively upgraded the
benefits of special debit cards targeting young customers
such as Meituan Card and Shining Card, and launched the
“PSBC Happy Weekend” marketing campaign, covering
daily high-frequency consumption scenarios such as
supermarket shopping, catering and entertainment, and
traveling. The Bank improved the marketing activities
guide of “Colorful YOUNG Life Illustrated Handbook’, and
upgraded the online debit card operation system. During
the reporting period, the spending via debit cards posted
RMB8.98 trillion.

= IR1T

L OF CHINA

HBAREE
|- 51 &8 (HBARER

Guizhou “Village BA” co-branded debit card

1
_I

Scan to download Mobile Banking 9.0 App



Overview

Business Overview

In terms of agency collection and payment, focusing
on people’s concerns, the Bank provided long-term
fund collection and payment services to social security
bureaus at all levels and individual participants,
collecting and disbursing social security funds of more
than RMB1 trillion. Strengthening the integration of
resources, the Bank focused on both businesses (B-end)
and consumers (C-end), and offered them a package of
integrated financial service solutions. At the B-end, the
Bank combined product building, service building and
institutional building, and improved service capability
for B-end corporate customers. At the C-end, the Bank
created a payroll customer section in mobile banking,
and comprehensively upgraded the exclusive product
and benefits system to boost service experience for C-end
personal customers. During the reporting period, the
Bank’s agency collection and agency payment amounted
to RMB577,420 million and RMB1,883,409 million,

respectively.

In terms of cross-border settlement, the Bank provided
personal customers with various international settlement
services such as cross-border telegraphic transfer (T/T) and
Western Union money transfer. During the reporting
period, the number of transactions for personal
international settlement was 220.9 thousand, with a
transaction volume of USD417 million. The Bank made
steady progress in Cross-boundary Wealth Management
Connect, providing quality financial services for the

residents in the Greater Bay Area.
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Personal Pension Business

To fulfill its mission and responsibilities as a major
state-owned bank and cultivate a sense of service to
the people, the Bank further dedicated itself to the
development of personal pension services, providing
customers with full life-cycle account service and
retirement investment options of all product types. It
optimized service functions, enriched pension products,
innovatively launched the Retirement Benefit Calculator,
and also launched the automatic contribution feature in
mobile banking to create a digitally intelligent pension
finance service ecosystem. The Bank unveiled the specialty
service of “Family Pension Account’, which provided the
view of family-wide personal pension assets to facilitate
the planning of family pension assets. The Bank selected
over 50 wealth management products and launched time
deposits with flexible terms, to enrich choices of pension
products. The Bank popularized the personal pension
policies and launched the pension finance service forum
titled “PSBC China Pension Tour” in nine key provinces
and cities across the country to spread the concept of
“planning now for a better future”, encouraged customers
to adopt a scientific and rational approach to retirement
investment, enhanced the personal pension brand “U
Enjoy Future”, and contributed to the building of the

national pension pillar system.
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Wealth Management Business

Actively meeting customers’ multi-layered demand for
wealth management, the Bank pressed ahead with the
capability building and worked to forge the differentiated
growth pole of wealth management, thus contributing
to the realization of common prosperity. The Bank
accelerated the multi-dimensional product layout,
enriched product choices, and introduced several low-
volatility and prudent wealth management products to
offer customers a wider range of selected products and
superior investment experience. The Bank strengthened
the application of wealth management instruments,
leveraged digital means to empower frontline marketing
employees, fully expanded the channels for customer
acquisition, and improved the quality and efficiency
of wealth management services. The Bank deepened
cultivation of talent abilities, built a step-by-step
training system, strengthened employee recognition
and performance incentives, and further improved the
core professional capabilities of the workforce. The Bank
unswervingly advanced investor education, organized
investor education campaigns in various forms with
distinctive characteristics through online and offline
channels, and achieved improvements in the number of
wealth management customers, market recognition and
brand image. During the reporting period, the Bank was
honored the “Banking Wealth Management Brand Award
of the Year” in the 14th Golden Wealth Management
selection by Shanghai Securities News. As at the end of
the reporting period, the Bank had 51,480.4 thousand VIP
customers, an increase of 8.72% over the prior year-end;
the number of Fujia customers and above reached 4,962.7

thousand, an increase of 16.76% over the prior year-end.
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Wealth Management Product Line

Putting customer interests first, the Bank closely monitored
market changes, seized investment opportunities, selected
quality products across the market, and worked to build a
wealth management product and service platform that
covers “all categories, diverse strategies and comprehensive
features”. During the reporting period, the Bank optimized
its marketing model transformed by digital and intelligent
technologies, which encompasses customer research,
acquisition and activation, and provided insurance
services that cover the customer lifecycle. The new
long-term regular premiums amounted to RMB99,894
million, accounting for 43.69% of new policy premiums,
up by 15 percentage points year on year. The Bank
adhered to the low-volatility and prudent strategy, and
introduced dedicated online sales sections for personal
wealth management products like “Ji Ji Hong” and New
Customer sections, achieving cumulated sales of RMB1.38
trillion in personal wealth management products. The
Bank targeted different customer groups’ risk-return
characteristics, allocated differentiated fund products for
customers, continued to review customer positions and
provide after-sales support, and improved the customer
investment experience. The Bank created a range of high-
quality fixed-income trust products for asset management
purpose that cover different terms, and the total assets
under the asset management plans (including trust plans)
amounted to RMB90,779 million, a rise of 47.51% over
the prior year-end. The Bank promoted the campaign of
“Making Government Bonds Available in the Countryside”,
and the total underwriting of savings government bonds
amounted to RMB136,102 million. The Bank seized the
opportunity of gold allocation, enriched its own-label gold
product system, and organized campaigns including “Tour
Lecture on Gold” and “Facilitating Gold Purchase for the

People” to improve customers’ recognition of PSBC gold.
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Wealth Management Services

Corporate Governance Financial Statements and Others

Building Differentiated Competitive Advantages and Highlighting the People-Oriented Nature of

Initiating a new mechanism for talent management and training and
enhancing the professional capabilities of the wealth management team

Adhering to the original spirit of service and customer-oriented principle,
the Bank established a four-step work approach of “listening, proposing,
implementing and reviewing” for wealth advisors to regulate the
standard service process for Fujia customers and provide customers with
personalized and full-process professional services through in-depth
understanding of customers' needs, formulating asset allocation plans,
implementing asset allocation portfolios, and carrying out reviewing and
rebalancing.

The Bank advanced the building of a tiered talent training system, and
conducted over 60 sessions of the training camp titled “Enhancing
Abilities and Pursuing Excellence”, covering more than 10,000 wealth
advisors, which integrated learning and practicing for professional
competence enhancement. The Bank successfully held the 8th Top 10
Wealth Advisors Competition, which drew nearly 50,000 wealth advisors,
and built an elite team through competition. During the reporting period,
over 30 employees were honored and recognized at influential industry
events, such as the 12th Outstanding Wealth Management Expert Skills
Competition, and China Private Banking Elite Competition (2023).

Upgrading wealth management services and officially launching
private banking business

The Bank built an exclusive comprehensive service system and
established a dedicated service line for Dingfu customers, allowing
customers to directly access the private bank’s dedicated manual
response when calling in and enjoy warm butler-style services. The
Bank selected high-quality products across the market, built exclusive
product shelves that highlight stability and pursue absolute returns,
and cooperated with leading securities firms in the market to provide
personalized services such as corporate financing and share reduction
to satisfy customers’ diversified and personalized wealth management
need. The Bank opened private banking centers in Wuhan, Guangzhou,
Hangzhou and Changchun to provide more exclusive and private
service venues for Dingfu customers.

. (WEALTH _
' HINA

Advancing investor education and continuously enhancing brand influence

The Bank consistently carried out investor education, and continued to
conduct the “Weekly Wealth Management Lecture” campaign across nearly
40,000 outlets nationwide to cultivate the concept of customer asset
allocation. During the reporting period, over 840,000 investor education
campaigns were held, covering nearly 5.59 million person-times. The Bank
focused on the education needs from children of high-end customers, and
held nearly 300 lectures themed “Promoting Talent Growth for a Better
Future” jointly with experts in college entrance examination and planning
covering more than 20 provinces and attracting over 13,300 customers.

The Bank hosted the 3rd PSBC Wealth Management Festival themed
“Safeguarding Wealth towards A Beautiful Life”, which received a publicity
exposure of 991 million times. In collaboration with Tencent News, the
Bank launched The Answer to Wealth, the first domestic financial literacy
documentary series, with a total exposure of over 297 million times. The
Bank also teamed up with The Paper News and launched documentary
series Wealth China, continuously raising its market influence and brand
image of PSBC wealth management.

Solidly promoting digital empowerment and taking refined management
to a new level

The Bank launched the “U Allocate Assets — Investment Consultation”
service on its mobile banking, which can make the professional and
obscure asset allocation theory concrete and scenario-based, and
introduced the classic Sailboat Theory for asset allocation to provide
customers with wealth checkups and asset allocation and form the
closed loop for online operation from asset diagnosis and product
recommendation to portfolio ordering, making asset allocation more
intuitive and convenient. The Bank also strengthened the philosophy
of centering on customers and developed a module of “Profit Center”,
enabling an accurate calculation of earnings on customers’ investment.

The Bank built the “Wealth Advisor Marketing Cockpit”, smoothing
the whole process from customer KYC and asset allocation to product
sales and real-time performance and significantly boosting the working
efficiency and refined management of wealth advisors.

Scan to learn more about The Answer to
Wealth campaign

Green world
better life
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Retail Credit

Consumer Credit Business

Focusing on high-quality and innovation-driven
development, the Bank advanced the sustained and
healthy development of business. As at the end of the
reporting period, the balance of personal consumer loans
stood at RMB2.86 trillion.

The Bank strictly implemented the government’s guiding
policies for housing credit, advanced the adjustment of
the mortgage rates for purchased homes in an orderly
manner, and fully supported the needs of first-time home
buyers and upgraders. The balance of personal residential
mortgage loans amounted to RMB2.34 trillion, a net
increase of RMB76,228 million.

The Bank drove consumer credit business by innovation
to boost the quality and efficiency of the business. The
Bank introduced new models of marketing expansion
for existing customers, built the collaborative marketing
mechanism with lead conversion at the core, effectively
empowered pre-lending marketing through proactive
credit extension, and continuously enhanced the

availability of consumer credit for residents. The Bank
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created new scenario-based service models, built
the direct sales model for new energy vehicles, and
incorporated the whole lending process into auto
makers’ online vehicle sales scenario, which improved
scenario-based service capability. The Bank developed
new marketing models, seized the opportunities brought
by green and low-carbon consumption and rural
revitalization, continuously launched the “PSBC-sponsored
Car Purchase Season for Rural Areas” marketing campaign,
collaborated with quality partners on “Group Purchase
Beneficial to the People”, and organized over 3,000
marketing activities in total, which met the car purchase
needs of residents in lower-tier markets. The Bank sped
up product integration and process restructuring, built
the intelligent and digital online consumer loan product
system by combining online and offline channels, and
continuously improved customer experience. In addition,
the quality and efficiency of intensive operation continued
to improve, and centralized approval was accelerated,
with the average review time per deal shortened by 40%.
At the Head Office, post-lending centralized management
was put into full operation, further releasing frontline

productivity.
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Micro Loan Business

On the basis of consolidating and leveraging its offline
retail banking advantages, the Bank accelerated the
transformation of micro loans into a digital and intensive
modern model, and promoted the transformation in terms
of customer acquisition, customer life cycle management,

operation process and product forms.

In terms of marketing, the Bank strengthened the
empowerment by the Head Office, established customer
marketing models, promoted differentiated marketing, list
marketing and chain marketing for micro loan customers,
and relied on digital maps to realize visual tracking and
full-process management of the marketing process. In
terms of customers, the Bank established a full life cycle
management system for micro loan customers, generating
more than 800 customer portraits, and established full-
process refined management routes in customer access,
service tracking, loss warning and customer retention. In
terms of products, the Bank implemented the integration
of micro loan product system, customized business
solutions for more than 300 specialty industries and
more than 400 business districts based on “One Industry,
One Solution”, and created the “Industry Loan” product.
It also enhanced the Head Office’s direct customer

operation capability, utilized internal and external multi-
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dimensional data to facilitate proactive credit extension
projects, thereby realizing instant approval and extension
and draw-down for customers. In terms of risks, the Bank
accelerated the reform of centralized credit review and
approval and post-lending management, established a
quantitative risk prevention and control team, formed
a risk profile and list of non-performing customers, and
deployed the voluntary termination. It also optimized the
scoring card model comprehensively and strengthened
the monitoring and review of strategy implementation.
In terms of the workforce, the Bank implemented a
matrix management and differentiated authorization of
“role + hierarchy” for customer managers, approved the
qualification of nearly 2,000 elite micro-loan customer
managers and more than 9,000 key micro-loan customer
managers, strengthened the appointment and removal,
and implemented the training and capacity building

programs for customer managers.

As at the end of the reporting period, outstanding
personal micro loans amounted to RMB1.39 trillion, an
increase of RMB257,033 million over the prior year-end,
and the growth rate was 22.64%, exceeding 20% for four
consecutive years. The non-performing loan ratio for micro

loans was 1.73%, maintaining overall stability.

Leveraging Resources Endowment and Achieving Initial Success in the Proactive Credit Extension

Model for Retail Banking Business

Upholding its strategic positioning as a retail bank, the Bank leveraged its customer resource advantages, introduced innovation to the
proactive credit extension model for the retail credit business, and explored a differentiated growth path that upgrades its advantages
from resources endowment to value creation. The model was operated by the Head Office in a centralized manner, where thousands of
profile features of over 600 million existing customers of the Bank were analyzed to form a whitelist database of high-quality customers,

which included farmers, merchants and consumers and covered a wide range of customer groups. The precise list with pre-approval results
was used for marketing and could improve the success rate of customer conversion, overcome the effect of “reversal selection’, reduce
business risks, and balance customer experience with risk control effectiveness. Digital operation was implemented throughout the process;
a marketing system with synergy across channels was built; and the online services enabled by both intelligent speech and customer
service agents were improved. The Bank continuously optimized the simplified application experience for front-end customers through
“authorization, identification and submission”, and together with systematic and automatic back-office review and approval and centralized

post-lending and collection management, achieved efficient and cost-effective operation.

As at the end of the reporting period, the Bank’s proactive credit extension model for the retail credit business had been running for 15
months, with outstanding loans exceeding RMB150 billion and the NPL ratio lower than 0.5%. The Bank maintained a leading position in
the industry for both business growth and risk control quality. The model has gradually become an important driver of the Bank to build
differentiated competitive advantages and facilitate the high-quality growth of the credit business.
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Credit Card Business

Viewing the credit card business as an important part of
comprehensive services for retail customers, the Bank
further deepened the reform of credit card systems and
mechanisms, worked to build differentiated development
advantages, comprehensively boosted core capabilities in
areas like product research and development, customer
expansion, customer management, channel development
and risk management, and continuously improved the
quality of the credit card business development. During the
reporting period, the number of newly issued credit cards
was 7,568.8 thousand; and the number of credit cards in
circulation was 42,399.4 thousand. Consumption via credit
cards amounted to RMB1,140,588 million, and the income
from credit card business recorded a year-on-year increase
of 7.35%. The delinquency ratio of credit cards was 1.71%,

a drop of 0.24 percentage point from the prior year-end.

Strengthening product R&D and comprehensive
marketing capability

The Bank continued to advance the optimization and
integration of customer acquisition channels, and stepped
up the building of credit card marketing teams and
comprehensive marketing capability. With cross-selling
at the core, the Bank comprehensively leveraged directly-
operated outlets, sales teams, collaboration between China
Post Group and the Bank and other marketing channels,
and increased efforts to introduce quality customer
groups. It intensified market-oriented management of the
sales teams, and continuously improved the effectiveness
of customer acquisition. The Bank built a new model of
proactive credit extension, continued to optimize the
whitelist, and enriched and improved the multi-channel
marketing system, acquiring over 1 million new customers
through proactive credit extension. Focusing on key
customer groups, the Bank accelerated the upgrade of
the product system, developed star products and key
products, and successively launched Fangfei (Floral) credit
card, U Life-themed credit card, Luckin co-branded credit
card, among other new products, further enriching the
types of product benefits and continuously improving

comprehensive customer service capabilities.
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Supporting the strategies of expanding domestic
demand and upgrading consumption

The Bank actively implemented the country’s policy to
expand domestic demand, optimized and improved
financial services, created consumption scenarios,
improved cardholder experience, and supported the
recovery and expansion of consumption. The Bank
deepened the construction of business districts and
scenario systems, and built a “One City, One Mall”
preferential merchant system nationwide, establishing
cooperation with over 800 complexes and 15,000 stores
to effectively meet the diverse consumption needs of
customers. The Bank optimized and upgraded brand
promotion, boosted the effectiveness of brand marketing
through various forms under the theme of “PSBC Green
Card, Save as You Shop”. The Bank continued to improve
online channels, launched version 5.0 of PSBC Credit Card
App, and created an all-in-one consumption scenario
with the PSBC Credit Card App at its core, significantly

improving the user experience.

Forging intensive operation and differentiated
development capabilities

Giving full play to its advantages of the intensive
operation of credit cards, the Bank further intensified
the capability building of intensive operation, and
improved the effectiveness of intensive operation to
build differentiated development advantages. The Bank
boosted the capability building of targeted marketing,
and optimized and perfected marketing strategies and
campaign plans to effectively enhance the efficiency
of targeted marketing. The Bank stepped up efforts to
develop installment business, optimized the structure of
installment assets, improved the process and channels
for installment application, and established the intensive
marketing system to drive the continued growth of the
size of installment business. The Bank strengthened
intensive operation in areas like credit review and
approval and post-lending disposal, constantly improved
operational efficiency, effectively lowered costs, and

further boosted the capability in risk operation.
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Merchant Acquiring Business

The Bank kept cultivating the strategic merchant market,
focused on the operating characteristic and core needs
of merchants, developed the innovative mechanism that
combined differentiated marketing, refined management
and intelligent risk control, and deepened the building of
a settlement system centering on merchants. In terms of
differentiated marketing, the Bank segmented customer
groups, and built the operating system of “outlets +
business districts” for micro and small-sized merchants,
the service system of “Acquiring + SaaS” for important
middle-sized merchants, and the scenario expansion
system for large-sized industrial merchants accordingly. In
terms of refined management, the Bank connected data
chains across systems, and put into use merchant lifecycle
management tools like data dashboards and integrated
profitability models. In terms of intelligent risk control, the
Bank constantly iterated the merchant risk warning model,
and enhanced the risk control capability of the system. As
at the end of the reporting period, the number of effective
merchants using the Bank’s acquiring service exceeded
1.56 million, with the transaction amount topping RMB490
billion. The AUM of merchants exceeded RMB120 billion
on a cumulative basis, with the growth rate approximately
twice the growth rate of the AUM of personal customers
across the Bank. Additionally, the Bank granted more
than RMB140 billion in operating loans through business

coordination.

The Bank advanced the scale-up of mobile payment
projects that benefit the people in county and rural areas.
Centering on the overall layout of “1 million merchants
with 10 major scenarios in thousands of towns and
counties”, the Bank continued to expand the coverage
of such services in counties and rural areas, accelerated
the building of the new service model of “scenarios +
merchants + finance” with online and offline integration,
and actively incorporated financial services into various

production and living scenarios related to agriculture and
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in rural areas, to make efficient financial services more
accessible to rural areas. As at the end of the reporting
period, merchants in counties accounted for 54.81% of
the total across the Bank, with the transaction amount
exceeding RMB150 billion; and 651 demonstration
counties of mobile payment services were established.
Specifically, focusing on mobile payment for rural tourism,
the Bank built the closed-loop service system connecting
tourism resources providers, tourist service providers,
financial service providers and tourism consumers, and
launched smart cultural and tourism projects in Beijing,
Jiangsu, Guangdong, etc., to drive the coordinated

development across the industrial chain of rural tourism.
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The corporate banking business of the Bank was guided by a systematic
approach to deepen institutional and mechanism reforms. It optimized
product and service elements with a customer-centric approach, and aligned
development strategies with market orientation. It provided integrated financial
services that met the needs of industrial transformation and upgrade and the
diversified development of enterprises, effectively implemented the work
requirements of providing financial support to key areas of the real economy
and preventing and mitigating risks, maintained a balance between reform
and stability, development and risks, as well as speed and quality, and strove
to enhance the sustainability of financial support to the real economy. As at
the end of the reporting period, the aggregate number of corporate customers
increased by 15.58% over the prior year-end, maintaining a double-digit growth
for four consecutive years. The Bank continued to improve the professional
service system for technology finance, and provided whole-lifecycle services
for sci-tech enterprises, with the number of served customers growing by
28.38% compared with the prior year-end. The FPA totaled RMB4.68 trillion,
up by RMBO0.99 trillion, or 26.83% over the prior year-end. Corporate deposits
amounted to RMB1,458,437 million, up by RMB28,871 million over the prior
year-end; and the average interest rate was 1.33%. The operating income of
corporate banking increased by 10.35% year on year, with the intermediary
business income up by 59.89% year on year. Asset quality remained sound with
an NPL ratio of 0.55%.
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Developing Operational Systems
Comprehensively Rolling Out the New “1 plus N”
Operation and Service System

The Bank pursued innovation and built a differentiated
and distinctive service model. Focusing on “tiered and
classified operation, services as a lead bank, improved
management level for key customers, team-based
customer services, and continued innovation”, the
Bank improved the multi-dimensional, tiered customer
service system targeting large customers, medium-large
customers, small-medium customers, micro and small-
sized customers as well as long-tail customer groups. The
Bank established the lead bank customer pool, created
the mechanism for dynamic closed-loop management,
and delivered differentiated and distinctive services
throughout the process. As at the end of the reporting
period, the number of customers with the Bank acting as
the lead bank increased by 91.55% over the prior year-

end.

The Bank established the dumbbell-like organization
structure with empowerment of the Head Office. The
Bank promoted the set-up of direct customer operation
institutions and direct operation teams in tier-1 and tier-
2 branches, and made dynamic adjustments to corporate
institutional settings of tier-1 sub-branches. The Bank
raised the list-based management level of key customers
to deliver better-quality financial services. The Bank
allocated resources to key areas and precisely expanded

the radius of financial services.

The Bank adopted team-based work and performance
integration mechanism to meet customers’ diverse
needs. The Bank innovatively launched the “1+N+X"
service group evaluation model, motivating customer
managers to cooperate with products, risk and technology
experts from middle- and back-office departments. The

Bank established a work mechanism for the integration
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of business and technology, and arranged front-end
engineers to provide service so as to improve the quality
and efficiency of one-stop comprehensive financial

services and enhance customer experience.

The Bank promoted the application of the “future-
oriented” model with precise strategies. The Bank
expanded the application of “future-oriented” model
to various fields, developed insights into industry
development trends, conducted analysis of enterprises’
growth potential, and formulated differentiated credit
extension strategies specially for lead bank customers to
enhance the quality and effectiveness of credit extension

service.

Building the Multi-dimensional Marketing System
for Corporate Clients

With data as the cornerstone and intelligence as the
direction, the Bank created “N” customer touchpoints
and marketing tools around each “one” customer, and
developed an innovative digital marketing service model
for corporate banking that combines online, offline and

remote operations.

The Bank improved the online channel matrix for
corporate banking service, focused on corporate
online banking and corporate mobile banking as the
main platforms, expanded corporate micro-banking
services, launched “PSBC Corporate Operation”, an
operation scenario platform, and established a customer-
centric, diversified marketing service system covering
all scenarios. The Bank upgraded the remote banking
capacities for corporate service, leveraged its advantages
of intensive, digital and intelligent operation, and worked
to meet marketing and service needs in corporate
scenarios through a “human-machine + intelligence”
model. The Bank consolidated outlet-based marketing,
advanced integrated management by customer
managers, accelerated the optimization of the marketing
management for corporate clients and the transformation
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of the operational model into an intelligent one, and
realized automatic allocation of “high-value” business
opportunities and efficient collaboration between online
and offline channels, thus boosting the efficiency of
marketing and business development.

The Bank enhanced data support for customer operation
throughout the entire lifecycle, built the digital marketing
base for corporate clients, leveraged data analysis and
customer profiling to fully understand customer needs,
and improved the quality and effectiveness of marketing
services for key customer groups. Through a multi-
dimensional marketing model, the Bank expanded
marketing services for businesses such as easy small
and micro loans, electronic letters of guarantee,
forex settlement and sales, corporate mobile banking

promotions for improving account activity, etc.

The Bank actively deepened cooperation with enterprises and supported
Tianjin in building a world-class smart and green port

Product and Service Innovation

Treasury Management and Channel Services
Empowering the settlement and cash management
business with technology. The Bank continuously
intensified innovative applications of big data, artificial
intelligence, and Optical Character Recognition (OCR) in
cash management business, built a new cash management
services platform supported by the development of the
new generation core system for corporate business, and

Postal Savings Bank of China Co., Ltd. | 2023 Annual Report

improved customer experience. By leveraging minimalist
page design and new interactive methods, the Bank gave
play to its service advantages such as rich choices of cash
management products, flexible functions and diverse
scenarios, expanded and enhanced its customer fund
management capacity and further elevated the value
creation of corporate funds to new heights. As at the end
of the reporting period, the number of cash management
customers totaled 783.4 thousand, an increase of 138.6
thousand over the prior year-end. The Bank was honored
the “Best Cash Management Bank” in the selection for the
2023 Most Trusted Financial Service Providers by Trade &
Economic Enterprises in China (Gold Trade Awards).

Accelerating the digital transformation of trade finance
and supply chain finance. The Bank advanced the
digitization of trade finance, and launched electronic
letters of guarantee 3.0, reducing the issuing time to
two hours. The Bank’s “innovative case of facilitating
transaction through data empowerment to open a
new era for electronic letters of guarantee” was named
the “2023 Excellent Case of Innovation by Transaction
Banking” by The Chinese Banker. The Bank put into
operation a specialized bill acceptance product system
called “U Acceptance’, with “U Acceptance - U Acceptance
for Rural Areas and Farmers” supporting bill issuance,
acceptance and receipt online, thus meeting agriculture-
related customers’ bulk invoicing needs. The Bank
customized innovative work mechanisms for supply chain
finance, expanded the service scenarios for industrial
chains, deployed the financial product combinations such
as “settlement plus financing” online, and created tailored
financial services for each enterprise and each link across
the upstream and downstream industrial chains. The Bank
facilitated the digital and intelligent transformation of risk
control, adopted models like big data risk control engines,
and realized online “triple checks” of financing companies.
The Bank empowered omni-channel marketing through
technology, realizing paperless and intensive operation
and improving the quality and efficiency of services. As
at the end of the reporting period, the number of valid
customers of supply chain finance grew by 252.90% over
the prior year-end.
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Adhering to the service philosophy of bank-enterprise
direct connection featuring “full connection and deep
integration”. The Bank promoted the model of integration
between business and technology in an all-round way, and
continuously improved the financial information services for
primary-level institutions through a full-process, multi-angle
team support. During the reporting period, 2,407 group
customers were served on a cumulative basis. The Bank
launched “Yi Qi Dian (directory of corporate products)’,
an online one-stop platform to promote product and
service solutions for corporate banking. Led by digital
empowerment and targeting the needs of corporate
customers, the platform integrated nearly 100 financial
products and solutions, providing systematic and
scenario-based “plus N” marketing tools.

Financing and Credit Facility and Advisory Services
The Bank boosted the coordinated development of
commercial banking and investment banking, and
strengthened comprehensive customer services. During
the reporting period, investment banking business
achieved rapid development. Intermediary business
income of investment banking was RMB2,388 million, up
by 42.91% year on year.

Improving bond financing in both quality and quantity.
The size of underwritten bond financing instruments of
non-financial enterprises of the National Association of
Financial Market Institutional Investors (NAFMII) rose by
45.21% year on year, with the Bank's ranking up by three
places compared to the prior year. Registering a year-
on-year growth of 255.80% in the size of underwritten
securitization products, the Bank actively supported
enterprises’ diverse needs for putting idle assets into
use, expanding financing channels, optimizing financial
statements, etc. The Bank created new products
and enhanced services, underwrote the first rural
revitalization-themed commercial mortgage-backed notes
(CMBN) in the market, the first financial institution asset-
backed notes (ABN) in the market, and the first hybrid sci-
tech innovation asset-backed notes (quasi-REITs) in the
market.

Achieving breakthrough development in syndicated
financing. The Bank sharpened investment banking
mindset, upheld the role as an advisor, lead bank and
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underwriter, focused on urban renewal, industrial park
construction and rural revitalization, and supported
financing for major projects. As at the end of the reporting
period, the balance of syndicated loans amounted to
RMB642,861 million, an increase of 28.57% over the prior
year-end. During the reporting period, the number of
syndicated loan projects led by the Bank was 308, an
increase of 45.28% year on year.

Giving play to the distinctive functions of M&A
financing. By fully utilizing its differentiated services of
M&A financial business, the Bank focused on quality state-
owned enterprises and leading private enterprises, offered
special support to M&A and restructuring businesses
in scenarios such as asset revitalization, industrial
upgrading, listed company restructuring and bankruptcy
restructuring, and vigorously met customer needs for
strategic development and transformation. As at the
end of the reporting period, the balance of M&A loans
increased by 126.29% over the prior year-end.

Vigorously introducing innovation in the financial
advisory business. Targeting customers’ differentiated
financial needs, the Bank created new scenarios of
matchmaking services for non-banking institutions
including securities brokers, insurance, leasing companies,
etc., achieved the mutual reinforcement between research
empowerment and matchmaking services, and provided
customers with solution packages that combine financing
with intelligence, significantly boosting its integrated
financial service capabilities.

“U Prosper” Sci-tech Finance Service System
Targeting the needs of sci-tech enterprises throughout
the growth and development stages and in all aspects of
operation and production, the Bank made innovations
in its exclusive product system, and worked to provide
customers with integrated financial services, including
fund financing, capital operation, payment and settlement,
wealth management, and think tank advisory services
through five major categories of products, namely “U
Finance”, “U Investment”, “U Connect”, “U Wealth”, and
“U Intelligence”. In total, the Bank has carried out a total
of more than 50 offline service activities dedicated to “U
Prosper” customers.



Corporate Banking Business

= Column Focusing on the Major Task of Technology Finance Development and Comprehensively Expanding
= the Ecosystem of Technology Finance

Upholding the philosophy of serving customers as a lead bank, the Bank advanced the high-quality development
of technology finance by strengthening resources support, setting up professional institutions and teams, building

exclusive services and products, and deepening external cooperation, among other means.

The Bank, in collaboration with the China Center for Promotion of SME Development, jointly launched the special
campaign “Together in the Same Boat, PSBC Supporting Business Development” to support the development of
specialized and sophisticated enterprises that produce new and unique products. Both parties took the lead in jointly
setting up a team of financing service specialists for specialized and sophisticated enterprises that produce new and
unique products, and fully leveraged the service specialists’ access to both governmental and financial resources. They
served as the “promoters” for policy implementation, “special envoys” for financial services, and “liaison officers” for
government-bank cooperation, and deeply engaged in various service scenarios. As at the end of the reporting period,
there were over 100 financing service specialists dedicated to specialized and sophisticated enterprises that produce

new and unique products, who became the pioneers promoting the development of sci-tech enterprises.

The Bank vigorously expanded its friends’ circle in the capital market, and worked to provide integrated investment and
commercial banking services to sci-tech enterprises. The Bank established cooperation with Shenzhen Stock Exchange,
Shanghai Stock Exchange and Beijing Stock Exchange. On August 4, 2023, the Bank signed a memorandum on strategic
operation with Shenzhen Stock Exchange, pursuant to which both sides would continuously carry out cooperation in
areas such as matchmaking service for industrial financing, cultivation of enterprises for listing, integrated financial
services, product R&D and design, and the commercialization of technological outcomes, and launch financing
roadshows under the joint sponsorship of PSBC and V-next, to meet enterprises’ demand for equity financing and

facilitate the innovative development of sci-tech enterprises.
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TOGETHER IN THE SAME BOAT, PSBC SUPPORTING BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT

Financing service specialists for specialized and sophisticated enterprises that produce new and unigue products in Hebei Province
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The financing service specialist team for specialized and sophisticated enterprises that produce new and unique products in Hebei Province which were
jointly established by the Bank and the China Center for Promotion of SME Development
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Relying on the special service system for technology finance, the Bank focused on industrial parks and industrial chains,

and energetically drove sci-tech innovation and industrial innovation. Jiangsu Branch centralized competitive resources,

beefed up financial support for quality manufacturing enterprises, focused on serving industrial transformation and

upgrade, precisely targeted the demand for optimizing the spatial layout of industry, developed innovative engineering

factoring products to support key projects, provided credit support for key industrial parks, and drove the upgrade

of industrial park construction. Centering on supplementing, extending and strengthening industrial chains, Jiangsu

Branch stepped up research on key industrial chains, such as new energy vehicles, intelligent power grid, optical fiber

and cable, etc., realized precise support for backbone industrial
enterprises, innovatively upgraded the supply finance system,
improved the efficiency of the financial services for industrial
chains, optimized the financial services for industrial workers,
built distinctive sub-branches serving industrial parks, and
consolidated the foundation for the steady operation of industrial
chains. Centering on the asset-light feature of tech enterprises,
Zhejiang Branch worked to solve the financing difficulties facing
enterprises. As a state-level specialized and sophisticated “little
giant” enterprise that produces new and unique products dedicated
to semiconductors for years, Zhejiang GPILOT Technology Co., Ltd.
owns over 10 invention patents and more than 20 utility model
patents. Yueqing Sub-branch in Wenzhou, Zhejiang Province set
up a technology finance service team to provide special financial
service solutions to address enterprises’ demand arising from the
growth process, and granted RMB100 million in “property mortgage
+ credit” loans to effectively meet enterprises’ financial demand
in raw material purchase. Meanwhile, it also provided integrated
financial services including fund management and agency
payroll service for the enterprise, and further expanded bilateral
collaboration in both depth and breadth.

S
PSBC Jiangsu Branch pays visits to and provides financial services for a
specialized and sophisticated “little giant” enterprise that produces new
and unique products

Employees of PSBC Yueqing Sub-branch in Wenzhou, Zhejiang Province
visit Zhejiang GPILOT Technology Co., Ltd.
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Supporting the Real Economy in Boosting
Efficiency

Leveraging resources endowment to empower coordinated
regional development. The Bank actively channeled funds into
strategic regions, critical industries and key projects, supported
the country’s key regional development strategies, facilitated
the coordinated development of the Beijing-Tianjin-Hebei
region, the development of the Yangtze Economic Belt, the
construction of Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macao Greater Bay
Area, the integrated development of the Yangtze River Delta
region, and pushed forward the construction of Xiongan New
Area and the Chengdu-Chongqging economic circle. As at the
end of the reporting period, the loans to corporate customers in
key regions increased by 27.16% over the prior year-end.

Providing whole-lifecycle services regarding local
government bonds to contribute to the improved intensity
and effectiveness of fiscal policies. To give full play to the
effectiveness of special bonds, the Bank stepped up investment
in local government bonds, provided services related to local
government bonds throughout the lifecycle from “application,
review, lending” to “use, management and repayment’, and
achieved full coverage of underwriting for provincial-level local
government bonds nationwide. The Bank provided project
evaluation, advisory and consulting, specialized bond packaging
service and other services to over 5,000 corporate customers
and offered financial support to key areas of economic and
social development.

Establishing a long-term mechanism to forge new quality
productive forces for the manufacturing industry. The Bank
served the nurturing and expansion of emerging industries
as well as the forward-looking planning of future industries,
and expanded presence in areas like high-end equipment
manufacturing, new materials, new energy vehicles, and
electronics and information manufacturing. Meanwhile,
the Bank focused on the transformation and upgrading of
traditional manufacturing industries and the consolidation and
improvement of competitive industries, seized opportunities
associated with the intelligent and digital transformation of
industries such as chemicals, steel, and non-ferrous metals, and
drove the development of manufacturing towards high-end,
intelligent and green practices. As at the end of the reporting
period, the medium- and long-term loans to the manufacturing
sector increased by 37.52% over the prior year-end.

Making innovations in financial supply to boost green
transformation of economic development. The Bank vigorously
supported green industries such as clean energy, green
buildings and green transportation, explored opportunities
for low-carbon transformation of traditional carbon-intensive
industries such as coal and thermal power, and advanced the
coordinated development of green finance and transition
finance. The Bank continuously developed new product and
service models, successively launched the country’s first-ever
“carbon emission reduction supporting tool + sustainability
linkage + e-CNY” loan and just transition loan, to meet
reasonable financing needs of enterprise in their transformation
and development. As at the end of the reporting period,
wholesale green loans grew by 26.50% over the prior year-end.
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Vigorously expanding financial services to lower-tier markets
and creating a distinctive model for rural revitalization. The
Bank actively supported key projects of rural revitalization, and
drove the modernization of agriculture and rural areas. As at the
end of the reporting period, agriculture-related corporate loans
increased by 36.29% over the prior year-end. The Bank stepped
up support for key areas including grain planting, collection and
storage, pig farming, feed production, high-standard farmland,
and modern facility agriculture, and created service models for
agricultural industry chains. Loans to high-standard farmland
and cultivated land doubled from the prior year, and corporate
loans granted to companies in agriculture, forestry, animal
husbandry, and fishery sectors grew by 153.99% over the prior
year-end. The Bank facilitated modern countryside development
and solidified the foundation of new urbanization development
centering on living infrastructure, improvement of living
environment, rural circulation system, and public livelihood
services. As at the end of the reporting period, loans for rural
infrastructure construction increased by 77.33% over the prior
year-end.

Making targeted efforts in model innovations to support the
steady development of the real estate market. Resolutely
applying the new development philosophy, the Bank prioritized
risk prevention and control, put quality and efficiency first, and
improved the quality and effectiveness of financial services in
areas such as government-subsidized housing, urban village
renovation, “dual-use” public infrastructure construction,
urban renewal, and commercial properties. The Bank focused
on key regions and customers, created new product models,
and allocated resources accordingly. Supported by FinTech
innovation, the Bank provided comprehensive packages of
financial services that combined finance, products and scenarios,
supporting the steady and healthy development of the real
estate market.

—_

—
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Enhancing the quality and effectiveness of services for
technology finance. Centering on three major customer groups
including high-tech enterprise, small- and medium-sized sci-
tech enterprises, and specialized and sophisticated enterprises
that produce new and unique products, the Bank promoted
comprehensive lifecycle service solutions for sci-tech enterprises
based on the “U Prosper” technology finance service system,
and provided all-round financial services for the development
of strategic emerging industries and future industries as new
quality productive forces. The Bank continued to advance the
building of specialized institutions and teams for technology
finance, and set up the “1 Plus N” customer service teams to
provide customers with integrated financial service solutions.
Specialized technology finance institutions became the driving
force behind the development. The increase in the loans granted
to sci-tech enterprises for the year by 15 tier-1 branches that set
up specialized technology finance institutions accounted for
over 75% of the increase of the Bank's total loans granted to sci-
tech enterprises. During the reporting period, the Bank became
one of the first lead underwriters of hybrid sci-tech innovation
notes in the market, underwrote 18 sci-tech innovation notes
worth RMB9,497 million in total, helped enterprises raise
RMB19,112 million through debt financing in the capital market,
and continuously improved the service standard of technology
finance. The Bank continued to improve the “future-oriented”
analytical capabilities, and built a “technology flow” evaluation
system. Based on multi-dimensional data such as innovation
outcomes, profitability and market competitiveness, and
investment in innovation resources, the Bank tailored data-
driven evaluation methods and tools for sci-tech enterprises,
focused on their growth potential, and supported sci-tech
enterprises in growth. As at the end of the reporting period, the
Bank served 69.4 thousand sci-tech enterprises, an increase of
28.38% over the prior year-end. The balance of loans granted to
sci-tech enterprises totaled RMB326,772 million, an increase of
37.65% over the prior year-end.

[
ren

Scan to view the videos about intelligent
manufacturers

Green world,
better life
L=



> Treasury and Asset Management Business

Trading volume of interest rate bonds ;, Trading volume of bill rediscounting

institutions ) ) .
registered with the (In RMB100 million) with non-banking counterparties
" . (In RMB100 million)
Together We Thrive Year-on-year increase Year-on-year increase
interbank ecosystem
platform, with the
cumulative trading
volume exceeding 22,792.60 20,630.51
=
RMBZ trillion. _ Z
12,903.00 % 14,046.67 %
8,648.27 % _
Book-entry treasury bonds % %
4,946.03
worth RMB % Z
million were underwritten, é Z
a year-on-year increase of 2021 2022 2023 2021 2022 2023
%.
For the treasury and asset management business, the Bank focused on
Insurance funds under building differentiated growth poles in the financial market business,
custody exceeded deepened the development of the interbank ecosystem, continued to improve
RMB billion, the business layout, actively promoted the transformation and development,
and further improved the quality and efficiency of the development. Main
up by % over the

] results achieved in the reporting period included: Firstly, the Bank continued
prior year-end. to promote trading transformation and enriched the value contribution
of businesses. It always highlighted investment analysis as guidance and
increased the flow of asset transactions while improving asset allocation, in a
bid to improve the returns. During the reporting period, the volume of bond
transactions was up by 75.40% year on year, the trading volume of interest
rate swaps up by 34.71% year on year, and the volume of bill rediscounting
transactions up by 46.87% year on year. Secondly, the Bank facilitated digital
transformation and deepened the construction of the interbank ecosystem.
It launched the “Together We Thrive” interbank ecosystem platform to create
an ecosystem of financial scenarios characterized by customer connectivity,
diverse products and information sharing. As at the end of the reporting
period, 2,407 institutions registered with the platform, with the cumulative
trading volume exceeding RMB2 trillion, which resulted in the continuous
improvements in the Bank's influence and brand reputation in the interbank
ecosystem, laying a solid foundation for expanding the breadth and depth
of cooperation with interbank customers. Thirdly, the Bank accelerated the
asset-light transformation and explored new growth drivers for business. By
giving full play to its resources endowment, the Bank actively carried out the
interbank agency sales business. As at the end of the reporting period, 931
fund products were launched on the “Together We Thrive” platform, with
the size of agency sales funds topping RMB70 billion. It also strengthened
the coordination efforts, with its insurance funds under custody exceeding
RMB900 billion for the first time, an increase of 31.16% over the prior

year-end.
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Business Overview

Financial Interbank Business

Interbank Investment and Financing Business

During the reporting period, with the market interest rates showing an M-shaped trend, the Bank actively seized market
opportunities, and optimized the structure of investment and financing assets, continuously boosting the quality and
efficiency of operation. In terms of the financing business, the Bank enriched the types of interbank deposit collaterals,
continued to expand the coverage of interbank customers, with the size of pledged interbank deposits growing by 101.91%
year on year. In terms of the investment business, the Bank upheld the balance among security, liquidity and returns,
and improved the capability of managing fund investment, with the fund business income increasing by 13.85% year on
year. The Bank tapped the opportunities associated with the allocation of securitized assets, with the increment volume
of securitized asset investment business growing by 29.79% year on year, and drove the coordinated development of
underwriting, custody, deposits and loans through investment. These efforts further increased the comprehensive returns.

= Column The “Together We Thrive” Platform Continues to See More Customer Acquisition Scenarios and
= Increasingly Shows Its Value in Innovation

In February 2023, upholding the concept of “shared journey, common progress and win-win results”, the Bank officially launched the
“Together We Thrive” interbank ecosystem platform. Since its launch, it has received wide attention and unanimous praise from interbank
institutions for its concept about openness and sharing and unique features. As at the end of the reporting period, the platform had seen
registration by 2,407 financial institutions, covering all types of interbank customers including banks, insurance companies, securities brokers,
and other non-banking institutions, with the cumulative trading volume topping RMB2 trillion.

During the reporting period, the platform adhered to the customer-centric
approach, kept improving customer experience and continuously created
value for customers through agile iteration and independent R&D. Based on
sufficient research on customer demands, the platform successively launched
a bond hall, an ABS (Asset-backed Securities) hall, a wealth management hall,
a custody hall, a member center, and an investment research section, forming

the functional layout consisting of seven halls and two sections and fully £ = W?h ]
. . X K . . X . ) Bill Capital  Fund M eal t on
integrating business scenarios, instrument scenarios and interactive scenarios. g

ga

ABS  Custody Ivesiment  More
Researct

The “Together We Thrive” App was officially put into operation, which, through

bill and financing product release, intentional application, real-time chatting 5 Myto-dos  You have new to-dos @

and bargaining, pre-investment fund product selection and post-investment 7 \)}
management, improved product trading and business approval efficiency, and edt K2

enabled mobile handling of interbank business. Information on the “Together

s,
o,
2
Holte oy
Bill product %

We Thrive” App was synchronized with that on the platform, further improving o &
customer activity and increasing customer stickiness thanks to the flexibility

and portability of mobile services.

Homepage

Going ahead, the “Together We Thrive” interbank ecosystem platform will include

more distinctive customer acquisition scenarios including financial product
supermarkets, bill marts, wealth management, and investment research news, to Interface of the “Together We Thrive” interbank App

provide customers with one-stop integrated financial services that cover more
active scenarios, create greater value and deliver better user experience.

Billing Business

The Bank upheld the philosophy of “integrated operation” for the billing business, pursued larger-size bill discounting and
stronger trading capabilities, and continuously advanced the digital, intelligent transformation and trading transformation
of the billing business, significantly improving the quality and efficiency of the services for the real economy. During
the reporting period, the Bank handled discounting transactions worth RMB1,045,096 million, a year-on-year increase

Green world
better life
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Treasury and Asset Management Business

of 49.31%, and served 16,735 corporate customers, a
year-on-year increase of 19.21%. The trading volume of bill
rediscounting with non-banking counterparties amounted
to RMB2,063,051 million, which rose by 46.87% year on
year.

Bill discounting amount

(In RMB 100 million)
Year-on-year increase
49.31%
10,450.96
7
6,999.50 %
541436 %
-
Z
_
2021 2022 2023

Depository Business

During the reporting period, the Bank was qualified as
the futures margin depository bank by Shanghai Futures
Exchange and the clearing bank for the new share issue by
the Shenzhen branch of China Securities Depository and
Clearing Co., Ltd., and continued to provide customers
with a range of depository and settlement services
related to securities, futures, gold and insurance asset
management. As at the end of the reporting period,
the Bank had carried out in-depth cooperation with 9
exchanges/settlement firms, as well as 139 securities,
futures and insurance asset management financial
institutions. During the reporting period, the cumulative
transaction volume of treasury depository reached
RMB2.61 trillion, of which the cumulative transaction
volume of primary settlement and secondary settlement
was RMB1.92 trillion and RMBO0.69 trillion, respectively.
Nearly 1 million depository accounts were newly added,
and the cumulative number of depository accounts
reached 8.67 million, representing a year-on-year increase
of 12.43%.

Financial Market Business

In terms of the financial market business, the Bank,
based on the country’s overall development, actively
seized market opportunities, dynamically optimized asset
allocation, further explored technology finance, and
continuously strengthened risk management. As a result,
the Bank maintained high-quality development of various
businesses, and its core competitiveness was steadily
improved.
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Trading Business

In terms of the money market, the Bank continued to
strengthen proactive operation, and steadily improved
the efficiency of fund use while ensuring liquidity security
across the Bank. Meanwhile, the Bank fully fulfilled its
responsibility as a primary dealer in the interbank market,
took active part in open market operation, proactively
transmitted monetary policies, coordinated the use of
money market instruments, and promoted the stable
operation of the interbank market.

In terms of trading and market-making, the Bank
comprehensively strengthened digital empowerment.
Relying on the electronic trading system, the Bank actively
carried out quantitative real-time trading, deepened
research on trading strategies, increased trading frequency
and intensity, achieved rapid flow of assets, and steadily
improved the activity of market-making transactions.
As a result, the Bank significantly boosted the trading
competitiveness and market influence on the whole,
and saw initial results of digital transformation. During
the reporting period, the Bank registered a year-on-year
increase of 75.40% in the volume of bond trading, and a
year-on-year increase of 34.71% in the trading volume of
interest rate swaps. Also, the Bank was awarded honors
including Market Influencer of the Year and Market
Innovation Business Institution.

NEW MODEL FOR GREEN AND
LOW-CARBON DEVELOPMENT

CREATING A BETTER FUTURE
WITH HEAR] 5 SERVICES
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In terms of precious metals trading, the Bank worked to meet
customer demands through quality products and services related
to precious metals investment and financing. The Bank continued
to drive coordination between the Head Office and branches,
vigorously expanded trading counterparties, and improved trading
activity and influence. In 2023, the trading volume of precious
metals in the domestic market grew by 33.83% year on year.

Bond Investments

The Bank thoroughly implemented the country’s major decisions
and plans, comprehensively drove the transformation and
upgrade of real economy, supported key areas including regional
development, sci-tech innovation, advanced manufacturing and
inclusive finance through direct financing, and stepped up input
in quality credit bonds. As at the end of the reporting period,
the Bank's investment in corporate bonds rose by 28.66% over
the prior year-end. The Bank actively fulfilled its responsibility
as a treasury bond underwriter, and supported the issuance of
treasury bonds by coordinating trading and investment. As a
result, the Bank achieved a historical high in the underwriting
volume of treasury bonds, underwriting RMB542,020 million in
book-entry treasury bonds on a cumulative basis, accounting
for approximately 5% of the market total, ranking high in the
market by comprehensive performance. The Bank implemented
the green development concept, vigorously supported green,
low-carbon and circular economy, continued to increase
investment in green bonds, and was honored the title of
“Excellent Institutional Investor of ChinaBond Green Bond Index”
for five consecutive years, leading the performance of peers in
terms of both the investment scale and market participation.

The Bank continuously advanced the building of the investment
research system, continuously tracked the movements of interest
rates, proactively seized market opportunities, scientifically
developed business strategies, dynamically adjusted the pace
of bond investment, reasonably arranged investment varieties
and portfolio durations, firmly forestalled credit risk, and
ensured returns on asset operation amid the general decline of
market rates. As at the end of the reporting period, the Bank’s
bond investments amounted to RMB4,076,190 million, up by
RMB391,881 million, or 10.64%, over the prior year-end.

Asset Management Business

For the asset management business, the Bank adhered to
the business policy of “ensuring stable growth, promoting
reform, controlling risks, improving capability, and pursuing
high-quality development driven by higher capabilities’, faithfully
implemented regulatory requirements including the new rules
on asset management, and strategically and proactively explored
the path for the transformation of wealth management-related
banking services. Upholding the mission of “serving the people,
creating wealth value, supporting real economy and promoting
industrial upgrade’, the Bank benchmarked against first-class
asset management companies, and built management systems
including the system for public offering investment research,
the high-standard internal control system, the risk management
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system with products as the center, and the stable, efficient and
intensive operation supporting system, and ushered in a new
phase in which the wealth management-related banking services
develop in a regulated, professional and market-oriented manner.

As at the end of the reporting period, the Bank’s wealth
management products amounted to RMB776,499 million, of
which the net-value products amounted to RMB733,726 million,
accounting for 94.49% of the total. The products sold by the
Bank as an agent increased by more than RMB60 billion over
the year, with the increment one of the highest in the industry.
See “Business Overview — Majority-owned Subsidiaries” for the
business development of PSBC Wealth Management.

Custody Business

During the reporting period, the Bank proactively responded
to multiple impacts from the market, including fluctuations in
the capital market, massive redemption of bank-issued wealth
management products and declining commission rates, adhered
to product and service innovation, optimized customer services,
and effectively advanced the steady growth of the size of assets
under custody. Its business structure continued to optimize, and its
profitability was better than the industrial average. As at the end of
the reporting period, the size of assets under custody of the Bank
totaled RMB4.68 trillion, up by 5.52% over the prior year-end.

During the reporting period, the Bank closely followed market
focal points, and constantly achieved new breakthroughs in key
businesses. Over the year, the Bank had 51 newly-issued mutual
funds under custody, with the size totaling RMB78,472 million,
ranking high in the industry. The Bank successfully offered
custodian service to one of the first mixed valuation-based
mutual funds and to the first STOXX PSBC A-share ESG Index fund
in the market. Its insurance assets under custody had topped
RMB900 billion for the first time, totaling RMB923,320 million, an
increase of 31.16% over the prior year-end. Over the year, new
auto mortgage loan-backed securities products under custody
amounted to RMB66,996 million, representing 37.22% of the
market shares, ranking top in the industry.

During the reporting period, the Bank advanced the intensive
operation of the custody business in an orderly manner, focused
on the improvement of customer service, built the custody
operation center at the Head Office that integrates operation,
service and research, and completed the initial development of
the system for the intensive operation of the custody business.
The Bank stepped up technological empowerment, built five
major custody platforms, and comprehensively drove the
optimization of the custody operation process, the improvement
of customer experience and the implementation of new product
R&D. The Bank was honored the “2023 Golden Wisdom Award
- Outstanding Asset Custody Bank Award” by JRJ.com and the
“2023 Outstanding Asset Custody Institution Award” by China
Central Depository & Clearing Co., Ltd., with its industry influence
increasingly improved.



> Inclusive Finance

The balance of inclusive loans

to MSEs was RMB
trillion, representing nearly

% of the total loans to
customers.

The balance of agro-
related loans amounted to

RMB trillion, up by

RMB million
over the prior year-end, and
the increment hit a historical
high again.

The Bank won awards
including the

category of the
Global SME Finance Awards'.

Inclusive loans to MSEs Agro-related loans

(In RMB 100 million) (In RMB 100 million)
Increase over the Increase over the
prior year-end prior year-end
14,567.02 21,546.84
18,081.86
11,818.94 16,137.90
9,606.02
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The Bank thoroughly implemented the guiding principles of the Central
Financial Work Conference, intensified inclusive financial services in weak links,
built upon its resources endowment, developed a network advantage based
on “geographical, kinship and social relationships”, and forged a professional,
dedicated and attentive inclusive service team. Meanwhile, the Bank constantly
stepped up product and service innovation, deepened digital transformation,
effectively enhanced service coverage and availability, and achieved the
sustainable development of the inclusive finance business. As at the end of
the reporting period, the balance of inclusive loans to MSEs across the Bank
amounted to RMB1.46 trillion, and the balance of agro-related loans amounted
to RMB2.15 trillion, with both of their proportions to total loans ranking in the

forefront of major state-owned banks.

Rural Revitalization

The Bank resolutely implemented the country’s rural revitalization strategy,
and remained committed to its positioning of serving Sannong customers,
urban and rural residents, and SMEs. The Bank established and improved
organizational settings serving rural revitalization, set up an organizational
structure for specialized agricultural services, which consisted of the Leading
Group for Rural Revitalization, the Rural Revitalization and Inclusive Finance
Management Committee, and the Sannong Finance Business Department (the

Rural Revitalization Finance Department), and built the system supporting rural

The “Global SME Finance Awards” are granted at the SME Finance Forum, which was initiated by GPFI under the G20 framework.
Launched in 2018, the Awards was established to recognize the distinguished achievements of financial institutions and FinTech
companies in delivering innovative products and services to their SME clients, and popularize their experience and practice

worldwide.
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Business Overview

revitalization based on the collaboration between China Post Group and the Bank, between the Head Office and branches,
and between the parent Bank and subsidiaries. Centering on the digital, intensive and scenario-based transformation of
Sannong finance, the Bank effectively carried out the core projects of serving rural revitalization, increased credit supply
in key areas of rural revitalization, and worked to be the major force in serving rural revitalization. As at the end of the
reporting period, the balance of agro-related loans amounted to RMB2.15 trillion, an increase of RMB346,498 million over
the prior year-end, accounting for more than 25% of the total loans. The Bank served over 5 million customers through
agro-related loans. In 2023, the weighted average interest rate of newly granted agro-related loans was 4.76%, down by
27 bps compared with the prior year-end. The balance of personal micro loans was RMB1.39 trillion, up by RMB257,033
million, or 22.64%, over the prior year-end. More than 300,000 creditworthy villages were built, and over 10 million

creditworthy households were rated.

Focusing on the Key Areas of Rural Revitalization and Continuously Increasing the Credit Supply

Firstly, the Bank supported the steady production and supply of grains and important agricultural products. The Bank
deepened the cooperation with core entities like key grain enterprises, promoted innovative models for development
across the grain industrial chain, established approximately 400 cross-departmental chain-style marketing teams within
the Bank, pre-selected approximately 2,500 key persons, and actively provided integrated financial service packages to
upstream and downstream customers across the industrial chain with key persons as the breakthrough point. As at the
end of the reporting period, the Bank’s balance of loans to key areas related to grains was RMB148,143 million, an increase
of RMB52,724 million, or 55.26%, over the prior year-end.

Secondly, the Bank supported the building of countryside into a beautiful and harmonious place to live and work in.
Focusing on the construction of rural living infrastructures and the improvement of living environment, the Bank built the
ecosystem integrating counties and rural areas through multiple measures. The Bank advanced high-standard farmland
and cultivated land projects across regions, and provided various entities on the project chain with financial services
throughout the process of construction and operation. The Bank advanced the comprehensive development of protected
agriculture, provided service for agricultural infrastructure projects at the source, connected procurement, production and
sales, and provided project owners and their upstream and downstream customers with comprehensive financial services.
The Bank participated in the development of smart rural platforms including those for rural property rights trading,
management of rural collective funds, assets and resources, and management of new types of agribusinesses, and actively
promoted the building of digital countryside. As at the end of the reporting period, agriculture-related corporate loans
increased by 36.29% over the prior year-end.

Thirdly, the Bank helped consolidate and expand the gains of poverty alleviation. The Bank kept main financial
assistance policies generally stable, actively developed micro credit for the people lifted out of poverty, increased financial
support for the areas lifted out of poverty, particularly the key counties receiving assistance for rural revitalization,
and advanced the orderly connection of work related to targeted assistance. As at the end of the reporting period, the
balance of various loans granted by the Bank to the areas lifted out of poverty (832 counties lifted out of poverty) totaled
RMB494,658 million, an increase of RMB81,283 million over the prior year-end. The balance of various loans granted to 160
key counties receiving state assistance for rural revitalization amounted to RMB58,152 million, an increase of RMB10,253
million, or 21.41%, over the prior year-end.
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Efforts Made in Consolidating and Building on the Gains in Poverty Alleviation and Facilitating Rural

Revitalization
Item
Balance of various loans granted to areas lifted out of poverty RMB494,658 million
Growth of various loans granted to key counties 21.41%
receiving assistance for rural revitalization
Balance of loans for targeted financial assistance RMB158,926 million
Number of people benefiting from loans for 551,142

targeted financial assistance
Forms of assistance Targeted assistance to industries, targeted assistance to
projects, targeted assistance to individuals, etc.

Fourthly, the Bank supported the expansion of channels for increasing farmers’ income and achieving prosperity.
The Bank prioritized the setup of business outlets in the towns and townships without access to financial services and
the areas with insufficient financial services, and stepped up the promotion of mobile banking in county areas, with
the number of mobile banking users in county areas exceeding 200 million, thus ensuring the supply of basic financial
services in county areas. The Bank vigorously developed rural revitalization-themed debit cards and credit cards, enriched
card-related benefits and card issuance channels, strengthened the deployment of protection-oriented insurance
products, and launched products such as wealth management products benefiting farmers based on the characteristics
of rural customers, meeting the diverse financial demands of rural customers. The Bank advanced the further application
of mobile payment in counties and lower-tier areas. As at the end of the reporting period, 651 demonstration counties of
mobile payment services were established, and merchants in county-level areas accounted for 54.81% of the total across

the Bank, with the transaction amount exceeding RMB150 billion.
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Strengthening Innovation-Driven Development
and Advancing Inclusive Financial Services for
Rural Areas

Firstly, the Bank created innovative service models for
customer groups in specialty industries. Centering on the
specialty industries developed under the “One Industry in
One County and One Product from One Village” initiative,
the Bank actively combined online and digital channels,
promoted the “Industry Loan” model, tailored “1-to-1"
exclusive service solutions for the specialty industries,
and had credit lines, interest rates, repayment modes and
other elements of loans tailor-made based on the features
of the industries. As at the end of the reporting period,
the Bank had customized business solutions for over 300
specialty industries and over 400 business districts and
markets on a cumulative basis, and concluded industrial
chain cooperation with more than 80 core enterprises. The
balance of “Industry Loans” stood at RMB132,480 million, a

net increase of RMB113,120 million over the year.

Secondly, the Bank advanced proactive credit extension
among Sannong customers in an innovative manner.
The Bank leveraged big data technologies to analyze the
profile of existing rural customers, precisely identified the
customers with potential credit demands, and generated
the white list of proactive credit extension in batches. The
Bank created the omni-channel and multi-dimensional
Head Office direct customer operation system, reached
customers through text messages, pop-up advertisements
and intelligent outbound calls, constantly enhanced the
Head Office’s capabilities of direct customer operation
through aspects such as data tracking, service response,
and iteration of marketing response models, improved
customer service experience, and provided customers with
the speedy and considerate credit extension services. As at
the end of the reporting period, RMB142.1 billion of loans
under the Sannong proactive credit extension projects

were granted over the year, with the balance standing

Corporate Governance Financial Statements and Others

at RMB106,410 million and a net increase of RMB89,110

million over the year.

Thirdly, the Bank boosted the quality and efficiency of
building creditworthy villages. The Bank built a team of
more than 3,000 village-based customer managers, and
formed an “iron triangle” management team consisting
of customer relations managers, village-based customer
managers and risk specialists. The Bank optimized
the loan products and rating process for creditworthy
households, actively paid visits to the creditworthy
villages with universal credit extension, and innovatively
carried out pilot projects of digitally building creditworthy
households. Relying on online data and offline networks,
the Bank constantly advanced the in-depth development
of creditworthy villages, and provided integrated financial
services such as card opening, credit extension, wealth
management, and credit cards to rural customers in
batches. As at the end of the reporting period, micro loans
to creditworthy villages increased by over 20% compared

with the prior year-end.

Fourthly, the Bank upgraded the comprehensive service
system benefiting farmers. Focusing on the five major
customer groups of villages, cooperatives, farmers,
agricultural enterprises and rural supermarkets, the Bank
introduced innovation to the model of collaboration
between China Post Group and the Bank, fully explored
the diversified postal scenarios and existing customer
resources with big data technology, precisely reached
quality customers through collaboration, and provided
rural customers with services integrating finance, delivery
and e-commerce. The Bank gave play to the role of
YOU* BANK, created new models of credit services for
farmers, launched exclusive wealth management products
benefiting farmers, and vigorously explored the new
path of digitally serving Sannong customers. The Bank

deepened the cooperation with governments, enterprises,
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guarantee institutions and other external platforms, took
active part in the “through train to agribusiness loan”
promotion launched by the Ministry of Agriculture and
Rural Affairs, and ramped up support for ordinary rural
households, family farms and specialized large-scale
farmers. As at the end of the reporting period, the Bank
supported a total of nearly 400,000 agribusinesses by
the “through train to agribusiness loan” promotion, with
over RMB50 billion of credit granted and the loan balance
exceeding RMB17 billion.

Strengthening Professional Capacity Building and
Constantly Improving the Effectiveness of Sannong
Financial Services

Firstly, the Bank pushed forward the intensive
operation-oriented reform of Sannong finance. The
Bank integrated product systems and processes, unified
the interfaces for the operation of micro loans, and
streamlined online and offline handling processes. The
Bank advanced the centralization of review and approval,
initiated pilot projects of review and approval training
in rotation at the Head Office, intensified standardized
management of operations, and enhanced the professional
capability of the review and approval team, saving
60% of review and approval staff at the branches of
concentrated operations. The Bank popularized the
centralization of post-lending management, optimized
post-lending management rules and strategies, and
continuously improved the preciseness and effectiveness
of post-lending management. Leveraging remote videos,
intelligent outbound calls and other technologies, the
Bank increased the use of technology in post-lending
management, and improved the quality and effectiveness

of post-lending management.

Secondly, the Bank strengthened the capability of
preventing and controlling risks in Sannong finance.
Relying on a comprehensive risk management framework

featuring “all aspects, whole process, and entire staff’, the
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Bank analyzed the profile of non-performing customers,
extracted data for the early risk warning model, screened
high-risk businesses, conducted thorough risk screening
and business examination, and enhanced the capability
of proactive risk exposure. The Bank proactively carried
out risk mitigation, enforced the mandatory exit of
risky customers, and strengthened control over the
operational authority of key institutions and products
with regard to newly generated non-performing assets.
The Bank continuously carried out special rectifications of
intermediaries and non-compliant behaviors, intensified
monitoring over practitioner behaviors, implemented
the mechanism for managing the “black list” of customer
managers, strengthened the management of customer
manager appointment and removal, and stepped up case
prevention and compliance risk control. As at the end of
the reporting period, the NPL ratio of micro loans was

1.73%, which was kept generally stable.

Thirdly, we enhanced the team building of Sannong
customer managers. The Bank implemented a matrix
management of “role + hierarchy” and classified customer
managers into three groups, namely elite, core, and entry-
level customer managers. For elite and core customer
managers, the Bank carried out list-based management,
set up a rating system, and designed differentiated
authorization. The Bank formulated a team building
plan for customer managers, initiated the reform toward
centralized operation model by the customer manager
team, and strengthened the cultivation and management
of customer managers. The Bank implemented rigid
control over the appointment and removal of customer
managers, ensured that all customer managers are
certified before appointment and those unqualified are
removed in a timely manner. The Bank established a
mechanism to invite outstanding customer managers to
share their experience and kept strengthening the training

and capacity building of customer managers.
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= Column Exploring the Building of a New Model for Integrated Sannong Financial Services and Helping
= Stabilize the Basic Fundamentals of Agriculture

The Bank made integrated financial services both the starting point and objective of the efforts to implement the
philosophy of centering on customers. The Bank strengthened the collaboration among business lines, integrated
resources to the greatest extent, provided agro-related customers with integrated services in all aspects, and
worked to meet the current and potential financial demands of agro-related customers. In Anhui, a major producer
of wheat and rice in Jiang-Huai region (between the Yangtze River and the Huai River), the Bank’s Anhui Branch
actively catered to the needs arising from the development of local agricultural economy, pursued innovation
while upholding fundamental principles, built the integrated marketing model for the grain industry chain based
on a “chain chief mechanism”, supported the steady production and supply of grains and helped stabilize the basic
fundamentals of agriculture.

Firstly, the branch targeted the core customers of grain trade in the region, and set up exclusive teams headed
by “chain chiefs”. It looked through the list of local brokers, quickly identified core entities, designated a “chain chief”
in charge of each industrial chain, and allocated cross-functional service teams familiar with the rural market for
the “chain chiefs”. Based on local reality, the branch tailored integrated service solutions for core entities and their
upstream and downstream customers, and established a multi-dimensional financial product package ecosystem
covering personal settlement, personal loans, wealth management, corporate settlement, enterprise WeChat, mobile
(corporate) banking, quick card binding, and acquiring by scanning QR code, etc.

Secondly, the branch held on-site matchmaking meetings and arranged doorstep services by “chain chiefs”.
Centering on core entities, it organized on-site matchmaking meetings for industrial chains, promoted integrated
financial service solutions to core entities and their upstream and downstream customers in a centralized manner,
and offered credit extension, card opening and mobile banking registration services for the customers at the site.
For the customers demanding higher credit lines, the branch arranged “chain chiefs” to conduct credit investigation
at their doorstep.

Thirdly, the branch provided exclusive benefits and improved customer satisfaction with services. The branch
tailored preferential credit policies for core entities, and formulated credit extension solutions by layers and
categories based on the grain trading records and funding statements between core entities and the small- and
medium-sized brokers and planting farmers on the chains. Meanwhile, targeting the characteristics of the grain
industrial chain, such as frequent fund flows, demand for flexible subscription and redemption and relatively low
threshold in subscription, the branch provided cash management products for farmers based on local conditions,
matched exclusive benefits, and promoted the expansion of wealth owned by the customers across the grain
industrial chain. As at the end of the reporting period, the Anhui Branch of the Bank set up more than 200 teams
headed by “chain chiefs”, serving over 700 core entities on the grain industrial chain, and granting more than
RMB13.6 billion of micro loans to customer groups of the grain industry.

Targeting the core customers of grain trade
in the region, and setting up exclusive teams
headed by “chain chiefs”

Matching exclusive benefits
and improving customer
satisfaction with services

Green world
better life
L2
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Promoting Industrial Revitalization Through Three Major Distinctive Financial Service Models

Industrial revitalization is fundamental and critical to comprehensively advancing rural revitalization. The key to
giving full play to the role of finance in helping make rural speciality industries stronger is to identify the trends and
needs of specialty industries based on their actual development, and provide them with differentiated, refined and
exclusive financial services. The Bank made industrial revitalization a major focus of serving rural revitalization, further
integrated the service networks expanded into lower-tier areas with the rural speciality industries that are “small but
with excellent quality” and “distinct and superb”, explored and built three highly distinctive financial service models for
rural industries based on local conditions, and promoted the high-quality development of rural speciality industries. As
at the end of the reporting period, the Bank granted RMB202,892 million of “Industry Loans”on a cumulative basis, with
the balance standing at RMB132,480 million and a net increase of RMB113,120 million over the year.

Pushing the Upgrade of the Agricultural
Industrial Chain Through “Chain-style
Services”

The Bank promoted the chain-style service model targeting
the whole agricultural industry chain, deepened the
cooperation with leading agricultural enterprises, set
up exclusive service teams, integrated financial services,
provided upstream and downstream customers across the
agricultural industry chain with differentiated financial
services through precise connection and chain-based
services, and promoted the modernization and upgrade
of the agricultural industry chain. In Sichuan, the Bank
collaborated with a state-level key leading agricultural
industrialization enterprise with presence across the
industrial chain from feedstuff supply to livestock and
poultry breeding and food processing, and launched the
innovative “Feedstuff Industry Loan” for downstream
customers. Based on the introduced data about the
feedstuff industry, the Bank flexibly adjusted risk control
rules, enabled automatic review and approval and fast lean
disbursement, and effectively improved the efficiency
financial services for customers across the industrial chain.
As at the end of the reporting period, the Bank provided
RMB1,422 million in credit support to the downstream
farmers and distributors of leading enterprises.

Precise Connection and
Chain-based Services
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Developing Integrated Service Solutions for Rural Speciality Industries Through
Collaboration with China Post Group

Further leveraging China Post Group’s “four-in-one” diversified resource advantages in integrating flows of business, goods, funds,
and information, the Bank, with a focus on 100 key industries including fruit & vegetable, tea leaves and mushrooms, etc., actively
developed integrated service solutions, provided services integrating delivery, e-commerce and finance, and solved the problems
related to financing, sales and logistics for specialty industries. In Lishu County, Jilin, the Bank collaborated with China Post Group,
actively paid visits to farmer cooperatives, leading agricultural enterprises and other customer groups in the industry, and promoted
the development of three industries, i.e., field planting, greenhouse vegetable growing and beef cattle breeding. As at the end of the
reporting period, the Bank served 146.5 thousand customers in the grain industry, nearly 15,000 customers in the beef cattle industry,
and 8,956 customers in the greenhouse vegetable industry, granted over RMB650 million in loans over the year, and drove the sales of
agricultural products worth over RMB140 million.

hEmn Community
CHINAPOST  Service

Supporting the Clustering Development of Rural Speciality Industries
Through the “One Cluster, One Policy” Model

The Bank vigorously carried out the initiative to promote specialty industries. Based on actual industrial development,
the Bank tailored “1-to-1" service solutions for more than 300 specialty industrial clusters nationwide, had credit lines,
interest rates, repayment modes and other elements of loans tailor-made for them, built the “One Cluster, One Policy”
model serving specialty industries, and customized financial services for rural speciality industries. Meanwhile, the Bank
improved the “PSBC E Chain” service platform, incorporated financial services into more scenarios of agricultural and rural
production and life, introduced scenario-based data resources, established the digital risk control system, and advanced
the transition of financial services from online operation to automatic supply. In Shandong, the Bank conducted several
special investigations into the specialty industry of pomegranate growing in Yicheng District, Zaozhuang City, and
launched the innovative “Pomegranate Industry Loan’, which, based on industrial characteristics and the customer fund
use cycle, extended the longest term of a single loan for the purchase of pomegranate seedlings to 36 months, raised the
credit line to RMB3 million at the highest, and effectively solved the problems facing pomegranate farmers like demand for
huge loans at specific stages, lack of mortgage and guarantee, and difficulty in accessing traditional credit. Also, the Bank
built creditworthy villages dedicated to pomegranate growing, further developed the “Guanshi Pomegranate Orchard’,
and empowered rural households in pursuing a better life. As at the end of the reporting period, the Bank granted nearly
RMB20 million of loans over the year, accounting for 21.17% of the market shares.

—
Green world
better life
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Microfinance

SMEs are market entities that are most dynamic and
biggest in number in China, and they are the driving
force behind China’s economic and social development.
Dedicated to serving micro and small-sized enterprises,
the Bank kept moving the focus of services to lower-
tiered areas, stepped up product and service innovation,
deepened digital transformation, further improved the 5D
(Digital) system’, solved the problems facing microfinance
in terms of marketing, products, risk control, operation
and services by digital means, and accelerated the

building of the differentiated growth pole of microfinance.

SME FINANCE
FORUM

SME Finance Forum
proudly presents

Postal Savings Bank of China Co., Ltd.

witha

SILVER AWARD

in the

SME FINANCIER OF THE YEAR - ASIA

category of the Global SME Finance Awards competition 2023

M=,

Matthew Gamser

On behaif of the SME Finance Forum
I September 1372023

Damar Saleern

As at the end of the reporting period, the balance
of inclusive loans to MSEs stood at RMB1.46 trillion,
accounting for nearly 18% of the total loans to customers,
readily ranking in the forefront among major state-owned
banks. The number of customers with loan balance was
2,165.4 thousand, a net increase of 231 thousand over the
prior year-end. The Bank granted inclusive loans to MSEs
at an average interest rate of 4.61% in the year, a year-
on-year decrease of 24 bps. The Bank was honored the
Silver Award of the SME Financier of the Year - Asia and
the Honorable Mention for Product Innovation of the Year,

two sub-awards of the Global SME Finance Awards.

SME FINANCE
FORUM

SME Finance Forum
proudly presents

Postal Savings Bank of China Co., Ltd
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I September 137 2025

The Bank was honored “Silver Award of the SME Financier of the Year - Asia” and “Honorable Mention for Product Innovation of the Year”, two sub-awards of

the “Global SME Finance Awards”.

Expanding Customer Reach Channels and Improving
Service Coverage

The Bank continued to improve the multi-dimensional
service system across online, remote and offline channels.
Based on corporate mobile banking, which served as
the main channel of microfinance services, the Bank
vigorously popularized H5 light tools for the on-ground

marketing of “Easy Small and Micro Loan”, and further

outlets, extensively adopted digital tools such as inclusive
marketing maps and panoramic inclusive business views,
further strengthened the services for MSEs, and constantly
expanded the scope of services for MSEs. As at the end
of the reporting period, the Bank had made inclusive
financial services available at all the directly-operated
outlets, and designated nearly 10 thousand inclusive

service representatives at over 95% of its directly-operated

expanded the scope of customer reach by remote outlets.

banking. Since April 2023, the Bank has designated

inclusive service representatives in directly-operated

1 The 5D (Digital) systems for microfinance, i.e., digital marketing system, digital product system, digital risk control system, digital

operation model, and digital service method.
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Enriching the Supply of Comprehensive Products
and Enhancing Service Accessibility

Focusing on areas like sci-tech innovation and industrial
chains, the Bank continued to improve exclusive loan
products. Targeting tech enterprises that feature light
assets, heavy input and long cycles, the Bank strengthened
the application of innovation points, intellectual property
and other data in the loan products for tech enterprises,
and promoted fixed asset loans for sci-tech innovation.
Based on the development of decentralized industrial
chains, the Bank expanded trading scenarios for multiple
industrial chains of healthcare, electronics, infrastructure
construction, cement, among others, and collaborated
with nearly 60 core enterprises and technology platforms,
thus providing targeted services to upstream and
downstream MSEs. Deepening the concept about acting
as a lead bank, the Bank provided integrated services for
customers through settlement, bill, L/C and L/G products;
innovatively built “PSBC Facilitates Corporate Operation”,
a corporate financial cloud platform; provided SMEs with
services in operation and management scenarios that
cover personnel, properties, materials, production, supply

and sales; and helped SMEs boost digital management.

Upgrading Operation Processes and Improving
Service Convenience

The Bank comprehensively streamlined business
processes, launched the automatic credit re-examination
and approval strategy based on expert experience and
data analysis, and constantly improved the level of
automation for analysis, reporting, re-examination and
other processes. The Bank innovatively launched the fully
automated service “E Bill Connect’, which integrated the
process of the application for issuing banker’s acceptance
bills, request for acceptance, receipt notification, review
and approval, approval for disbursement, as well as
features such as automatic opening of margin accounts
and online signing of acceptance agreements, and
realized “one-click operation and instant bill issuance” for

uncovered acceptance and low-risk acceptance.
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Strengthening Intelligent Risk Control Throughout
the Whole Process and Enhancing Sustainable
Development

The Bank advanced the building of an intelligent risk
control system throughout the whole process that
covers digital customer profiles, model rules, risk control
strategies and automatic early warning, continued to
improve intelligent risk control strategies, and improved
customer access and draw-down strategies through
re-examination of customers in default. The Bank
comprehensively popularized intelligent risk control
tools like digital customer profiles, intelligent analysis
of statements, and multi-dimensional risk control
monitoring, effectively boosted risk identification and
monitoring capabilities, and brought the NPL ratio of
inclusive loans to MSEs down by 0.07 percentage point

over the prior year-end.
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Delving into Sub-sectors and Accelerating Planning of Industrial Finance

With a focus on scenarios of industrial digital finance, the Bank leveraged
signature products like “Industry E Loan” and “Platform E Loan” as part of the ‘ ‘
“Easy Small and Micro Loan” product series, and accelerated the expansion
of services to cover more MSEs on industrial chains. It supported multiple Frozen

: ) : - Lo . food Industry\
business models including localization operation, intra-bank syndicated / E Loan \

operation, and fully online operations to serve customers nationwide from a | Platf H
\ atform

single point, realized the four-in-one integration of flows of business, funds, E Loan
goods, and information for industrial finance scenarios by using technological /

means like blockchain, 10T, big data and Al, and provided MSEs with high-
quality and online industrial finance services. As at the end of the reporting

period, relying on online “Easy Small and Micro Loan” products, the Bank had

Fast-moving
consumer
goods

cooperated with nearly 60 core enterprises, which covered multiple sub-sectors including healthcare, electronics,
infrastructure construction, cement, chemicals, liquor, fast-moving consumer goods, and frozen food.

Built on big data, blockchain, 1oT and other technologies, the “Industry E Loan” leveraged the procurement and sales
data of core enterprises on industrial chains and data within the Bank, precisely depicted the operational behaviors
of the MSEs across industrial chains, and provided customized online credit products and services. To address the
demand for bill financing across industrial chains, the Bank actively collaborated with industrial finance platforms
and launched “Platform E Loan’, provided MSEs with full-process online pledge credit service, created a series of

automatic service processes including “one-stop service”, “one-click pledge’, “automatic clearing and repayment’, etc.

Data of flows of business,
funds, goods, and information

L. . across industrial chains
Providing credit Providing credit

and loan and loan

disbursement disbursement
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Launching “PSBC Facilitates Corporate Operation’, an Innovative One-Stop Digital Management
Platform for Enterprises

:= Column

The Bank thoroughly implemented the plan for building a digital China, and created innovative services and
implementation models. Targeting at the operations and management of SMEs, it launched “PSBC Facilitates Corporate
Operation”, a platform integrating scenarios and finance and serving the digital transformation of enterprises. Since its
launch in November 2023, the platform had served nearly 3,000 enterprises on a cumulative basis.

To address the problems facing some SMEs, such as single means of management, difficulty in data exchange due
to low degree of informatization, considerable labor input, and weak security protection, “PSBC Facilitates Corporate
Operation” coordinated supply of resources, leveraged FinTech, and provided applications for six major scenarios,
including fiscal and tax management, salary management, purchase, sales and inventory management, invoice
management, expense control and reimbursement management, and office management, as well as one-stop digital
solution support. To further boost user experience, the platform enabled unperceivable linkage between various
scenarios and financial services like account management, settlement and agency distribution, credit line evaluation
and loan application, offered intelligent services like one-click tax declaration, intelligent invoice collection, online
invoice issuance and customized review and approval, and delivered SME customers with a sense of happiness
empowered by technology and a sense of financial gains.

Next, “PSBC Facilitates Corporate Operation” will unswervingly put into practice the philosophy of centering on
customers, start from the perspectives of enterprises’ pain points, industrial demands and customer experience,
focus on digitalization, continuously create new financial service models for ecosystems, and build itself into a major
brand offering SME customers with differentiated services.

——

PSBC FACILITATES
CORPORATE OPERATION

A DNE-STOP DIGITAL MANAGEMENT —
PLATFORM FOR ENTERPRISES preciitainal

management

Facilitating
operation

“PSBC Facilitates Corporate Operation” is a “scenario + finance” integrated cloud platform
targeting enterprise management process, empowered by FinTech, based on integrated
services and openness, and serving the digital transformation of enterprises.

Digital
transformation
of enterprises

N
One-stop enterprise management
N S N . I L Facilitating invoice
The platform provides applications for six major scenarios, including fiscal management
and tax management, salary management, purchase, sales and inventory/ Facilitating
l office

invoice mar expense control and reimbursement
and office Itis connected to financial services
to improve the efficiency of enterprise management and operation.

%rprise o’

Integrated service experience

No installation, maintenance or upgrade is required for scenario applications,

| and unperceivable switch of services among multiple scenarios and uniform Facilitating salary
operating experience are enabled through connection of features and management

sharing of data across platforms.

Facilitating
q expense control

Mobile and intelligent office

v Boosting efficiency v Lowering cost and v Meeting the demand for

In companies, at homes or on the go, employees can access the
platform via mobile phones or computers at any time of a day.

Financial-level data security
It strictly protects business data, adopts domestic information
innovation security standards, with privacy protection in an all-round

increasing efficiency information-based managementin an
all-round way

way. r 1
Multi-dimensional service guarantee
-

Relying on PSBC's service networks covering urban and rural areas,
it provides enterprises with online and offline services that integrate

scenarios with finance. Scan to learn more about the “PSBC Facilitates

Corporate Operation” business

Green world,
be}ter life



> Majority-Owned Subsidiaries

The Bank has three majority-owned subsidiaries, namely
YOU* BANK, PSBC Wealth Management and PSBC
Consumer Finance. During the reporting period, the
Bank made constant efforts in strengthening the overall
management and control of the three majority-owned
subsidiaries in terms of corporate governance, financial
management, capital management and risk management.
In line with the overall strategy of PSBC, the three
majority-owned subsidiaries fully leveraged their license
advantages, actively explored differentiated development
paths, advanced business transformation and upgrading,

and realized sound development momentum overall.
N -—
& BERRRT

YOU* BANK was established on January 7, 2022, with a
registered capital of RMB5.0 billion, in which the Bank
holds a 100% stake. Its business scope is: absorbing
deposits from the public, individuals and MSEs mainly;
providing short, medium and long-term loans mainly to
individuals and MSEs; domestic and foreign settlement
through electronic channels; electronic bill acceptance
and discount; issuing financial bonds; buying and selling
government bonds and financial bonds; interbank
lending; buying and selling foreign exchange by itself or
as an agent; bank card business; agency collection and
payment of funds and bancassurance; other businesses
approved by the banking regulatory authority of the State
Council. As at the end of the reporting period, YOU* BANK
had total assets of RMB14,986 million and net assets of
RMB4,574 million. During the reporting period, it realized
operating income of RMB355 million and recorded a net
loss of RMB263 million.

In 2023, YOU* BANK continued to serve the overall
development of the country, stayed committed to
serving rural revitalization and the real economy, and
continued to explore new models for the development
of digital inclusive finance. It upheld and strengthened
Party leadership and continued to improve the quality
and efficiency of corporate governance. It focused on the

building of basic capabilities and improved standardized
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and refined management. It leveraged shareholder
resources and deepened collaborative development. As at
the end of the reporting period, YOU* BANK had 20,558.2
thousand registered users accumulatively, and AUM of

RMB28,983 million on a cumulative basis.

It served the real economy and expanded scenarios
in industrial finance. Focusing on the financing needs
of MSMEs in the upstream and downstream of core
enterprises, YOU* BANK promoted digital supply chain
finance business and increased the accessibility of
financial services for MSEs. Centering on big-ticket
consumption industries relating to clothing, food, housing
and transportation, it explored cooperation for green
finance fields such as agriculture, green home appliances
and new energy, and carried out business cooperation
with 20 high-quality leading platforms in the fields
of agriculture, food processing, dairy products, smart
home appliances, new energy, consumer electronics,
etc. Additionally, relying on digital and intelligent risk
control system, it provided convenient and inclusive
credit products for new urban residents such as farmers,
flexibly employed personnel at county-level areas and
self-employed individuals. As at the end of the reporting
period, YOU* BANK served 173 thousand micro and small-
sized customers on a cumulative basis, and the number of
customers at county-level areas or in administrative regions

below county level accounted for 49.3% of the total.

It focused on long-tail customers and enriched mass wealth
products. It adhered to a differentiated development
approach, relied on an open account system and product
system and built a one-stop wealth product platform. It
selected stable and low-volatility wealth management
products from customers’ perspective, enriched products
portfolio including Coin Pocket, Weekly Wealth, Seasonal
Wealth and Annual Wealth, built an online operation and
service system centered around customer lifecycle, and
continued to improve online operation capability. As at
the end of the reporting period, agency sales of wealth
management products of YOU* BANK totaled RMB19,254

million.
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It centered on rural revitalization and deepened
collaborative development model. YOU* BANK
proactively collaborated with China Post Group in
systematically promoting rural revitalization through
financial services, carried out customer mining and data
analysis for customer groups including administrative
villages, farmers’ cooperatives, family farms and large
farming households, agricultural enterprises as well
as rural supermarkets, and explored collaboration
and cooperation with the focus on express delivery
customer groups, commerce and trade customer groups,
industrial chain customer groups and agricultural product
procurement scenarios. Digital services for rural areas
were gradually improving, with an expanding coverage.
Customized functions such as agricultural product trading,
agro-related loans, and wealth management that benefit

the farmers were launched.

It doubled efforts to prevent and mitigate risks and
enhanced risk management capability. It continued
to improve risk management system, and gradually
refined risk monitoring and reporting mechanisms. It
strengthened the building of full-process risk control
strategies in pre-lending, lending and post-lending
stages, established a strategy iteration mechanism
and advanced the standardized and modular strategy
capacity building. In addition, it strengthened internal
control and compliance building, upheld the principles
of check-and-balance and prudence, guided employees
bank-wide to firmly establish a sound, prudent, law-biding
and rule-based operation philosophy and kept enhancing
money laundering risk prevention and control capability.
It further intensified the management of key aspects of
consumer rights protection and improved the quality
and effectiveness of complaint handling. It fully put in
place regulatory requirements and continued to promote
the building of standardized policies, process and other

aspects.

Corporate Governance Financial Statements and Others

It cultivated technological capabilities and supported the
development of digital finance. It continued to improve
agile development capability, reducing the average
delivery cycle of requirements by nearly 40% compared
with the previous year. YOU* BANK achieved independent
controllability of application systems such as mobile
banking, credit reporting and anti-fraud. Furthermore,
YOU* BANK explored the establishment of data
governance system. It continued to optimize information
security management, intensified IT risk prevention and
control, and ensured secure and smooth operation of

business systems.

In the next step, YOU* BANK will fully implement
the guiding principles of the Central Financial Work
Conference, focus on the development of inclusive finance
and digital finance, and give play to its comprehensive
service and fully digital advantages. It will persist with
the market-oriented and
specialized development
path, strengthen systemic
empowerment of financial
technology, improve
operational quality and
efficiency, and proactively fulfill
its mission of “serving Sannong
customers, facilitating micro
and small-sized businesses,

and delivering benefits to the The brand IP image of YOU* BANK

general public”.
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PSBC WEALTH MANAGEMENT

PSBC Wealth Management was established on December 18,
2019, with a registered capital of RMB8.0 billion, in which
the Bank holds a 100% stake. Its business scope is: public
issuance of wealth management products to the general
public, investment and management of entrusted assets
for investors; non-public issuance of wealth management
products to eligible investors, investment and
management of entrusted assets for investors; financial
advisory and consulting services, etc. As at the end of the
reporting period, PSBC Wealth Management had total
assets of RMB13,010 million and net assets of RMB12,569
million. During the reporting period, it realized operating
income of RMB1,417 million and recorded a net profit of
RMB841 million.

The year 2023 marked the beginning of the full
implementation of the guiding principles of the 20th
CPC National Congress on all fronts, and was also the
second year of the all-round implementation of the new
rules on asset management. PSBC Wealth Management
remained firmly committed to balanced development
of scale, quality and profitability, aimed at fostering
core competitiveness, deepened investment analysis,
marketing, internal control, operational reforms and
digital transformation, and continued to improve the rule-
based, specialized and market-oriented development of

wealth management business.

It focused on refined management and increased the
product competitiveness. Firstly, its products had
distinctive characteristics of stability with low volatility.
Fixed income products ranked among the top in the
industry in terms of annualized yield. 96.00% of newly
issued close-end products reached benchmark, and
products such as Heng Li, Anxin Investment and Anyi
Investment had received good reputation. A number of
pure fixed-income products, “fixed income+" products and
cash management products were on lists of influential

media including 21st Century Business Herald and Lianhe
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Zhiping. Secondly, PSBC Wealth Management took the
lead in launching a number of innovative products in the
industry. The total amount of return swaps, credit risk
mitigation tools, target data indexes and other products
exceeded RMB10 billion. It advanced the development
of full-range product system of “inclusive finance +
wealth management + pension”. Thirdly, it optimized
asset structure and increased allocation of assets with
stable valuation. Assets like cash and deposits accounted
for 39.81% of total assets, an increase of 22 percentage
points compared with the prior year-end. It strengthened
credit exploration. Non-financial credit bonds accounted
for 52.44% of total bond investments, an increase of 15
percentage points compared with the prior year-end,
effectively supporting the real economy and improving

product returns.

It put customer needs first and enhanced the quality and
efficiency of services. Firstly, the number of customers
increased steadily. PSBC and agency channels served
11,353.9 thousand retail customers on a cumulative
basis, up by 1,585.9 thousand over the year, or an
annual increase of 16.24%. PSBC Wealth Management
expanded direct marketing to institutions, and the
number of institutional customers reached 19,576, up by
9,927 over the year, or an annual increase of 102.89%.
Secondly, it continued to improve customer experience.
The combination of functional products Daily Profit
performed well in customer acquisition, with its scale
exceeding RMB120 billion. Thirdly, it provided more
targeted services. It developed exclusive products for
premium customer groups such as payroll customers and
teachers as well as regional-specific products, created a
product brand effect, and supported pension finance. It
was among the first list of institutions to conduct personal
pension business and took the lead in launching three
personal pension products. Fourthly, more breakthroughs
were made in third-party agency sales. It signed contracts

with 26 third-party agents of different channels,



Overview

Business Overview

fully covering major state-owned banks, small and
medium-sized banks and internet banks. The scale of
agency sales increased by over RMB60 billion annually,
which was at the top among wealth management
subsidiaries of state-owned banks in terms of incremental

growth.

With rule-based management as its core, it strove to
build a high-standard risk control and compliance system.
Firstly, adhering to the ideas of “all aspects, whole
process, entire staff” and “balancing risk and reward”, it
deepened the comprehensive risk management system.
It strengthened the investment risk management system
with wealth management products at its core, established
a dual-warning system to intensify the risk monitoring
and examination of key areas, identified and handled
credit risks in advance, and ensured product security.
By developing a radar model, it realized accurate and
forward-looking stress test, scientifically measured market
risks and liquidity risks, refined asset risk pressure factors
and liquidity coefficients, and consistently maintained
a zero non-performing asset ratio. Secondly, it put
in place the concept of “compliance by all staff” and
established a high-standard internal control system.
It comprehensively implemented new regulations on
internal control in wealth management companies,
continued to optimize the compliance management
framework and formed an operating mode of compliance
management that covers the full process (ex ante, interim
and ex post). It served as director organization of the
Wealth Management Committee of the China Banking
Association and participated in the formulation of industry
legal system and compliance standards as well as industry
self-discipline research in the wealth management
industry, thus improving the high-quality development of
the industry.

Corporate Governance Financial Statements and Others

It focused on stability, efficiency and intensiveness and
strengthened IT-empowered operation. Firstly, PSBC Wealth
Management conducted centralized trading across the
board. Its regular scale of financing was RMB50-60 billion,
and it ranked at the forefront among asset management
institutions in terms of trading volume for the third straight
year. Secondly, it established and improved the operation
institutional systems including valuation management,
clearing management, account management, as well
as supervision and reporting and continued to increase
operational quality and efficiency. Thirdly, guided by
IT development plan featuring digital and intelligent
integration, it advanced “digital wealth management” in all
aspects. It put into operation the centralized trading system,
credit rating system and comprehensive risk management

system, established a

big data platform and
a data portal, actively ‘ ‘
realized empowerment through < @ 6\\ /

technology in expanding sales e
channels, stabilizing operating A\ 4
results and improving efficiency s \
of investment analysis, and " Y
accelerated the building of the

“second curve of digitalization
The brand IP image of PSBC Wealth

and intelligent development”  .nagement
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PSBC CONSUMER FINANCE CO.,LTD.
PSBC Consumer Finance was established on November 19,
2015, with a registered capital of RMB3.0 billion, in which
the Bank holds a 70.50% stake. Its business scope is:
granting personal consumer loans; accepting deposits
from shareholders’ domestic subsidiaries and domestic
shareholders; borrowing from domestic financial
institutions; issuing financial bonds upon approval;
domestic interbank funding; advisory and agency services
related to consumer finance; agency sales of insurance
products related to consumer finance; investment in fixed
income securities; asset securitization business; other
businesses approved by banking regulators. As at the end
of the reporting period, PSBC Consumer Finance had total
assets of RMB58,222 million and net assets of RMB5,909
million. During the reporting period, it realized operating
income of RMB6,952 million and recorded a net profit of
RMB522 million.

It actively fulfilled its social responsibilities. During the
reporting period, PSBC Consumer Finance continued to
lower product interest rates, and the comprehensive loan
pricing fell by 0.73 percentage point from a year ago. With
such efforts, it further implemented the inclusive finance
policies and improved the accessibility of consumer
finance. In 2023, it proactively responded to the call of
the state, strengthened the idea of responsible credit, and
showed its sense of responsibility as a financial institution.
It provided 45 thousand customers with special interest
and fee reduction, repayment deferral, loan extension,
credit support program and mediation service, among
which, a total of RMB174 million of interest and fees were
reduced or exempted for customers. In 2023, it produced
and released 93 short videos with the theme of consumer
protection and anti-fraud publicity, etc. As at the end

of the reporting period, its Douyin account collected
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1,451.2 thousand likes accumulatively and 267 thousand
followers; and its WeChatVideo account collected
302.1 thousand likes accumulatively and 82.5 thousand
followers. According to the latest regulatory requirements,
it further optimized the building of institutions and
mechanisms for protecting consumer rights, drew up
comprehensive complaint management work plan, and
formed a complete closed loop for consumer protection
that involves prevention, in-process management and
control and retrospective management. It promoted the
optimization of 130 processes, thus providing better
protection of legitimate rights and interests of consumers.
In addition, PSBC Consumer Finance vigorously advocated
and implemented low-carbon development, and
realized paperless and intelligent green financial services
throughout the entire process by adopting FinTech.
Through digital transformation, it improved the level
of consumer financial protection for rural residents and
delivered credit services to extensive and remote rural
areas, thus consolidating the gains in poverty alleviation

and contributing to the realization of common prosperity.

It continued to pursue high-quality development. Adhering
to strategic goals, PSBC Consumer Finance promoted high-
quality development and achieved its business objectives.
Firstly, it strengthened the development of proprietary
business and scaled up resource input. With such efforts,
proprietary business became an important growth driver
for business. Secondly, it focused on high-value customers
and intensified the research of customer groups. It
refined operation mode and risk control mode and
improved customer experience and customer acquisition
capability. Thirdly, it took active measures to promote
digital transformation, empowered business development

and management improvement, and expanded the
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gains from transformation. In addition, PSBC Consumer
Finance proactively responded to the call from related
authorities to increase financial support to key areas of
new consumption and advanced consumption growth in
these areas. In 2023, with the recovery of consumption
market, it gave priority to sectors such as tourism, fast-
moving consumer goods, entertainment and services,
developed related scenarios and platforms, and strived
to provide customers with more thoughtful, personalized

scenario-based consumer financial services.

It continuously improved the risk management system.
Firstly, PSBC Consumer Finance tracked changes in internal
and external environment, enhanced forward-looking
risk management capability, and improved its capability
to prevent credit risks and fraud risks. Secondly, it kept
refining the risk strategy system. It optimized the risk
control rules, promoted access and credit granting
strategies tailored to each city according to their conditions
and improved refined management for credit limits. Thirdly,
it improved the effectiveness of risk modeling. It introduced
external data sources, added derived variables in the
models, which effectively improved its risk identification
capability. In March 2023, PSBC Consumer Finance carried
out the first NPL transfer by a consumer finance company
in the country. In doing so, it not only enriched the
tools for non-performing asset disposal, but also further
consolidated asset quality and slowed the increase of

allowance.

It promoted digital transformation on all fronts. With the
strategic objective of “technology first’, PSBC Consumer
Finance set out the vision for digitalization of “data-driven,
intelligent decision-making, connecting ecosystem, and
ultimately achieving intelligent ecologicalization”. It
empowered business development through automation

and intelligent measures, thus enabling inclusive finance

Corporate Governance Financial Statements and Others

to cover a wider range of consumer groups. Firstly, it
continued to improve products and services. Upholding
the customer-centric philosophy, it reshaped the
end-to-end customer journey with digital means and
improved customer experience throughout the process
of credit services that involves product introduction,
registration and real-name application, withdrawal and
repayment. Secondly, it cemented data basis, reinforced
data infrastructure and expanded data ecosystem.
It developed comprehensive customer portraits and
made a push for the all-round business development
with data. Thirdly, it increased innovation application. It
established Al middle-office and improved Al-empowered
services on all fronts. It accelerated the application of
new technologies such as large-scale modeling and
biometric recognition in consumer finance scenarios
and achieved breakthroughs in business innovations
with IT empowerment. Fourthly, it strengthened
information security management to ensure the stable
operation of systems, fostered application-level disaster
recovery capability and ensured the business continuity.
It obtained the 1SO27001 certification of Information
Security Management
System (ISMS) and was
recognized as a national
high-tech enterprise.
During the reporting

period, it achieved the

goal of “zero incidents”

in network security.

The brand IP image of PSBC Consumer
Finance




1 >
L . q a
F
" " P L] L
L 3
W " s
L} L
2
. 2
i ’
» »
)
. -
»
L
. ’
L]
L
L]
Py wr
4
"
N .
» 9
.
L
”
»
3
»
. »
L]
L,
(] "
o
"
k- »
= ~
- i
i« '- ¥

Summer - Zhanqgiao Pier - Qingdao



v -

= - Discussion and
Analysis (continued)

Capability Building. ................ ... ..., Z

Risk Management.....................co.... 124

Capital Management........................ 151




Capability Building

» Financial Technology 94
> Channel Development 106
> Human Resources and Institution Management 118

> Financial Technology

IT investment amounted to
RMB1 1 ,278 million,

representing a year-on-year
increase of 5 .88%

and accounting for 3 .29% of
the Bank’s operating income.

- The project of developing a
distributed core system for

large-sized banks based on
business modeling won the
first place of first prize of
FinTech Development Award
of PBC.

IT Investment

(in RMB100 million) Year-on-year
5.88%
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Following the “5 plus 1” strategic path, the Bank worked to build digital and
intelligent advantage in all aspects to secure its future, accelerated digital
transformation by leveraging new quality productive forces and facilitated
PSBC's contribution to the major initiative of developing digital finance. During
the reporting period, the Bank’s IT investment amounted to RMB11,278 million,
representing a year-on-year increase of 5.88% and accounting for 3.29% of its

operating income.

Building Digital and Intelligent Advantages in All Aspects

With the aim of empowering high-quality development through FinTech, the
Bank firmly upheld the customer-centric philosophy, facilitated business process
reengineering and product innovation, and continued to deepen the innovative
application of FinTech. It strengthened new technology-driven capabilities,
actively explored the application of cutting-edge technologies and went all out

to accelerate the development of a digital ecosystem bank.

Harvesting Results of Empowering Business Development

In terms of personal banking, the mobile banking App 9.0 was launched, which
was a “one-stop comprehensive services platform” and a “portable interactive
companion platform”. Based on rural credit information and data system, the
Bank actively explored and innovated rural financial service models, allowing
farmers to easily apply for loans, use funds, and make repayments at any time
via mobile banking. During the reporting period, online micro loan accounted
for more than 95% of all micro loans. By using big data technologies, the Bank
transformed its credit extension from “passive” to “proactive” and provided

"

customers with online “instant approval and instant disbursement” services.
Asset quality was better than that of total assets, with NPL ratio lower than
0.5%. CRM platform facilitated the provision of targeted and efficient services to
customers. It served 649 million customers, provided account management to
472 million customers, and launched 40.4 thousand marketing activities during

the year.
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In terms of corporate banking, the fund supervision
system was applied to infrastructure projects including
Jinan-Zhengzhou High-speed Railway and Xi'an-
Chengdu High-Speed Railway as well as high-standard
farmland projects. The funds under supervision totaled
nearly RMB100 billion and the average daily balance of
supervision accounts amounted to nearly RMB3 billion.
Supply chain finance system was developed with a
faster pace in terms of ecosystem building and directly
connected to multiple core enterprise platforms. Over
7,000 customers were served on a cumulative basis, 80%

of which were MSEs.

In terms of treasury and asset management, the Bank
launched the “Together We Thrive” interbank ecosystem
platform based on financial scenarios such as asset
allocation, information dissemination, investment research
and communication, to provide customers with digital
financial services featuring open product transaction,
fund and asset allocation and real-time information
exchange. The platform won the second prize of FinTech
Development Award of the PBC. The Bank advanced
centralized management of electronic trading systems
in financial market business. The average daily trading
volume of RMB-denominated bonds and interest rate
swaps exceeded RMB10 billion. It also launched money
market business, realizing real-time pre-trade credit

utilization and release for the first time.

In terms of risk management, the Bank promoted the
development of proactive credit extension functionality
on its internal rating platform and created a database
of customers eligible for proactive credit extension
through model mining. The loan balance exceeded
RMB150 billion. A new generation of AML system
was put into full operation, which applied big data
technologies to integrate customer information,
account information and massive transaction data
across the Bank. A comprehensive process for reporting
large-value suspicious transactions as well as a rating

system for money laundering risks of customers were
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also established. The bulk processing time for screening
large-value transactions was reduced from 2 hours to
20 minutes; and the bulk processing time for suspicious
model alerts was reduced from 8 hours to 3 hours,
which ensured timely reporting of large-value suspicious
transactions. Automatic supplementary recording
function was launched, which reduced the workload
of manual supplementary recording for large-value
transactions by 90%, effectively reducing the workload at
the grassroots level. Moreover, the Bank completed the
task of re-evaluating customer ratings across the Bank,
which facilitated the swift shift of the Bank’s focus toward
a "“risk-based” approach in its AML efforts, and enhanced
its money laundering risk management. PSBC was one
of the only two major state-owned banks selected as a
pilot company in “blockchain + risk control management”
for the national blockchain innovation application in the
banking and insurance industries. Its “blockchain system
for fiscal non-tax revenue and electronic bills” was rated
as excellent in the final evaluation of the pilot program.
It continuously promoted the innovative development
of risk control management empowered by blockchain

technology.

In terms of comprehensive support, the Bank developed
a new remote service model of “cloud counter” that
combined online and offline channels. The new model
had been promoted to over 6,000 outlets and connected
to approximately 8,000 devices such as ITMs (intelligent
teller machines), STMs (smart teller machines) and Pads
(portable Android devices). Video-based service system
was adopted in business scenarios such as due diligence,
insurance, wealth management, credit lending, credit
cards so as to meet customers’ demands for online
financial services. It was honored the Outstanding
Achievement Award at the Big Data Expo 2023. The
Bank also integrated a video-based intelligent quality
inspection system across all channels with an accuracy
rate of over 90%, thus enhancing the efficiency of quality

inspection by four times and cutting labor costs by 75%.
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Leveraging Digital Technologies to Create Immersive Experience

Relying on innovative technologies, the Bank aimed
to create immersive companion service featuring “Al
space + digital employees + video customer service”
through its mobile banking.

Customers can enjoy high-tech customized services -

Scan to view Smart U’s introduction of
X . . digital employee "
where information such as monthly income and o e

by pulling down the home page to enter the Al space,

expenditure, quick payment and recent payees were
displayed explicitly.

Digital employees can accurately identify customers’
questions, offering them services such as intelligent
Q&A, business handling and product introduction.

lecent payees . Quick payment

Relying on the enterprise-level platform for virtual
digital employee-generated contents, the Bank
created a unique digital employee image with PSBC
characteristics to serve as intelligent customer
service representatives on mobile banking and virtual

Reminders - No reminders

Recent ransfer Tranfe

Transfer =

Monthly income and expenditure
- w

Expenditure =

Income

service managers on credit card app, etc. to provide

| ] Activites center

intelligent services to customers. Through a new way et T

management and transfer Have Fun at

Amusement *

of human-computer interaction that is more caring
. . . . . Dlgna\ st Credit ard
and diverse, it brought customers with immersive ol it

experiences with a human touch. At the same time, * reuniohone ¢ Ty

it took an innovative step to launch an operation

platform with sign language-equipped digital employees to help the hearing-impaired better understand and
handle business, making financial services more accessible.

Remote video customer service enables visual interaction that integrated comprehensive queries, online processing,
sign language, and other services. Mobile banking launched the function of “cloud banking”, allowing users to
easily handle such businesses without going to outlets. The function of “shared-screen service” was launched on
corporate mobile banking, which provided end-to-end assistance through “voice communication + screen sharing’,
and effectively enhanced the customer service experience.
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Applying Innovative Technologies to Multiple
Scenarios

Empowering business operations and management.
The Bank actively built a bank-wide ecosystem for
intelligent productive force application. It vigorously
promoted the use of RPA (Robotic Process Automation)
technology to replace large-scale, repetitive manual tasks
such as document reading, report sending, exception
alerts, and cost analysis in areas such as financial
management, operational management, credit extension
management. As at the end of the reporting period,
the RPA robots have executed a cumulative total of 2
million tasks, a year-on-year increase of over 15 times,
effectively contributing to cost reduction and efficiency

improvement.

Empowering business development. Optical Character
Recognition (OCR) technology was applied in various
business scenarios such as activating new accounts
and guarantee loans to facilitate fund supervision and
customer services. Intelligent language and speech
technology supported inclusive finance, wealth

management, credit risk control, account security and

Corporate Governance Financial Statements and Others

other business sectors. During the reporting period, the
technology was integrated into additional 42 business
scenarios, and was used 61.549 million times per month
on average, representing a year-on-year increase of over

10 times.

Empowering risk management. The Bank actively used
FinTech approach to strengthen security measures and
protect customers’ assets. It constructed an investigation
graph of accounts involved in telecom fraud at the
bank-wide level, through which it was able to accurately
identify accounts involved in fraud cases and reconstruct
manual operation process for identifying fraud syndicates,
realizing efficient and intelligent decision-making. It
also upgraded its biometric recognition capabilities to
enhance anti-counterfeiting detection to effectively
intercept image synthesis attacks during identity
verification, ensuring the security of the authentication
process and transaction links. The Bank developed over
a hundred models in several sectors including advanced
approach-applied retail pooling, credit risk scoring card,
anti-fraud strategies, and AML, so as to provide a more
scientific approach for credit analysis and predictive
defenses, effectively identifying counterfeit activities and

preventing fraud.
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Extending Big Data Application Scenarios

The Bank continued to iterate the blueprint for big data application scenarios, formed a new round of big data application
scenario blueprint to cover 9 major domains, 49 application scenarios and 147 analysis themes in total, and supported
rural revitalization, institutional operations, risk prevention and control as well as development of other key businesses.

Serving rural revitalization. The Bank implemented over 10 analysis projects such as “data mining of industrial chain
whitelist” and “analysis on key customer groups of micro loans”, and generated a list of more than 1,000 high-quality
enterprises and a whitelist of more than 10 million creditworthy rural households, which contributed to targeted

marketing. Meanwhile, it continued to optimize data products such as “rural financial service portrait’, “creditworthy
village visualization platform” to meet the operational decision-making needs of institutions at all levels of the Bank.

Supporting operation of branches and sub-branches. The Bank provided branches and sub-branches with statement data

analysis service, offered access to over 1,000 standardized statements and more than 3,000 customizable indicators, and
registered an average of over 100,000 queries per day by branches and sub-branches.
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Strengthening risk prevention and control. The Bank
established 9 new rule models for gambling and fraud
detection and arranged the application of 5 algorithm
models. Meanwhile, it continued to optimize existing
models and transform data processes, resulting in a
significant increase in the coverage rate of accounts
involved in illegal activities compared with the beginning
of the year, which in turn notably improved the Bank's risk
control capability.

Enhancing Capabilities to Serve MSEs through loT
Technology

The Bank developed its own loT platform to realize
integrated management of all kinds of loT devices
throughout their entire lifecycle, from “cloud” to
“management’, “edge’, and “end”. It extended data chain
to MSEs to facilitate digital flow of assets. It helped
solve problems such as information gap and supported
post-lending risk control and credit enhancement, so as to

empower the development of digital inclusive finance.
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Fostering New Quality Productive Forces through Big
Model Technology

Following closely the trend of applying big models in
the financial sector, the Bank made efforts in various
sectors including R&D testing, operational management,
customer marketing and intelligent risk control. It
developed “R&D Assistant” for R&D testing and incubation
to support the whole R&D process including requirement
analysis, Ul design, code generation and system testing,
improving the efficiency of end-to-end R&D. It launched
“PSBC Assistant” for counter operation management,
which provided online business knowledge Q&A for
tellers to improve the efficiency of business handling.
It launched emotional models for conversations and
“Smart Think Tank” service to enhance the operation
of enterprise WeChat, thus improving the ability of
employees at grassroots level to understand customers in
a more detailed manner. It developed “Intelligent Review
Assistant” for intelligent risk control to improve the
compliance and efficiency of legal review work. During the
year, the Bank submitted more than 5 patent applications
in the field of big model, and actively participated in a
number of external research projects.



Financial Technology
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Reconstructing the Big Data Application System from an “Assets” Perspective and Leveraging Data for Benefits

In the era of digital economy, the operation and management model of data should be re-examined and
reconstructed from the perspective of assets and production factors. The Bank proactively implemented the national
strategies, took into account the characteristics of banking business and technological development trend, insisted
on innovation-led development, actively explored and carried out work related to data assets, and established a
unified data asset management system, so as to continuously improve the quality and value of data assets and
reduce the cost of using data in terms of data asset inventory, data quality, and technological support.

Vision Goals Development strategy Core missions

Data asset classification

Data asset inventory

Data asset catalog building
Building of asset-specific views

Comprehensive
enterprise-level
data asset traceability
Governance
as a service

Systematic and Data governance

Data architecture management

comprehensivedata  \QNEEREEEE °
asset governance Data security management
Promote the .digital Excellent and Data requirement management
transf?rmatlonfof efficientdata  (JREEEEEEE © Data asset optimization
Ienterp[r\lses Iand ;’Lly asset operation Data asset promotion
[ EREREe Ve R GEEE Data is valuable Data asset evaluation
Agile and precise Data asset query
data assetservices /- 0y Data asset subscription

Visible is
available

Open and integrated
data asset creation

Data asset utilization
Data product service

Business empowerment
Operational management

———————— o
Business development
""""" Internal control
Data transaction and circulation
Supportin . Technological Organizational Institutional .
PP 9 Holistic data 9 9 Agile teams
system tools culture system
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Firstly, the Bank has built a data asset management system with the characteristics of PSBC around the goal of
“Governance As a Service, Data Is Valuable, And Visible Is Available”, covering the development strategies of “data asset
traceability, data asset governance, data asset operation, data asset services and data value creation”, which serves as a

unified guideline for the management of the Bank’s data assets.

Secondly, it established enterprise-level data asset catalog to reshape the user experience of data asset utilization. The
Bank carried out data asset inventory in a gradual manner, and clarified the questions of “what data assets are, what
they contain, where they are located and who is responsible” in terms of data sources, data distribution and basic data
conditions, so as to form a complete picture of the Bank’s data assets and build an enterprise-level unified data asset
catalog. As at the end of the reporting period, the Bank had a total of more than 440,000 data assets, which had been
opened for use by 100,000 users across the Bank, supporting various types of users to quickly locate the required data

assets and serving data analysis modeling, data development, data governance and other scenarios.

Thirdly, it continued to improve the quality of data assets and established a differentiated data asset operation model.
The Bank gradually improved the building of core data assets and promoted standardized management of data assets.
Through the establishment of master data information specifications, the business definition and business classification
of various master data are unified from an enterprise-level perspective. At the same time, special governance was
carried out to continuously improve the quality of data assets. According to the characteristics and usage scenarios of
different data assets, the Bank implemented data governance results and improved the operation efficiency of data
assets by making data maps, providing data asset exploration and retrieval services, and establishing standard data

asset management and control lists.

Fourthly, it steadily promoted the building of data asset management platform to build data asset service capabilities.
In order to strengthen the technical support of data asset management, the Bank further upgraded the data asset
management platform and improved the data asset management base during the reporting period. At present, the
platform has built data asset management, data asset governance, data security management, data demand and service
management, data asset operation, data assets and product services and other related functions, which effectively

support multiple scenarios such as data research and development, data analysis modeling, etc.

In the next step, the Bank will continue to improve the efficiency of data asset management, centering on
enterprise-level data planning, and adhering to the philosophy of “consultation, contribution and shared benefits”. On
the one hand, the Bank will promote intelligent data applications, data integration, comprehensive data governance,
and data security management and other measures to provide scenario-based, intelligent, and platform-based
data services for business applications. On the other hand, it will actively carry out the exploration and practice of
data asset measurement and pricing, lay the foundation for the “inclusion” of data assets in financial statements,
and simultaneously strengthen the sharing and interoperability of data with other financial institutions, so as to
continuously promote the efficient management and comprehensive application capabilities of financial data, and to

further unlock the value of data assets.



Financial Technology

Forming New Quality Productive Forces at a
Faster Pace

Taking the IT planning in the 14th Five-Year Plan period
as guidance, the Bank consolidated the foundation of
workplace safety, committed to self-reliance and strength
in science and technology, and strengthened data
governance and application empowerment. It doubled
efforts in cultivating FinTech talents, accelerated the
formation of independent and controllable new forces and
facilitated digital transformation across the Bank through

new quality productive forces.

Consolidating the Foundation of Workplace Safety
Strengthening the building of basic computing power.
The scale and efficiency of cloud resource pool building
were constantly increased. Over the year, nearly 10,000
physical nodes were deployed in four centers in two cities,
and a cumulative production of over 1.1 million vCPUs
was put into operation. The cloudification rate of business
systems was steadily increased, with a cloud adoption rate
of 92% for critical information systems. The average daily
transaction volume exceeded 800 million, accounting for
nearly 98% of the total transactions conducted on the

cloud.

Improving the disaster recovery management of
systems. The Bank built disaster recovery capability
assessment models, strengthened the real scenario

switching drills, and realized one-click switching and
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combination of multiple systems via integrated O&M
platform. It constantly refined disaster recovery building
of information systems and full-process management
of switching drills. During the reporting period, the
Bank’s information systems maintained secure and stable
operation. The service availability of critical information
systems was 100%, thus ensuring a high level of business

continuity.

Deepening the establishment of defense systems. The
Bank took solid steps to implement cyber security
planning tasks, strengthened the security protection
of critical information infrastructure boundaries, and
completed the deployment of devices for intrusion
defense, database audit, etc. Protective measures such
as honeypots and host security were adopted across the
Bank, and protection capabilities for cyber security and
critical information infrastructure security were constantly

improved.

Consolidating the foundation of data security. The
Bank issued data security sub-planning and related
policies to further optimize the Bank’s data security
management framework. It was the only commercial
bank that participated in the pilot implementation of
national standard - Information Security Technology -
Rules for Data Classification and Grading to study the
implementation plan of national standards in the financial

sector, setting industry benchmarks.
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Pursuing Self-reliance and Strength in Science and
Technology

The Bank actively pursued independent and controllable
key FinTech technologies, adopted enterprise-level
business modeling and distributed microservices
architecture, and independently developed distributed
technology platforms and O&M platforms. It built a
reliable and solid technological foundation which was
applied to the development of a series of new-generation
core systems. The first batch of the new-generation credit
card core systems was officially launched on December 16,
2023.

It accelerated its independent R&D capabilities. The Bank
achieved 100% independent research and development
for new systems and the proportion of self-developed

systems throughout the Bank increased to 73%.
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It stepped up the building of professional testing
capabilities. On-going projects were 100% tested by
itself, and TMMi (Test Maturity Model integration) level
4 certification delivered tangible results. Foreign testing
tools were fully replaced by its self-developed “Star
Platform” which passed the DevOps (Development and
Operations) continuous testing international standard

certification.

Promoting the building of intelligent O&M. Automatic
O&M platform, security sensory system, etc. have been
applied into branches. The new-generation dynamic
environment monitoring system was put into operation.

The Bank’s O&M level was thus constantly improved.



Financial Technology

Enhancing Data Insight Capabilities

Data development is implemented through a layered
approach. Real-time data warehouse was launched on
the big data platform to support 17 real-time business
scenarios such as risk control and marketing. The data
middle platform outputs more than 1,300 services such as
marketing lists and warning models, realizing a significant

shift from providing basic data to providing data services.

Strengthening data governance. The Bank further
optimized data standards, deepened special governance
of five areas including institutions and counterparties, and
accumulated more than 5,800 data quality examination
and checking rules to strengthen management
and control at source. It also passed the quantified
management level (Level 4) certification of Data Capability
Maturity Model (DCMM).

Building a Versatile Workforce

Continuously increasing tech headcount. The Bank
increased the recruitment of talents in short supply in core
domains such as R&D, data analysis and O&M, and steadily
expanded its IT team. The IT headcount of the Head Office
increased to 5,061, and that number exceeded 7,000

across the Bank.
Strengthening the capabilities of the IT team. The Bank

improved organizational training systems and set up

“Sharp-Light-Star” programs to facilitate the rapid growth
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of new hires. It optimized personnel mobility mechanisms,
created a new communication model of “Head Office +
Regional Characteristics” that reinforced the coordination
between Head Office and branches, and established tech

talent ecosystem.

Innovating team management models. It built a team
of Human Resources Business Partners (HRBPs), set up a
Shared Services Center (SSC) for human resources, and
empowered the management of tech talents through
job competence models, employee digital profiles, and

workforce performance analysis.
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Strengthening Business Dispatch Mechanism to Promote Integration of Business and Technologies

Aiming to enhance the quality and efficiency of financial services, the Bank promoted the in-depth integration
of technologies and business teams, so as to respond to customers’ financial need agilely. It improved customer
services together with the employees at the primary level and formulated a new approach and model of digital
financial services where the Head Office and branches work together and the Bank and the customers cooperate to

deliver win-win results.

The Bank optimized the organization and responsibility of the IT segment, set up business R&B tier-2 departments,
and built a professional business R&D team based on the existing requirement R&D personnel. It carried out
business requirement R&D, supporting system process design and optimization and other works for each business
segment, promoted the integration of business and technologies and managed businesses at the source of
requirements, so as to effectively improve project quality across the Bank. As at the end of the reporting period, this
effort has covered 67 major projects in 5 segments, namely personal banking, corporate banking, treasury and asset

management, comprehensive support and risk management.

The Bank selected over 100 talents to build an engineer team of customer service, empowered six areas including
system support, channel alignment, product upgrade, scenario platform, operation optimization and intelligent risk
control, promoted the building of a coordinated system linking banks, businesses and customers and accelerated
the implementation of major projects. The implementation period of corporate banking standardized projects
was shortened by 75% on average. The branches had more capabilities to handle IT projects, producing a range of
leading IT projects, such as “Rong e Hui” in Fujian, “Di Guan Tong” in Shenzhen and wage regulation system for rural

migrant workers in Xiamen.

The Bank actively explored the mechanism of dispatching data analysis teams. Taking personal banking, online
banking, Sannong finance and other core segments as drivers, it worked to form a regular and standardized flow
for dispatching data analysts to business departments, thereby improving the efficiency of responding to data

application needs.



The Bank launched mobile
banking 9.0 and the number
of monthly active users
(MAU) reached

million.

“Cloud counter” remote
authorization was applied
on about

self-service

terminals.

The Bank set up a total of

“PSBC Care Stations”, achieving

coverage of
provincial-level and municipal-

level branches.

The Bank launched a

, providing users with a
more enriched and convenient

online experience.

The number of corporate

online banking customers
exceeded million,

up by % from

the prior year-end. The

transaction amount stood at
RMB trillion, up by

% year on year.
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> Channel Development

With the aim of serving customers, the Bank made continuous efforts in
innovation and transformation, and improved the ability to provide customers

with multi-channel collaborative services.

Physical Distribution Channels

The Bank continuously optimized the construction and layout of outlets. The
Bank proactively implemented national strategies in outlet building, continued
to serve rural revitalization, focused on ensuring coverage of outlets in counties
and areas below the county level, and increased resource investment in key
regions such as the Beijing-Tianjin-Hebei region, the Yangtze River Economic
Belt, and the Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macao Greater Bay Area. In 2023, the Bank
opened 134 new outlets for business. Among them, 82.84% were in counties
and areas below the county level; 19 new outlets were in key counties receiving
government assistance for rural revitalization as well as in Xinjiang and Xizang
that are managed as key counties receiving government assistance; and 19 city-
level outlets were set up in the Beijing-Tianjin-Hebei region, the Yangtze River
Economic Belt, and the Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macao Greater Bay Area to

support the regional development.

The Bank continuously enhanced the productivity and efficiency of outlets.
Centering on the new requirements of high-quality development, the Bank
continued to implement the three-year plan for improving outlet efficiency.
It focused on the enhancement of outlet productivity and staff efficiency,
enriched the business models of outlets, and emphasized on building branches
with distinctive business features, service characteristics, and thematic
characteristics, so as to enhance the differentiation and competitiveness of the

outlets.

The Bank continuously improved the service image of outlets. The Bank
established flagship outlets in municipalities, cities specifically designated in
the state plan, and 50 key cities to develop model outlets with strong visibility,
good image and high efficiency. Complying with new image standards, it
accelerated outlet renovation and optimized the layout of functional areas
such as wealth management zones and negotiation zones at the outlets. As at
the end of the reporting period, more than 5,000 outlets underwent interior

renovation for a new image.



Overview
Capability Building

The Bank continuously optimized the customer
experience at outlets. The Bank took solid steps
to conduct the “four-in-one” special improvement
campaign to enhance service quality with the focus
on “specifications, standards, drills and improvement’,
continued to standardize outlet environment and staff
service behaviors, and consolidated the foundation of
service management. It deepened the “heart-warming
services” scenarios by launching and promoting 25 heart-
warming service measures covering service processes,
marketing atmosphere, special scenarios, and special
customer groups, in a bid to provide financial services

with a human touch to customers.

The Bank continuously promoted the development of
“PSBC Care Stations”. The Bank actively built “PSBC Care
Stations” at outlets with unified construction standards
and service norms. These stations serve as a place where
outdoor workers can take a rest, drink water, recharge
mobile phones and find hygiene supplies, etc. The Bank
also extended care to special customer groups, providing
them with people-oriented and barrier-free services as
well as maternal and baby care services. In doing so,
the Bank fulfilled its social responsibility and showed its
sense of responsibility as a major bank. As at the end of
the reporting period, the Bank has set up a total of 4,861
“PSBC Care Stations”, covering all provincial-level and
municipal-level branches. Among them, 49 stations were
recognized by All-China Federation of Trade Unions as the
“Most Beautiful Trade Union Service Station for Outdoor
Workers” in 2023.

The Bank continued to strengthen digital empowerment
in operations management. The Bank continued to apply
the innovative service pattern of “cloud counter”with
audio-visual integration and intelligent routing
technology, which enabled centralized processing of
inquiries and transactions by remote centers instead of
traditional on-site processing, providing more prompt and
convenient outlet services to customers. As at the end
of the reporting period, approximately 8,000 self-service
terminals had been adapted for the remote authorization

model of “cloud counter”. Through the collaboration of
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“on-site guidance in the lobby + remote authorization
from agent representatives”, the Bank strengthened
its lobby services and supported the transformation of
outlets towards marketing services. Furthermore, the
Bank explored the application of new technologies such
as virtual reality, deployed Al digital employees in the
“cloud counter” project to provide customers with services
such as business consultation and transaction services
through progressive and interactive guidance by Al digital
employees, thereby facilitating the digital transformation
of outlet services. The bank significantly enhanced the
capabilities of self-service terminals and mobile business
terminals, adding nearly 200 financial functions and over
300 bank-government business functions, so as to improve
one-stop transaction experience at outlets. It implemented
a mobile marketing model with single-person outreach in
6 branches, effectively supporting the marketing service

at outlets.

The Bank continuously enhanced intensive operation
capabilities. The Bank made significant efforts in
promoting intensive operation and process reengineering
of outlet businesses. During the reporting period, 10
intensive operation projects were newly implemented,
including new account follow-ups, corporate wallets, letter
of credit processing, etc. It centralized the processing
of another 130 transactions. The Bank implemented an
integrated customer service model of “online acceptance -
processing at the operations center — express delivery” for
personal deposit certificates. The Bank utilized intelligent
technologies such as Robotic Process Automation
(RPA) to enhance operational efficiency in intensive
operations, and added a number of robot application
scenarios, resulting in a total saving of 720,000 work hours
throughout the year. It expanded the scope of intensive
operation, and realized centralized processing of telecom
and network fraud monitoring and analysis, significantly
reducing over 98% of the front-desk verification workload
at outlets. The electronic letter of credit system was
connected to the letter of credit blockchain service
platform of China Banking Association (CBA), and achieved
centralized operation by the Head Office, which was

among the best in CBA's circular.



Channel Development

The Bank continued to drive customer journey
optimization. Relying on the “Lingxi (Perception)”
customer experience management system, the Bank
conducted dynamic monitoring of customer satisfaction
for 37 customer journeys through 1,360 experience
indicators in scenario-based manner. It enabled the Bank
to quickly identify and address customer experience issues
and establish real-time alerting and journey optimization
mechanisms. As at the end of the reporting period, a total
of 1,077 journey optimization measures were adopted,
and new one-stop services such as “one-click sign-up”,
“one-click control release” and “one-click account inquiry”
were introduced. Account loss reporting, transaction
details printing and other services were now available on
mobile banking, and the processing time for corporate
account opening was reduced by 26.51% compared with
the prior year-end, leading to a continuous improvement

in customer satisfaction.

The Bank continuously advanced an integrated “online
+ offline” customer management model. The Bank build
upon and expanded the services of offline outlets to
provide the experience of digital financial application.

Relying on online services including mobile banking and

quick payment card binding, it carried out the “PSBC
Happy Shopping” mobile payment experience campaign
and helped customers with “1 plus 3" account upgrade’,
thus increasing customers’ sense of gains with online
services and bridging the digital divide for elderly
customers. The Bank continued to foster new advantages
of customer acquisition and activation featuring outlets
plus business districts. It leverages acquiring merchants
as a focal point to create high-standard and characteristic
business districts in the fields of retail, dining, culture,
tourism, etc. At the same time, it gave full play to the value
lever of acquiring business, and realized the coordinated
development of personal banking, credit cards, loans
and other businesses, so as to provide diversified

comprehensive financial services to merchants.

As at the end of the reporting period, the Bank had a total
of 39,364 outlets, including 7,685 directly-operated outlets
and 31,679 agency outlets. In addition, it has 134,959
self-service terminals, including 50,585 intelligent teller
machines (ITMs), which accounted for 96.37% of self-
service terminals for non-cash businesses, and 70,725

internet-enabled mobile business expansion terminals.

x®
BIENRFRE

Welcome Guests

@L

ENFNEARGRRS
EESA: —WhaxF

@ RB®ES

£
! EBHES: on;
~ad ™ =
o ~
/ '!l:!." ;
B

) G 3% NEBB DR SRR
M

RHA: RAREY

s
o ——

L3
A "PSBC Care Station” staff at the Bank’s Harbin Central Avenue Sub-branch covers tourists’ luggage with dust covers.

1 “1 plus 3" account upgrade means that account opening, mobile banking opening, quick payment card binding and risk assessment services are processed all at

once for customers.
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Electronic Banking Channels

Personnel Mobile Banking

The Bank launched Mobile Banking 9.0 which focused on
“professional wealth consultant, exclusive experience,
dedicated companion, and attentive protection” to
enhance the customers’ interaction, scenario interaction,
and product interaction through a new “three-dimensional
interaction” experience. In terms of professional wealth
consultant, the Bank launched functions such as “U
Allocate Assets” and retirement planning, and established
a wealth allocation service system that comprises
“investment consultation, product shelves and wealth
planning” as well as a wealth management system that
comprises “income and expense management, account
management and to-dos management’, so as to meet
customers’ personalized and diversified needs for wealth
management. In terms of exclusive experience, the App
continuously optimized search function to further increase
the accuracy. More types of business notifications were
enabled in the App to refine message manager service. By
launching novel functions such as themed mystery box,
birthday/holiday greeting and desktop component, the
App offered customers interactive experiences that are
considerate and diverse. In terms of dedicated companion,
the innovative Al space gave customers more science-
based tailored services. In terms of attentive protection,
security manager and process optimization ensured
double security for customers. Relying on big data,
Al, knowledge graph and other technologies, the App
achieved smooth and accurate risk identification. E-tokens
were fully phased out, and a dynamic limit system based

on customer assets and transaction history was set up,
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with the daily cumulative transfer limit for mobile banking
increased to a maximum of RMB5 million (inclusive).
The App also enriched customer identity verification
methods by introducing features such as local number
authentication, login-free transfers, and the option
to choose basic authentication methods for transfers.
These functionalities were to further simplify transaction
authentication process while ensuring compliance with

risk control requirements.

Committed to the customer-centric service philosophy,
the Bank focused on developing mobile banking as the
major platform for customer interaction and business
operations. As a result, customer base continued to
grow. During the reporting period, the Bank sped up the
building of the online operation system, innovatively
launched the automated operation based on the new
customer 100-day strategy for mobile banking, and
explored new models for automated and intensive
operation of mobile banking customers. It continued to
enrich the system of customer benefits, launched the low-
carbon section, digital collectibles and other features, and
issued “rabbit collection for benefits” brand campaign
that attracted 16.88 million participants. In doing so, it
generated win-win results of customer engagement and
asset accumulation. As at the end of the reporting period,
the number of mobile banking users totaled 361 million.
During the reporting period, the number of monthly
active users (MAU)' reached 69.32 million. Transaction
amount stood at RMB16.01 trillion, a year-on-year increase
of 9.28%.

1 The statistical criterion for the monthly active users in mobile banking is the customers who have opened the mobile banking App.
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Personal Mobile Banking 9.0

Corporate Electronic Banking

The Bank released Corporate Online Banking 4.0 and
Corporate Mobile Banking 2.0. The new versions
of corporate electronic banking enhanced the user
experience for high-frequency business transactions
and were connected to “PSBC Easy Business” platform,
creating a six-scenario-based ecosystem, which enhanced
the Bank’s comprehensive financial service capabilities
in the “finance plus scenario” approach. The Bank was
awarded the “Best Corporate Online Banking Award”
for consecutive years in the “2023 China Digital Finance
Ranking” by the China Financial Certification Authority
(CFCA).

Upgrading corporate online banking to version 4.0.
Centering on customer services, the new version of
corporate online banking redesigned homepage,
innovated financing and intellectual-incorporated

products, and enabled full-process online handling of
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agency payment, bill, letter of guarantee and other
products. Visual account management view covering asset
and liability analysis, income and expenditure analysis,
etc. was added. Version 4.0 supported binding personal
account and set product sections including inclusive
finance, wealth management and operation management.
It provided integrated services for all sorts of customer
groups through specialty product list and specialty
scenario list, and improved segmented businesses and
services for corporate customers. As at the end of the
reporting period, the number of registered customers
of corporate online banking exceeded 1.4 million,
representing an increase of 22.63% compared with the
prior year-end; the effective corporate online banking
customers accounted for 92.76% of the total corporate
customers, representing an increase of 2.96 percentage
points compared with the prior year-end. The transaction
amount stood at RMB17.28 trillion, up 34.89% year on

year.
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Improving financial service capabilities at mobile
terminals. The Bank upgraded corporate mobile banking
to version 2.0 which added more than 80 functions, such
as panorama view of account services, international
settlement, mobile pay and corporate wallet. It launched
the intelligent interaction mode of “screen sharing service”
and realized targeted service guidance on a one-to-one
and screen-to-screen basis through “screen sharing and
voice talk”. The version 2.0 supported intelligent voice
search that has access to all services, and comprehensively
used digital employee, customized algorithm, intelligent
recommendation and other technologies to create an
operation supporting system that delivers heart-warming
and companion services, in a bid to serve as a smart
mobile financial manager. As at the end of the reporting
period, the corporate mobile banking had a total of 527.2

thousand registered users, serving over 900,000 users.

PSBC Credit Card App

The Bank launched a new version of PSBC Credit Card App
to create an ecosystem that meets customers’ basic needs
for clothing, food, housing and mobility and provide
more diversified and convenient online experience for
retail customers. It reshaped five homepage channels,
completed over 100 optimization measures and launched
249 functions. The flows of core functions such as
registration and login, activation, card binding and quick
payment were redesigned to enable one-click access to
key businesses. It built upon the brand culture, applied
design elements with PSBC characteristics and upgraded
the visual design of the App. UnionPay Quick Pass was
embedded to connect with consumption scenarios
through cloud network platform, so as to provide
customers with a brand-new payment experience. The
card application scenarios were enriched with car-owner
scenario, gas refilling scenario and platinum card service
zone, etc. Bonus point channel was added to increase

customer activity through increased promotion efforts.
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As at the end of the reporting period, PSBC Credit Card
App had a total of 24,328.5 thousand users, up 46.48%
from the prior year-end; the accumulative number of bank
card linked to the App reached 28,980.1 thousand, up
60.19% from the prior year-end.

Remote Service Channels

Remote Banking Services

With the focus on customer services, the Bank established
intelligent and intensive remote service system to upgrade
unprecedented customer service experience. During the
reporting period, it continued to deepen intelligent and
innovative applications, rolled out the Bank’s first mascot
and digital employees, and launched digital customer
service and digital customer manager, so as to upgrade
remote services. It launched the dedicated hotline for
private banking, effectively improving featured financial
services. It unveiled cloud handling service and livestream
platform and expanded visual and online interaction
scenarios to further increase the accessibility of financial
services and provide more heartwarming remote services.
During the reporting period, the answer success rate by

manual response for remote banking was over 92%.

Credit Card Customer Service Hotline

The Bank continued to promote the intelligent and online
transformation of the credit card hotline service. New
functions including digital employees, video customer
service, smart transaction robot and voiceprint code were
unveiled successively to provide customers with 24/7
digital and intelligent services. In total, it delivered online
services for 3.19 million person-times. Taking “Customer
Service Experience Improvement Year Campaign” as the
opportunity, the Bank continued to improve customer
service journey experience of all channels. It strengthened
effective coordination, formulated strategies flexibly
and ensured the smooth operation of hotline. During
the reporting period, the answer success rate by manual
response was over 95%, and customer satisfaction with

manual service was 99.75%.
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ALY Building Featured Sub-branches to Enhance Differentiated Service Capabilities

In order to carry out the overall deployment of the “five priorities” of technology finance, green finance, inclusive
finance, pension finance and digital finance proposed by the Central Financial Work Conference, the Bank made efforts
at outlets of the grass-roots level to actively build special sub-branches in technology, green, inclusive, pension, digital
and other key areas, and continued to increase the investment of financial resources to serve the development of the
real economy.

Wenling Sub-branch, Taizhou, Zhejiang Province — A Technology Finance Sub-branch

Wenling Sub-branch in Taizhou, Zhejiang Province focused on technology-based enterprises, strengthened
the financial empowerment of technology-based enterprises, and assisted the transformation and upgrading
of the local industry and economy. The Bank has set up a professional service group for technology finance,
clearly identifying technological enterprises as the key service targets, carrying out list-based visits, and actively
integrating its development into the transformation and upgrading of local industries in light of the local pump
and electric motor clusters, in order to provide comprehensive life-cycle financial services for technology-based
enterprises. As at the end of the reporting period, the Sub-branch’s loans to technology-based enterprises
amounted to RMB1,322 million, accounting for 45.14% of all small business loans, of which the loans to
technology-based enterprises related to the pumps and electric motors industry amounted to RMB378 million.
The Bank has built a total of 30 professional service institutions for technology finance such as sub-branches and
departments specializing in technology finance.

Binhe Green Sub-branch of Mentougou District, Beijing
- A Green Finance Sub-branch

Vigorously implementing the philosophy of “lucid waters and lush mountains are
invaluable assets”, Binhe Green Sub-branch of Mentougou District, Beijing actively
advanced the pilot project of “realizing the value of ecological products in specific
regional units” and provided credit support for development organizations with
the aim of unleashing the future value of ecological projects. It actively contributed
to local green and low-carbon development and assigned professional customer
managers to handle green credit business. As at the end of the reporting period, its
green credit amounted to RMB874 million, accounting for 93.58% of its total credit,
up 56 percentage points from prior year-end. The Bank has established a total of
28 green financial institutions, including carbon-neutral sub-branches, green sub-
branches and green finance departments.
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Outlet under Direct Management of Sub-branches
of Henan Province - Digital Intelligence Flagship
Store

Outlet under Direct Management of Sub-branches of Henan Province
aimed at the digital and intelligent transformation of outlets,
empowering the new business model of outlets. It adopted a space
design with a sense of modern technology and introduced 19
intelligent scenarios. Relying on the creation of 5G+ digital financial
scenarios, it has achieved personalized services such as smart
welcome and smart handling. Through the investment in software and
hardware equipment such as smart machines, robots, 5G integrated
management platforms, and Internet of Things management and
control platforms, business processing efficiency has been improved by
40%, and customer satisfaction has continued to improve.

hEBHEE
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Wusheng Road Sub-branch of Wuhan City,
Hubei Province - Jinhui (Elderly Care) Sub-branch

Wusheng Road Sub-branch of Wuhan City, Hubei Province took
solid steps to improve services for elderly customers and continued
to optimize facilities and service process. It set up an elderly service
zone named "Enjoy Being Elderly” where reading glasses, magnifying
glasses, medical kit, wheelchairs and other service facilities are
available. It built barrier-free passage and public helpline, equipped
with caring windows and caring seats, provided preferential number
call, and organized chess and cards and other leisure activities,
showing the warmth of the Bank through details and improving the
business handling experience for elderly customers. In 2023, the
number of elderly customers of the Sub-branch increased by 5.43%
year on year and their AUM increased by 13.53% year on year. As of
the end of the reporting period, Jinhui sub-branches covered 80% of
prefecture-level cities nationwide.

D
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Ali Sub-branch, Xizang Autonomous Region -
An Inclusive Finance Sub-branch

Inclusive Finance

~

Located at the highest altitude on the Qinghai-Xizang Plateau and known
as the "Roof of the World", with an average temperature ranging from 4°C
to below -45°C and an oxygen content of only 45% of that of the plains,
Ali, Xizang, has long been regarded as a “forbidden zone of life". In order
to implement the guiding principles of the CPC Central Committee to
“effectively strengthen high-quality financial services for major strategies,
key areas, and weak links", and take the initiative to fulfill the responsibility
of a large state-owned bank, Postal Savings Bank officially opened its sub-
branch in the Ali region of the Xizang Autonomous Region on December
15, 2023, to provide enterprises and residents in the Ali region with
inclusive and convenient financial services, effectively implementing the
requirements of the Central Financial Work Conference, “adhering to the
people-centered value orientation, and adhering to the financial services
for the real economy as the fundamental purpose”.
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Improving E-CNY Services at a Faster Pace

Under the guidance of People’s Bank of China and committed to the customer-centric philosophy, the Bank
advanced the building of e-CNY acceptance environment, innovated e-CNY product functions and optimized service
experience, so as to meet differentiated needs of customers, providing more and better comprehensive financial
services for customers. While developing e-CNY business, the Bank continued to speed up the development of
traditional businesses and supported inclusive finance. As at the end of the reporting period, the Bank topped the

operator list by the number of customers who opened personal wallets via e-CNY App.

Steadily Promoting Scenario Building

The Bank made breakthroughs in smart-contract application. Relying on the smart-contract technology, the Bank
built the innovative e-CNY smart-contract prepayment consumption ecosystem, and launched “cloud manager”-
based smart-contract prepayment products in pilot industries such as education and training, fitness, medical

treatment, e-commerce and beauty salons.

It expanded the coverage of inclusive financial services. It took the lead in e-CNY application in corporate sectors
such as MSE loans, corporate loans and green bill discounting and doubled the support for inclusive finance and
green finance. Its e-CNY loan exceeded RMB5.8 billion. It improved financial services for rural revitalization, and set
demonstration villages, demonstration points and online agro-related platforms of rural revitalization in e-CNY pilot

areas.

It accelerated the building of government affair services scenarios. In response to the State Taxation Administration’s
initiative of “Spring Breeze Action for Convenient Taxation”, the Bank vigorously built key scenarios such as corporate
tax payment and fiscal non-tax. During the year, the amount of tax payment through e-CNY surpassed RMB7.4
billion. It successfully provided e-CNY funds with government subsidized interest to 29 enterprises in difficulty
in Xiongan New Area. It exclusively linked to “Zhi Gui Tong", a government affairs and public service platform in

Guangxi Province, to support local digital government affair building.

Continuously Developing Featured Products

The Bank refined the “Life” sub-section in the e-CNY section in mobile banking App, integrated scenarios in e-CNY
exclusive store, mobile business district and activity zone, and launched e-CNY wage payment, e-CNY securities
transfer and other functions, so as to provide customers with one-stop online e-CNY services via mobile banking
App. It established a corporate wallet service system to meet customer needs on B-end and G-end and launched
functions such as corporate wallet service on corporate mobile banking and one-click contract signing for corporate
wallet at counters. Furthermore, it unveiled innovative functions such as collective settlement and one-code

scanning to support quick collection for e-CNY merchants.
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The Bank solved the chronic issue of traditional prepayment mode
of lacking effective regulation through smart-contract prepayment
products, thus ensuring the security of repayment fund for customers
and expanding customer acquisition channels for merchants.

Innovative E-CNY Smart-contract Prepayment Scenarios

® In March 2023, the Bank launched the innovative e-CNY smart-

contract prepayment service and rolled out related “meta
manager”-based product “Xiao You Card” on “Xiao You E-CNY
Mall”. When customers select “Xiao You Card” for payment on
“Xiao You E-CNY Mall’, the funds will be automatically settled to
the Mall, realizing timely settlement of each payment.

In September 2023, the Bank rolled out smart-contract
prepayment platform through the cooperation with partners,
and piloted related products in education and training industry.
When customers buy and take the course, the funds will be
automatically settled to the education institutions, realizing
timely settlement of each course.

In December 2023, together with Jiangsu Exchange Depository
& Clearing Co., Ltd., the Bank established “Su Jie Tong”, the
first e-CNY prepayment fund management platform in Jiangsu
Province, to support the healthy development of prepayment

Search merchants

Exercise and
fitness

@ ez | o 2uwmunm; | EECZ

-CNY Smart Contract

Service category

© ©

Education and
training

®
Automobile
services

Livelihood
service

The Bank established smart-contract prepayment

consumption ecosystem.

platform through the cooperation with partners

-

s
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In Shiyi Village, Beichuan
Qiang Autonomous County,
Mianyang, Sichuan Province,
the Bank integrated e-CNY into
beautiful countryside building
and rural digital governance,
created various e-CNY
application scenarios such as
tourism and wellness, specialty
catering, EMS, e-commerce
and convenient payment. The
application of e-CNY covered
over 92% of the merchants,
thus contributing to rural
revitalization.

Rural Revitalization Scenarios

An employee from the Bank’s Beichuan Sub-branch
in Sichuan Province delivered doorstep services to an
e-CNY merchant in Shiyi village

~

Grain Payment and
Settlement Scenario

The Bank carried out in-depth
cooperation with China Grain
Reserves Group Ltd. Company,
developed combined payment
product of “corporate account
- corporate parent wallet -
corporate sub-wallet - personal
wallet” based on the company’s
payment and settlement
situations. In doing so, it
covered e-CNY grain payment
function to all enterprises
directly controlled by the
company in pilot areas, so as
to support the unified fund
management.

%
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Exploring New Financial Service Mode Through Open Banking

Adhering to the development concept of “open,
collaboration, sharing, and reciprocity” and focusing
on building characteristic and differentiated scenarios,
the Bank established an open banking service system

that integrated “platform-based finance, scenario-

based operation and digital operation”, and developed
an open banking service platform. It provided one-
stop services driven by “open capability, solutions

and financial cloud” to constantly widen the border of

financial services. It worked hand in hand with multiple

parties to promote the organic integration between
finance and scenarios, outlets and business districts
as well as online and offline, and went all out to shape
itself into a digital eco-bank that grows together with
users and customers at C-end, B-end, G-end and F-end

for win-win results.

Fostering Diversified Service Ecosystem Incorporating Platform, Scenarios and Finance

The Bank developed a “scenario+” open banking mode, covered areas of 36 tier-1 branches, and with mobile
created a closed loop for “scenario + finance” services, banking as the main channel to the customer side, it was
accelerated the application of data, information and able to not only provide services for customers, but also
scenarios on the platform, and unlocked the value of introduce scenarios on the platform. Supported by digital
data. Open capability covered 9 major types of service, and intelligent scenario operation, it provided customers
namely account, e-CNY, credit card, payment and with specialty services that are more considerate,
settlement, credit loan, equity, international businesses, diversified and accurate.

channels and IT services. It put equal emphasis on

“Going out” and “Bringing in”. For one side, it focused
on corporate management process and established

ESTABLISHING A REFIIJI\IvEPECIFIE o
integrated cloud platform of “scenario + finance” using L s [
service integration and open capacity as a carrier
to support digital transformation for enterprises.
For another, it issued industry solutions through
the cooperation with SaaS vendor to provide smart
operation services for businesses. The platform has

connected to over 1,300 scenarios. It's worth noting

that the special zone “local service” on the platform
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Taking the Lead in Exploring New Approaches and Modes for Industrial Chain Financial Services

Focusing on the development of characteristic industry
such as agriculture, the Bank realized agile connections
with industrial chain system, and integrated payment,
financing and other services into the industrial chain
services that cover full process and all scenarios, thus
promoting data interaction and saving customers’
time on running errands. Taking Shaanxi Branch as
an example, by linking to Yulin Suide Online Freight
Supervision Service Platform, the Branch provided
targeted services for freight vehicle owners. Leveraging
open capabilities including loan, OCR, online verification
and electronic contracting documents, it developed
tailored product “vehicle-owner loan” for industrial
chain customer groups and provided online loan
services for platform users. Hainan Branch, relying on

its regional specialty, established an intelligent rubber

platform. Based on API, H5 and other technologies of the
platform, it explored a new service mode of “platform +
rural household + IT + finance” and realized full-process
online operation of financial services, thus dramatically

improving digital services for rubber ecosystem.

\/

EMPOWERING OIGITAL AND ECOSYSTEM-BASED BANK
FOR AURAL REVITALIZATION

Green world
better life
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Human Resources Management

In terms of recruitment, the Bank upheld an open mindset,
and continued to build the employer brand to attract
outstanding talents. It launched three creative online
career talks for campus recruitment, including “Shining
with PSBC", “Embarking on a Journey with PSBC” and “PSBC
Talent Acquisition”, and went to well-known universities
and colleges nationwide to hold pubilicity talks, so as to
demonstrate the PSBC’s talent management mechanism
and its sincerity in talent recruitment on an all-round
basis. The Bank strengthened the implementation of
the “U* Talent” training program at the Head Office, and
established a full-chain talent training system covering
internships, onboarding and career growth, to attract
outstanding graduates to join the Bank. In the selection
of “Best Employers in China 2023" the Bank was honored
with two employer brand awards “Top 10 Best Employers
of the Year” and “Most Attractive Employers among

College Students”.

In terms of talent development, the Bank attached great
importance to employee development, established
and effectively implemented a dual-track promotion
mechanism of “management plus expertise”, improved
horizontal mobility mechanisms, and achieved a better
alignment between individuals and positions. It enhanced
the promotion opportunities for employees at different

job levels, and accelerated the building of core talent

teams. It continued to enhance the development of a
leading talent team, selected and cultivated professional
leaders in key areas of technology, retail banking,
corporate banking, treasury & asset management, and
risk management. The Bank improved the selection,
motivation, evaluation and exit mechanisms for leading
talents, and strengthened the assessment, management
and dynamic adjustment of leading talents, to bring
into full play the leading role of these talents in
scientific research, reform and innovation, and talent
development. It developed talent pools at all levels, and
intensified the efforts to train and utilize outstanding
young cadres. It continuously improved the talent
training system, and launched key training programs of
different categories and levels to constantly improve the
quality and effectiveness of training. For management
personnel, the Bank organized “Making Innovations -
Embracing Change - Sailing Program” and “Improving
Party Consciousness « Upholding Fundamental Principles
and Breaking New Ground - Navigating Program”, the
“Steed” training camp for outstanding young cadres, and
other training programs to strengthen their business
management capabilities. For professional personnel, the
Bank launched the “3-5-8" Refinement « Competitiveness
Enhancement Program for employees of Head Office
departments’ and the “U Star Plan” training camp for
newly recruited employees who would be based at the

Head Office, and provided professional competence

1 “3-5-8" Refinement « Competitiveness Enhancement Program for employees of Head Office departments refers to the hierarchical

and classified empowerment training for employees with 1-3 years, 4-7 years and more than 8 years of work experience in the

Head Office according to the training needs of employees with different working years, aiming to help employees improve their

professional capabilities and cultivate innovative thinking and build a team of talents that are sophisticated, professional and

innovative.
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trainings for key business lines, so as to improve
employees’ professionalism and competence. For frontline
personnel, the Bank organized the training camp “Outlets
Forging Ahead - llluminating PSBC” for heads of outlets,
strengthened trainings for wealth advisors and customer
managers, consolidated the business foundation for
frontline employees and improved their capabilities.
During the reporting period, the Bank organized more
than 45,000 training sessions, with more than 3 million

person-times trained.

In terms of remuneration and benefits management, the
Bank formulated the remuneration management policy in
strict accordance with the relevant national and regulatory
provisions as well as the requirements regarding corporate
governance. The Bank maintained a balance between
efficiency and fairness, and continued to optimize the
allocation mechanism of total compensation based on
performance and value creation. The Bank continuously
improved the employee remuneration allocation system,
and prioritized frontline employees at the primary level

and front-line positions and core management talents

Corporate Governance Financial Statements and Others

who have made outstanding contributions. Employee
remuneration consists of basic salary, performance-related
salary, and statutory welfare income including social
insurance, housing provident fund, etc. In particular, the
basic salary reflects job value and personal capabilities,
while the performance-related salary focuses on
employees’ achievements and performance. Meanwhile,
senior management and employees in positions with
significant risk impact are subject to a deferred payment
and clawback mechanism for performance-based
salary, which guides employees to effectively balance
improvement of returns and risk prevention. During
the reporting period, the Bank constantly promoted
the application of performance appraisal results, and
gave full play to the role of performance appraisal as
a guiding tool. It strengthened performance coaching
and communication, enhanced the overall process
management of performance appraisal, and continuously
improved the quality and effectiveness of performance
management. It also kept optimizing its benefits system,
improving welfare benefits, and enhancing the employees’

sense of belonging.
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= Column Conducting Full-chain Coordination for Recruitment Management Practice to Build a Strong “Best
= Employer”Brand

In 2023, the Bank continued to build a strong employer brand and highlight its image as a reliable and responsible
major bank. Based on the recruitment needs across the Bank, it carried out campus recruitment in an innovative way.
It proactively conducted publicity activities for recruitment, and launched the first summer internship program at
the Head Office. Thanks to the “U* Intern Camp”, a summer internship platform, it opened a channel for enterprise-
university publicity. With the slogan of “U Build PSBC Future”, the Bank organized OPEN DAY events, in which many
activities were designed, including “U Pooling, Winners of Innovation, theme expansion, interactive talks, U Elite”,
aiming to build up its reputation and enhance interns’ sense of cultural identity to spontaneously endorse PSBC and
warm up for autumn campus recruitment. The Bank continued a series of online career talks, and launched three
creative online talks for 2024 campus recruitment, namely, “Shining with PSBC” to show the Bank’s features (original
MV), the Head Office U* Talent Plan of “Embarking on a Journey with PSBC” (short video drama), and practical
recruitment information of “PSBC Talent Acquisition” (animation), with a viewership of over 460,000 on all platforms.
The Bank refined its publicity channels. Based on the online publicity via multiple channels including the official
website, WeChat official recruitment account, and the third-party partnership institution, it selected many renowned
universities throughout the country to carry out offline talks for the 2024 campus recruitment with joint efforts
of the Head Office and branches, which attracted students to participate in the interaction through talks given by
influencers, sharing by alumni and other activities, further improving the accuracy of reaching excellent graduates.
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Scan to view the WeChat official account of
PSBC Talent Recruitment
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Improving the “U Series”Talent Program to Stimulate the Intrinsic Motivation of Talent
Development

In 2023, the Bank further improved the “U Series” talent recruitment and training program, and integrated
talent recruitment, talent training and internal transfer. The “U Series” program includes “U* Talent” program, “U
Transfer Program” and “U Exchange Program’, which guides employees to clarify their career orientation, increase
opportunities to gain work experience in multiple positions, develop greater competence, jointly establish a talent
supply chain and cultivate talents who are highly skilled, have a broad perspective, and are capable of shouldering
responsibilities.

The “U* Talent” Plan refers to talent acquisition and training program through campus recruitment. The whole
training cycle consists of the “U* Intern Camp”, “U* Training Camp’, “U* Practice Camp”, “U* Elite Camp” to “U* Takeoff
Camp’, in which a mentoring system was adopted throughout the whole process, so as to achieve personal growth
together with organizational development, mutual learning between mentors and new employees, and win-win
results for the Head Office and frontline units. The Bank launched whole-chain talent training for interns, new
employees and those in growing period in 2023. It organized the Head Office “U* Intern Camp” program, integrated
ways of “ice-breaking and cooperation, mentoring, phased discussion, assessment, and talent placements”, applied
the one-on-one mentoring mechanism for departments which need talents and interns, and launched a 2-month
mentoring program, with the aim of targeting excellent students in advance and attracting more outstanding
graduates to join in the Bank. The Bank organized “U* Training Camp” with the theme of “U and Me - Make the
‘Fire’ Work”, and the “U Star Plan” training camp for new employees of the Head Office from campus recruitment,
made full use of lecturing, interview, scenario simulation and other teaching forms, together with cultural and
sports competitions, to help new employees to fit in rapidly. It launched the “U* Practice Camp” to enhance the
effectiveness of employee training by ways of tutor guidance, primary-level practice, subject research review
meetings, and compilation of quarterly publications, and helped employees to get a good kickoff in their careers.

The “U Transfer Program” refers to a cross-departmental talent transfer program for the Head Office employees,
which improves the mechanism of internal talent transfer by establishing an open and standard platform for
employees to be transferred among different departments. Since 2022, the Bank has implemented two rounds of
the “U Transfer Program’, with a total of 150 employees transferred to different departments. On the basis of ensuring
general stability of employees, it made good use of internal talents and created a more open, inclusive, and active cultural
atmosphere.

The “U Exchange Program” refers to a program of exchanges of employees among the Head Office departments,
aiming to provide the Head Office employees with more opportunities to gain work experience in multiple positions,
broaden their horizons, promote exchanges and understanding among departments, and stimulate the synergy and
creativity of the team. The Bank completed the first “U Exchange Program” in 2023, with 69 person-times of cross-
departmental exchanges.

Employees

As at the end of the reporting period, the Bank had a total of 197,146 employees, among which, 181,964 were contract
employees (including 1,714 in majority-owned subsidiaries), and 15,182 were from labor dispatch agencies. The number
of retired employees of the Bank was 28,056. In terms of talent quantity, the Bank kept its personnel in a reasonable size,
and shifted the idea of talent allocation from quantity growth to improving individual efficiency. In terms of talent quality,
the Bank steadily improved the number of employees with high qualifications, and the proportion of employees with a
bachelor’'s degree or above in the Bank continued to increase, with a rise of 5.38 percentage points over the past three
years. In terms of talent structure, the position distribution was more reasonable, and more human resources flew to core
businesses and front-line marketing positions in an orderly manner.

The Bank values gender diversity among employees. As at the end of the reporting period, the proportion of male
employees and female employees (including senior management members) of the Bank was approximately 40.49% and
59.51%, respectively. The composition of the Bank’s workforce meets relevant requirements and is expected to maintain
at a reasonable level of gender diversity.
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1 The Bank’s employees refer to contract employees of the Bank (including those at its majority-owned subsidiaries).
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Institution Management

The Head Office of the Bank is located in Beijing, being the hub for decision-making and management of the Bank. The
Bank has established tier-1 branches in the capital cities of provinces, autonomous regions, municipalities, and cities with
independent planning status. As the operation management center within the corresponding regions, tier-1 branches are
responsible for managing all sub-branches in their respective areas and directly report to the Head Office. Tier-2 branches
are generally set up in the prefecture-level cities in provinces and autonomous regions. In addition to their operation
management functions, tier-2 branches are also responsible for managing subordinate branches and sub-branches,
and report to the tier-1 branches in their respective regions. Tier-1 sub-branches primarily undertake the functions of
business operation and outlet management, and report to their supervisory tier-2 branches. Tier-2 sub-branches primarily

undertake the function of business operation.

During the reporting period, the Bank continued to optimize its organizational structure to better support the
implementation of its strategies and business development. A Money Laundering Risk Management Committee was set up
under the senior management of the Head Office to enhance the governance structure for money laundering risks across
the Bank. It optimized and adjusted the organizational structure of the IT segment at the Head Office, and renamed the
Information Technology Management Committee under the senior management as the Financial Technology Committee.
The Information Technology Management Department and the Financial Technology Innovation Department were
merged as the Financial Technology Department. The Data Center was renamed as the Operations Data Center to propel
the transformation of the technology governance structure and strengthen the leading role of information technology in
overall coordination. It carried out pilot projects of personnel optimization with tier-2 branches, optimized institutional
setting and staffing in tier-2 branches, and further aligned personnel allocation with business needs and grassroots

institutions.

As at the end of the reporting period, the Bank had 8,007 institutions, including the Head Office, 36 tier-1 branches, 324

tier-2 branches, 2,221 tier-1 sub-branches, 5,422 tier-2 sub-branches and others, and three majority-owned subsidiaries.

The Bank’s Branches, Sub-Branches and Employees by Geographical Region and Asset Size

In RMB million, except for percentages or otherwise stated

Percentage!” Number of Percentage Number of Percentage
Region Asset size (%) institutions (%) employees (%)
Head Office 10,795,641 39.32 1 0.01 8,272 4,55
Yangtze River Delta 2,682,621 9.77 904 11.29 20,522 11.28
Pearl River Delta 1,729,157 6.30 725 9.05 18,872 10.37
Bohai Rim 2,681,622 9.77 1,120 13.99 26,526 14.58
Central China 5,009,135 18.25 2,371 29.61 46,334 25.46
Western China 3,349,694 12.20 2,104 26.28 41,761 22.95
Northeastern China 1,205,801 4.39 782 9.77 19,677 10.81
Total 15,726,631? 100.00 8,007 100.00 181,964 100.00

Note (1):  The proportion of total assets in each region is calculated based on the aggregated data before offsetting.
Note (2):  Total assets are the amount after internal offset, and the offset amount is RMB11,727,040 million.
Note (3):  Other than the number of institutions disclosed above, the Bank has one Credit Card Center as a specialized institution.
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> Risk Management Organizational
Structure

The Board of Directors assumes ultimate responsibilities
for comprehensive risk management. It is responsible for
establishing the risk culture; formulating and approving
risk management strategies; setting and approving the
risk appetite and ensuring the establishment of risk
limits; reviewing and approving major risk management
policies and procedures; monitoring comprehensive risk
management implemented by the senior management;
reviewing comprehensive risk management reports;
reviewing and approving disclosure of comprehensive
risks and various significant risks; appointing Chief Risk
Officer; and performing other duties related to risk

management.

The Board of Supervisors assumes the responsibilities for
supervising the comprehensive risk management, and is
responsible for supervising and inspecting the Board of
Directors and the senior management in fulfilling their
duties of risk management and urging them to make

rectifications.
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The senior management assumes the responsibilities for
the implementation of comprehensive risk management
and executes the Board’s resolutions. It is responsible
for setting up the operation and management structure
in line with the requirements of comprehensive risk
management, clarifying division of responsibilities among
functional departments responsible for comprehensive
risk management, business departments and other
departments in risk management, establishing an
operational mechanism with effective coordination and
balanced power across departments, and formulating a
clear execution and accountability mechanism to ensure
adequate communication and effective implementation
of risk management strategies, risk appetite and risk
limits. It sets risk limits according to risk appetite
determined by the Board of Directors, including but not
limited to dimensions such as industry, region, customer,
product, etc. It also formulates risk management policies
and procedures, evaluates them regularly and adjusts
them when necessary. It assesses overall risks and the
management of various material risks, and reports to the
Board of Directors. It establishes a sound management
information system and a data quality control mechanism,
oversees breaches of risk appetite, risk limits, and
violations of risk management policies and procedures,
and deals with them under authorization of the Board
of Directors. It also assumes other responsibilities of risk

management.
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Risk Management

Risk Management Organizational Structure
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Three Lines of Defense

The Bank kept improving the “three lines of defense” for
internal control, classified major risks such as credit risk,
market risk and operational risk, etc., and incorporated
all institutions and departments into the “three lines of

defense”.

The first line of defense refers to the business
management departments, tier-1 and tier-2 sub-branches,
and agency business institutions associated with relevant
risks, all of which bear the primary responsibilities for
risk prevention and control. The second line of defense
refers to risk management departments, internal control
and compliance departments, and leading management
departments for relevant risks, which are responsible for
coordinating, supervising and reviewing the work related
to risk and internal control. The third line of defense refers
to the audit and the discipline inspection departments

which supervise the first and second lines of defense.

» Comprehensive Risk Management

In 2023, the Bank earnestly carried through the decisions
and plans of the CPC Central Committee, stringently
implemented a prudent and sound risk appetite, and
constantly enhanced its capabilities in early identification,
early warning, early exposure and early disposal of risks.
It pressed ahead with the transformation toward digital
and intensive risk management, and continuously and
effectively forestalled and defused risks in key areas to
empower high-quality business development. During
the reporting period, the Bank maintained a sound risk

situation overall with all risk indicators remaining stable.
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The Bank deepened the building of the risk management
framework. It continuously improved its comprehensive
risk management framework which covers all aspects,
the whole process and all employees, enhanced the
long-term risk reporting mechanism for its subsidiaries,
and strengthened risk assessment and performance
appraisal. The Bank proactively implemented the new
rules on capital management, continuously promoted
the development of the advanced approaches for
capital management, and deepened application of
internal ratings-based approaches to comprehensively
improve the capital measurement capability. It built a
solid foundation for the risk data system, completed the
initial development of a big data foundation for financial
risks, and put into operation the comprehensive risk
management system. The Bank leveraged the empowering
role of intelligent technology in risk control. It expanded
the dimensions of customer profiles, facilitated the
expansion of customer products, and supported intensive
operation of retail credit. It enhanced the application
of comprehensive risk digitalization indicator tools, and
supported forward-looking and process management of
risks. The Bank expanded the application of intelligent
tools for legal affairs, compliance and consumer protection
to raise the quality and efficiency of risk management
throughout the Bank. It also enhanced its professional
capability for risk control. It strengthened risk tracking and
monitoring in key areas, and promoted the mechanism
for a follow-up review of risk-prone businesses. The Bank
created and improved compliance profiles of institutions
and employees, enhanced management over violations,
promoted rigid control by systems, and implemented the
requirements of ensuring effective management of key

personnel and critical systems.



Overview

Risk Management

Risk Appetite

Risk appetite is the type and level of risks that the Bank
is willing to bear while pursuing its strategic business
objectives, and is decided by the Board of Directors. It
represents a balance among income, capital and risk, and
enables the Bank to undertake the risk level compatible
with its business strategies and management capabilities

and to create value through risk management.

The Bank upheld a prudent and sound risk appetite,
pursued the long-term balance of stabilizing growth and
preventing risk, closely followed changes in internal and
external risk environment, focused on risk control in key
fields, and set management objectives against all types of
major risks in line with the strategic positioning adopted
by the Bank Group, the Bank and its subsidiaries. In doing
so, it aimed to make sure that risks are generally under
control and continuously support the stable operation and

high-quality development of all businesses.

Intelligent Risk Control

The Bank continuously promoted the digital
transformation of risk management, and significantly
enhanced the capability of intelligent risk control. It
built the digital risk control system, supported data-
driven full-process credit extension management,
and realized early identification, early warning, early
exposure and early disposal for risk management. In
terms of risk control for retail banking businesses,
the Bank innovatively introduced a proactive credit
extension model directly operated by the Head Office,
and achieved end-to-end intelligent operation of retail

banking. In terms of risk control for non-retail banking
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businesses, the Bank established a “technology flow”
evaluation system for tech companies, and constantly
improved the Bank’s capabilities of providing services
and creating value in the technology finance area. In
terms of credit approval, the Bank deployed online
paperless review and approval, widely connected internal
and external data, realized semi-automatic report
generation, and embedded intelligent credit review
and analysis tools into the operation process to build a
new data-driven credit approval and decision-making
model with “machine assistance + expert decision-
making”, which effectively improved the efficiency and
accuracy of approval and decision-making process. In
terms of fraud risks, the Bank continuously optimized
the enterprise-level fraud risk management framework,
timely monitored and proactively forestalled risks of
credit fraud, telecommunications fraud and online
fraud to ensure the security of credit, accounts and
transactions. In terms of monitoring and early warning,
the Bank continued to improve the functions of the
“Jinjing” (Gold Eye) system, enriched the intelligent
control rules, and built multi-dimensional intelligent
monitoring to facilitate the panoramic analysis of the
credit risk of the group and corporate customers’ credit
business. In the field of consumer protection, the Bank
explored intelligent applications for consumer protection,
developed an intelligent model for classifying complaint
issues based on large-scale modeling, and enabled
automated statistical analysis and intelligent monitoring
of consumer protection complaints management. It
launched and promoted the consumer protection-related
complaint text analysis model and the supplementary

intelligent tool for consumer protection examination,



and effectively improved the pre-examination and
post-analysis capabilities for consumer protection
management. In terms of internal control and compliance,
the Bank established compliance profiles of institutions
and employees, improved the monitoring model system
of the compliance management system, optimized
the risk verification mechanism, and strengthened the
intelligent limits on high-risk institutions and personnel.
The Bank optimized institutional building, developed an
auxiliary compliance review platform, and enhanced the
effectiveness of compliance review in terms of digitization
and intelligence. In terms of anti-money laundering, the
Bank optimized the rule-based and algorithm-based
suspicious transaction monitoring models, initiated a
project for anti-money laundering data governance, and
improved quality of system tools and data to support
money laundering risk management. In the field of the
intelligent risk control infrastructure, the Bank completed
the initial development of a big data foundation for
financial risks, and put into operation the comprehensive
risk management system, providing fundamental support
for intelligent application of risk management at the Head

Office and branches.

Advanced Approaches for Capital Management
The Bank continuously deepened the application and
development of advanced approaches, and drove the
enhancement of its operation and management. In
compliance with the latest requirements of the Capital
Rules for Commercial Banks and according to the changes
in internal and external environment, the Bank carried

out a new round of risk parameter calibration and model
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iteration optimization to enhance the discriminative
ability, prudence, and accuracy of the models. It
upgraded the risk data mart, strengthened the prudential
management of default determination, continuously
pushed forward the accumulation of various rating data
and system improvement, and made consistent efforts in

the building of fundamental risk management capabilities.

During the reporting period, the Bank continuously pushed
forward the in-depth application of the instruments of
advanced approaches. It optimized the mechanism of
dynamic rating update, and integrated system warning
prompts with rating management to improve the
timeliness of risk identification. It continued to deepen the
application of internal ratings-based approach in areas of
pre-lending access, limit management, and differentiated
post-lending management for non-retail loans to improve
the management quality and efficiency in key links of credit
extension. The Bank continued to optimize the application
strategies for internal ratings-based approach of retail
banking, which played an important role in automatic
review and approval, differentiated warning and early
collection of loans, to improve the efficiency of centralized
retail operations within the Bank. It made full use of internal
rating risk parameters in the internal management such as
the transmission of the Bank’s risk appetite, differentiated
risk pricing, impairment allowance management, economic
capital measurement, and limit allocation, and deepened
the use of RAROC, EVA (economic value added) and other
indicators in the assessment of institutions and business
lines to guide the whole Bank to improve the efficiency of

capital use.
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Risk Management

Anti-fraud Platform — Building an Integrated Fraud Risk Prevention and Control Shield with Fusion
of Digital and Intelligent Technologies

= Column

The Bank relied on digital technology to support business development, and by leveraging cutting-edge technologies and utilizing rule-
based model strategies as the foundation, comprehensively applied technologies such as stream computing, graph computing, decision
engines, machine learning and graph databases to develop an enterprise-level intelligent anti-fraud platform that combines pre-detection,
real-time intervention and post-analysis capabilities.

Continuously “Safeguarding the Bank through Risk Management” to Improve Digital Risk Control Capability
Firstly, comprehensively applying various new technologies to facilitate the transformation and upgrading of risk control strategies.
The Bank accelerated the integration of a wide range of cutting-edge technologies such as big data, cloud computing and artificial
intelligence with traditional financial business scenarios, and focused on “data + scenarios + technology” as a breakthrough point to drive
the transformation of fraud prevention and control strategies from “standalone” strategy to an integrated strategy of “in-depth defense’,
which significantly improved the efficiency of detecting, monitoring, analyzing, controlling fraud risks, and realized refined, centralized and
intelligent risk management.

Secondly, developing a risk gradient defense system to improve the closed-loop anti-fraud ecosystem. Relying on technology
capabilities, the Bank continued to expand service channels and business lines. A gradient defense system comprising pre-customer
onboarding control, real-time transaction warning and interception, post-event tracing and crackdown, case accumulation, as well as risk
analysis has been devised and deployed to evaluate different types of fraud risks on an all-round basis and ensure the security of customer
funds throughout the entire process.

Thirdly, deepening research on intelligent modeling to enhance the efficiency of risk monitoring in multiple dimensions. Relying on
the graph neural networks and other technologies, the Bank is able to capture complex relationships and non-linear features among data,
thereby improving its abilities to detect potential fraudulent transactions. It has built a multi-dimensional intelligent monitoring system for
the entire lifecycle of various businesses of the Bank, including personal banking, corporate finance, digital currency, credit cards, consumer
credit, internet finance, operations management in an all-round manner. The system enables it to detect all kinds of risks, including
known frauds with high frequency and low losses, unknown frauds with medium frequency and losses, as well as high-risk frauds with low
frequency but material losses by premeditated fraud gangs.
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Enhancing the Effectiveness of Risk Prevention and Control and Safeguarding Customer Funds’
Security

Firstly, the Bank established an automatic identification mechanism for suspicious transactions and strengthened
the ability to prevent and control account risks. Taking the “intelligent risk identification model + customer risk
profile + risk device identification” as the direction from a network perspective, the Bank continued to develop
core capabilities such as enterprise-level blacklist database, feature libraries, device fingerprints, facial recognition,
rule engines, decision engines and query engines, etc. so as to realize the automatic identification of suspicious
transactions and the automatic implementation of risk strategies and safeguard customer funds’ security with a risk
control mechanism that is smarter, more efficient and more accurate.

Secondly, the Bank focused on optimizing customer experience through precise prevention and control. The
Bank customized customer risk profiles at the bank-wide level, established a panoramic risk view, adopted distinctive
and differentiated intelligent prevention and control methods for different types of risk customer groups, effectively
improved the breadth, accuracy and depth of fraud risk identification, and continuously explored the optimal
balance between risk prevention and control and business development to enable the ultimate experience of
“mobile banking + intelligent risk control + personalized services” while safeguarding customer funds’ security.

Thirdly, the Bank worked to ensure that anti-fraud efforts were made in a holistic way and formed a collaborative
system of collective prevention and governance. The Bank strengthened information sharing, mobilized the efforts
of departments, established a mechanism for cross-institutional information exchange on prevention and control,
and jointly developed an integrated anti-fraud approach in the financial sector. It has also established omni-channel,
multi-dimensional risk list management system and a cross-institutional risk monitoring system. This helped achieve
coordination between the Head Office and branches, collaboration between China Post Group and the Bank, and
cross-institutional coordination to enhance the effectiveness of joint prevention of anti-fraud and promote the
implementation and refinement of efforts to combat the fund chain of telecommunications and online fraud.

With data as the foundation and models as the core, the anti-fraud platform always adheres to the corporate values
of embracing change and continuous innovation. It focuses on intelligent risk control scenarios, and persists in
exploring cutting-edge technologies. By continuously optimizing anti-fraud features, rules and models, it enhances
fraud detection, ensures regulatory compliance, reduces operating costs, and minimizes fraud losses. This effectively
supports the high-quality business development across the Bank. Relevant achievements have been recognized with
honors such as the Cloud Eagle Award and the Innovative Case in the Enterprise Digital Transformation Forum of
CIFTIS.
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The project of “Digital and Intelligent Risk PSBC was honored for the “Innovative Case of Enterprise-level
Control Platform” of PSBC was selected for Intelligent Anti-fraud Platform”.
the Cloud Eagle excellent project library
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Risk Management

> Credit Risk

Credit risk refers to the risk of loss that may arise from the
default by, or downgrade of credit rating or weakened
capability to fulfill contractual obligations of an obligor or
counterparty. The Bank is exposed to credit risk primarily
through its loans, treasury business (including deposits
and placements with banks, financial assets held under
resale agreements, investments in corporate bonds and
financial bonds, interbank investment, etc.) and off-
balance sheet credit businesses (including guarantees,

commitments, etc.).

The organizational system of the Bank on credit risk
management is as follows: the Board of Directors
undertakes the ultimate responsibilities for credit risk
management, and the Board of Supervisors undertakes the
supervisory responsibilities for credit risk management.
The senior management undertakes the responsibilities
for implementation of credit risk management, and
is responsible for the implementation of resolutions
approved by the Board of Directors on credit risk. Under
the senior management, the Risk Management Committee
and Credit Business Approval Committee are responsible
for credit risk management and approving credits within
the scope of authorization respectively. Each business
department shall bear the primary responsibility for credit
risk prevention and control, and implement policies,
standards and requirements of credit risk management
in its field of business in accordance with the division
of functions; departments of credit management, risk
management, credit approval, internal control and

compliance, legal affairs and others are responsible for

Corporate Governance Financial Statements and Others

the overall planning, supervision and review of credit
risk prevention and control, among which the Credit
Management Department is the leading department of
credit risk management, and internal audit department
exercises independent and objective supervision of the

performance of duties in credit risk management.

Credit Risk Management

Improving management mechanism and stimulating
driving force for development

The Bank continued to optimize credit policies, and
improved the industry research mechanism, in a bid to
lead the high-quality development of credit businesses.
It developed and upgraded four lists of target marketing
customers for emerging industries, proactively promoted
the application of research results, and 42.09% of
potential credit customers on the lists were successfully
converted to actual customers. It fully optimized and
promoted the “future-oriented” model, promoted the
transformation of the risk management from passive
credit review to considering risks first in leading business
development, and facilitated the successful launch of the
lead bank model. In 2023, the Bank approved business for
nearly 10,000 customers by using the “future-oriented”
model, with the amount exceeding RMB1.3 trillion. The
Bank established the Group-wide consolidated credit
management mechanism, and expanded the scope of
unified credit extension management. It deepened the
unified credit extension management system for retail
banking, carried out management of unified credit
extension exposure limit for small enterprise customers
in an innovative manner, and effectively supported high-

quality business development.



Strengthening joint risk prevention and control to
firmly guard against risks

The Bank strengthened joint risk prevention and
control for asset quality, pushed forward the successful
implementation of new rules on asset classification,
improved the list-based management mechanism for
large-value corporate customers, took precautionary
measures against unexpected large exposures, established
the list-based management mechanism for retail banking
businesses, strictly prevented concentrated retail risks,
and cemented the foundation for asset quality. The Bank
advanced the building of the monitoring and warning
systems, enriched data access, and upgraded the warning
rule model. It strengthened risk prevention and control
in real estate, local financing platforms and other areas,
monitored and found out the real situations dynamically,
carried out investigation in key areas and adopted
policies by category. The Bank conducted comprehensive
governance for guarantee management, and fully
improved the guarantee management capabilities. It
promoted the follow-up review mechanism for risk-prone
large-value business and improved its capabilities of
proactive ex-ante prevention. It also made solid progress
in risk evaluation and tracking of key retail products,
promoted the optimization of risk control strategies and

processes.

Strengthening NPA disposal and focusing on
improving quality and efficiency

In 2023, the Bank carried out an intensive campaign
themed “silt removal to reinforce the dike”, in which it
took intensive and digitalized transformation as a major
task, continued to strengthen the building of asset
preservation capability and bolster the contribution of
asset preservation to value creation. As at the end of
the reporting period, the Bank disposed of a total of
RMB62,573 million of on- and off-balance-sheet principal

and interest on non-performing loans, representing a
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year-on-year increase of 17.37%, among which, RMB26,519
million of principal and interest was from cash collection,
RMB19,403 million of principal and interest from bad
debt write-offs, RMB1,233 million of principal and interest
from disposal of NPA by way of settling debts with assets,
RMB13,141 million by NPA securitization, and RMB2,277

million from other means.

Reinforcing the empowering capability of FinTech,
and making innovations in management modes

The Bank made innovations in credit management modes
to improve the efficiency of credit extension, and fully
promoted the paperless and asset-light services for
corporate credit business covering all institutions, entire
product lines and whole processes. It continued to improve
the function of “Jinjing” (Gold Eye) system, expanded
intelligent monitoring capabilities, enriched intelligent
control rules, and built a multi-dimensional intelligent
monitoring system covering industries, regions, institutions,
customers and processes to support the panoramic analysis
of credit business risks for group customers and corporate
customers. The Bank optimized the “Jindun” (Gold Shield)
system and completed corresponding reform to support
new rules on asset classification. It also improved the
asset quality monitoring timeliness to “t+1”, and carried
out unified and rule-based management for manual
classification of financial assets. Credit report inquiry
function was launched on over 50,000 ITMs to provide
individuals and enterprises with a convenient way to
inquire about their credit reports on a self-service basis,
guide information owners to pay attention to their own
credit status and enhance their awareness of integrity, thus
helping to improve the construction of the credit system. It
accelerated the digital transformation of NPA management,
launched “Jinwei” (Gold Guard), a new generation NPA
management system, and stepped up efforts to build an

intelligent collection platform across the Bank.
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S Establishing “Jindun” (Gold Shield) System to Ensure Asset Quality and Improve Digitalized Risk Control

To accelerate the advancement of digital transformation and hold the bottom line of credit risk prevention and control, the Bank established
“Jindun” (Gold Shield) asset quality management system which integrates the asset quality management from all perspectives with the full-
process management of risk classification. The system adopts a microservices architecture, applies multiple computing power engines and
the technology of separating big data storage and compute, and can store and compute tens of billions of asset quality data entries across
the Bank. It allows sub-second query and display of hundreds of millions level data, and develops various application scenarios including
centralized monitoring & analysis and intelligent control of asset quality in an innovative manner. The system realizes unified data assets,
unified analysis visuality, and unified process control centered on asset quality management, and enables the comprehensive, unified and
standard management of risk classification of personal and corporate, on- and off-balance-sheet, credit and non-credit businesses. It also
supports intelligent monitoring, intelligent reporting, intelligent analysis and intelligent prediction of asset quality. Besides, the system
allows the entire-process business handling in an innovative manner, including packaging, unpacking, consolidated processing within
the system, and consolidated approval via short messages, makes the operation process more efficient and convenient, and achieves
breakthroughs in multiple aspects of asset quality management.

Since its launch, “Jindun” (Gold Shield) asset quality management system has fully leveraged the role of financial technology in promoting
the transformation of intelligent risk control in banks, and achieved dual improvements in credit risk management efficiency and
effectiveness, helping the Bank to maintain outstanding asset quality.
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Credit Risk Analysis'

Non-Performing Loans Structure by Collateral

In RMB million, except for percentages

December 31, 2023

December 31, 2022

Item Amount Percentage (%)" Amount Percentage (%)"
Unsecured loans 20,746 30.75 19,858 32.70
Guaranteed loans®? 7,184 10.65 8,158 13.43
Loans secured by mortgages?® 38,353 56.85 31,206 51.38
Loans secured by pledges?® 1,177 1.75 1,514 2.49
Discounted bills = = - -
Total 67,460 100.00 60,736 100.00

Note (1):  Calculated by dividing the balance of non-performing loans secured by each type of collateral by total non-performing loans.

Note (2):  Represents the total amount of loans fully or partially secured by collateral in each category. If a loan is secured by more than

one form of collateral, the classification would be based on the primary form.

Note (3):  Represents loans secured by assets that are still under the possession of the borrower, and mainly includes loans secured by

buildings and fixtures, land use rights, machinery, equipment and vehicles.

Note (4):  Represents loans secured by possession of or registration as the holder of assets, which mainly include moveable property,

certificates of deposit, financial instruments, intellectual property rights and the rights to obtain future cash flows.

Aging Analysis of Overdue Loan Structure

In RMB million, except for percentages

December 31, 2023

December 31, 2022

Percentage of

Percentage of

Item Amount total loans (%) Amount  total loans (%)
Overdue for 1 to 90 days 25,826 0.32 25,237 0.35
Overdue for 91 to 180 days 13,046 0.16 11,744 0.16
Overdue for 181 days to 1 year 15,293 0.19 12,566 0.18
Overdue for 1 to 3 years 16,814 0.21 12,574 0.18
Overdue for over 3 years 3,050 0.03 6,031 0.08
Total 74,029 0.91 68,152 0.95
1 The total loans to customers in the “Credit Risk Analysis” section in this report exclude accrued interest.

Postal Savings Bank of China Co,, Ltd. | 2023 Annual Report



Overview Corporate Governance Financial Statements and Others

Risk Management

Overdue Loans to Customers by Geographical Region

In RMB million, except for percentages

December 31, 2023

December 31, 2022

Item Amount Percentage (%) Amount Percentage (%)
Head Office 5,777 7.80 5,898 8.65
Yangtze River Delta 13,184 17.81 12,126 17.79
Pearl River Delta 9,256 12.50 7,123 10.45
Bohai Rim 8,875 11.99 7,387 10.84
Central China 17,051 23.04 16,259 23.86
Western China 15,619 21.10 15,028 22.05
Northeastern China 4,267 5.76 4,331 6.36
Total 74,029 100.00 68,152 100.00
Loan Concentration
In RMB million, except for percentages
Top ten single Percentage of Percentage of
borrowers Industry Amount total loans (%) net capital (%)"
Borrower A®@ Transportation, storage and postal services 155,479 1.91 13.34
Borrower B Transportation, storage and postal services 18,078 0.22 1.55
Borrower C Transportation, storage and postal services 14,644 0.18 1.26
Borrower D Mining 13,340 0.16 1.14
Borrower E Transportation, storage and postal services 13,202 0.16 1.13
Borrower F Transportation, storage and postal services 12,404 0.15 1.06
Borrower G Transportation, storage and postal services 12,074 0.15 1.04
Borrower H Transportation, storage and postal services 10,621 0.13 0.91
Borrower | Manufacturing 10,324 0.13 0.89
Borrower J Leasing and commercial services 9,458 0.12 0.81

Note (1):  Represents loan balances as a percentage of the Bank's net capital, calculated in accordance with the requirements of the

Capital Rules for Commercial Banks (Provisional).

Note (2):  Percentage of loans to the largest single borrower = balance of loans to the largest borrower/net capital x 100%. The largest

borrower refers to the customer with the highest balance of loans at the period end. As at the end of the reporting period,

China State Railway Group Co., Ltd. was the Bank’s largest single borrower. The outstanding loan balance with China State

Railway Group Co., Ltd. was RMB155,479 million, accounting for 13.34% of the Bank’s net capital. The credit line the Bank

extended to China State Railway Group Co., Ltd. includes the legacy credit line of RMB240 billion which was approved by the

relevant regulatory authorities. As at the end of the reporting period, the outstanding loan balance under such credit line
for China State Railway Group Co., Ltd. was RMB139.5 billion. After deduction of this RMB139.5 billion, the Bank’s balance of
loans to China State Railway Group Co., Ltd. accounts for 1.37% of the Bank’s net capital.



Distribution of Loans by Five-Category Classification
In RMB million, except for percentages

December 31, 2023 December 31, 2022
Item Amount Percentage (%) Amount Percentage (%)
Normal 8,005,761 98.49 7,089,573 98.60
Special mention 54,952 0.68 40,067 0.56
Non-performing loans 67,460 0.83 60,736 0.84
Substandard 22,019 0.27 20,415 0.28
Doubtful 16,420 0.20 15,739 0.22
Loss 29,021 0.36 24,582 0.34
Total 8,128,173 100.00 7,190,376 100.00

As at the end of the reporting period, the Bank’s non-performing loan balance amounted to RMB67,460 million,
representing an increase of RMB6,724 million compared with the prior year-end. The non-performing loan ratio was 0.83%,
representing a decrease of 0.01 percentage point compared with the prior year-end. The balance of special mention
loans amounted to RMB54,952 million, representing an increase of RMB14,885 million compared with the prior year-end.
Special mention loan ratio was 0.68%, representing an increase of 0.12 percentage point compared with the prior year-
end. The ratio of special mention and non-performing loans was 1.51%, representing an increase of 0.11 percentage point
compared with the prior year-end.

Distribution of Non-Performing Loans by Product Type
In RMB million, except for percentages

December 31, 2023 December 31, 2022

Non- Non-

Non- performing Non- performing

performing  Percentage loanratio performing Percentage loan ratio

Item loan balance (%) (%)™ loan balance (%) (%)™
Personal loans
Consumer loans

Residential mortgage loans 12,793 18.96 0.55 12,878 21.20 0.57

Other consumer loans 9,391 13.92 1.81 9,913 16.32 2.14

Personal micro loans 23,946 35.50 1.73 19,203 31.62 1.70

Credit card overdrafts and others 3,745 5.55 1.71 3,541 5.83 1.95

Subtotal 49,875 73.93 1.12 45,535 74.97 1.13

Corporate loans

Corporate loans? 10,372 15.38 0.47 8,883 14.63 0.47

Small business loans 6,102 9.04 1.05 5,039 8.30 1.12

Trade finance 1,111 1.65 0.26 1,279 2.10 0.38

Subtotal 17,585 26.07 0.55 15,201 25.03 0.57

Discounted bills - - - - - -

Total 67,460 100.00 0.83 60,736 100.00 0.84

Note (1): Calculated by dividing the balance of non-performing loans in each product type by total loans in that product type.
Note (2): Consist of general corporate loans and advances.
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%

Item December 31, 2023 December 31, 2022 Increase/(decrease)
Personal loans
Consumer loans
Residential mortgage loans 0.44 0.41 0.03
Other consumer loans 2.74 3.07 (0.33)
Personal micro loans 1.93 1.80 0.13
Credit card overdrafts and others 3.54 3.34 0.20
Subtotal 1.26 1.24 0.02
Corporate loans
Corporate loans®? 0.37 0.25 0.12
Small business loans 1.22 1.21 0.01
Trade finance 0.00 0.41 (0.41)
Subtotal 0.42 0.42 0.00
Discounted bills - - -
Total 0.85 0.85 0.00

Note (1):  Calculated by dividing the sum of difference between the NPL balance at the end of the period and the NPL balance at the

beginning of the period of each product category and the amount collected, disposed of and adjusted upwards during the

period by the total amount of loans at the beginning of the period of that product category. The data for the comparative

period has been restated.

Note (2):  Consist of general corporate loans and advances.

Distribution of Non-Performing Loans by Geographical Region

In RMB million, except for percentages

December 31, 2023

December 31, 2022

Item Amount Percentage (%) Amount Percentage (%)
Head Office 3,747 5.55 3,543 5.83
Yangtze River Delta 11,680 17.31 10,830 17.83
Pearl River Delta 8,190 12.14 5,926 9.76
Bohai Rim 8,024 11.90 6,374 10.49
Central China 16,905 25.06 16,164 26.62
Western China 15,244 22.60 13,801 22.72
Northeastern China 3,670 5.44 4,098 6.75
Total 67,460 100.00 60,736 100.00




Domestic Non-Performing Corporate Loans by Industry

In RMB million, except for percentages

December 31, 2023 December 31, 2022
Non-performing Non-performing

Item Amount loan ratio (%) Amount loan ratio (%)
Transportation, storage and

postal services 576 0.07 2,272 0.29
Manufacturing 3,332 0.65 3,261 0.80
Production and supply of electricity,

heating, gas and water 224 0.08 231 0.09
Financial services - - - -
Wholesale and retail 2,272 0.96 3,039 1.70
Construction 993 0.50 641 0.41
Real estate 6,191 2.45 3,059 1.45
Mining 4 0.00 12 0.02
Water conservancy, environmental

and public facilities management 1,726 0.93 489 0.38
Leasing and commercial services 1,539 0.74 917 0.62
Agriculture, forestry, animal

husbandry and fishery 163 0.54 807 5.57
Information transmission, computer

services and software 150 0.76 70 0.55
Accommodation and catering 109 1.45 153 3.64
Residential services and other services 79 1.79 67 1.89
Culture, sports and entertainment 38 0.22 43 0.35
Others" 189 0.50 140 0.46
Total 17,585 0.55 15,201 0.57

Note (1): Mainly include education, scientific research and technical services, health and social security, etc.
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Movements of Allowance for Impairment Losses on Loans

Corporate Governance

Allowance for Impairment Losses of Customer Loans at Amortized Cost

Financial Statements and Others

In RMB million
December 31, 2023
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3

Item 12-month ECL Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL Total
Loss allowance as at January 1, 2023 169,911 9,087 53,725 232,723
Transfers:

Transfer to stage 1 2,760 (1,548) (1,212) -

Transfer to stage 2 (4,113) 6,566 (2,453) -

Transfer to stage 3 (6,916) (2,452) 9,368 -
Changes of ECL arising from

transfer of stages (1,936) 5,069 33,019 36,152
Financial assets derecognized

or settled during the period (59,385) (3,325) (12,817) (75,527)
New financial assets originated

or purchased 71,876 - 168 72,044
Remeasurement (13,957) (706) 2,322 (12,341)
Write-offs - - (19,403) (19,403)
Loss allowance as at December 31, 2023 158,240 12,691 62,717 233,648

Allowance for Impairment Losses of Customer Loans at Fair Value Through Other Comprehensive Income

In RMB million
December 31, 2023
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3

Item 12-month ECL Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL Total
Loss allowance as at January 1, 2023 1,253 1 168 1,422
Transfers:

Transfer to stage 1 - - - -

Transfer to stage 2 (1) 1 - -

Transfer to stage 3 - - - -
Changes of ECL arising from

transfer of stages - - - -
Financial assets derecognized

or settled during the period (1,253) (1) (168) (1,422)
New financial assets originated

or purchased 819 - - 819
Remeasurement - - - -
Write-offs - - - -
Loss allowance as at December 31, 2023 818 1 - 819

Large Exposure Management

In strict accordance with the requirements of Rules on Large Exposure of Commercial Banks, the Bank bolstered

information system support for large risk exposure management, improved the monitoring and early warning

management system for large exposure, strengthened control of customer concentration risk, and tightened management

of large exposure through consolidation of financial statements, to continuously improve refined management

capabilities of credit risk.



> Market Risk

Market risk refers to the risk of losses in the Bank’s on-
and off-balance sheet businesses arising from adverse
movements in market prices (including interest rate,
exchange rate, stock price and commodity price). The
major market risks that the Bank is exposed to include

interest rate risk and exchange rate risk.

The Bank strictly followed the relevant regulatory
requirements on market risk management and established
a market risk management framework commensurate
with the nature, scale and complexity of the Bank's
businesses. The Board of Directors undertakes the
ultimate responsibilities for overseeing the market risk
management; the senior management is responsible for
formulating, periodically reviewing and monitoring the
implementation of the market risk management policies
and procedures; the Risk Management Department is
responsible for conducting market risk management,
the Asset and Liability Management Department is
responsible for managing the interest rate and exchange
rate risk in banking book, and each business department
is responsible for the market risk management in its field

of business in accordance with the division of functions.

The Bank actively responded to fluctuations in the
external financial markets, continuously optimized market
risk management tools and management and control
mechanisms, and strengthened market risk monitoring
and analysis at the Group level. During the reporting
period, the Bank’s market risks were generally under

control.

Classification of Trading Book and Banking
Book

The Bank classifies on- and off-balance sheet assets and
liabilities into banking book and trading book. The trading
book includes financial instruments, foreign exchange and
commodity positions held by the Bank for the purposes of
trading or hedging the risks of other items in the trading

book as well as other instruments identified by the NFRA.
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Except for instruments in the trading book, all other

instruments are included in the banking book.

Market Risk Management for Trading Book

The Bank manages the market risk of trading book
by adopting multiple methods including sensitivity
analysis, exposure analysis, profit or loss analysis, limit

management, stress testing, etc.

During the reporting period, the Bank continued to
strengthen the management of risks in the treasury
business market, formulated the annual market risk limit
plan, and refined the portfolio limit of trading strategies.
It kept a close eye on fluctuations in the external financial
market, and improved the emergency management
mechanism of market risk. The Bank pushed forward
the digital transformation of market risk management,
improved functions of the treasury business risk
monitoring system, strengthened monitoring, reporting
and alerting, and steadily promoted the comprehensive
implementation of the market risk capital measurement

rules under the new rules on capital management.

Market Risk Management for Banking Book

Management of Interest Rate Risk in Banking Book
Interest rate risk refers to the risk that causes losses to the
economic value of books and overall earnings of banks
due to adverse changes in interest rate and maturity
structure, etc. The interest rate risk in the Bank’s banking
book mainly arises from the mismatch between the
repricing periods of assets and liabilities as well as the

inconsistent changes in their pricing basis.

The Bank mainly carried out management of interest rate
risk in the banking book through repricing gap analysis,
net interest income and economic value sensitivity
analysis, limit management, duration management, stress
testing, proactive adjustment of asset-liability structure
and other methods. During the reporting period, the
Bank implemented a prudent management strategy for
interest rate risk in the banking book, paid close attention

to changes in market interest rates and interest rate risk
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events in the domestic and overseas banking sectors, and strengthened the limit control of key businesses. It optimized
the maturity structure of assets and liabilities, struck a balance between volume and price, and enriched the risk
management toolbox, thereby continuously improving the ability to actively control and mitigate interest rate risk. During
the reporting period, the overall interest rate risk of the Bank’s banking book remained stable, and all risk indicators met

the regulatory requirements.

Interest Rate Risk Analysis

Interest Rate Risk Gap
In RMB million
Non-
Within 1to3 3to12 1to Over interest
Item 1 month months months 5 years 5 years bearing
December 31, 2023 (216,303) (1,164,746) (967,824) 954,439 1,586,589 640,145
December 31, 2022 (333,680) (795,752) (831,211) 473,069 1,559,012 654,362

We assume that the market interest rates move up or down in parallel, the repricing cycles of loans, time deposits
and other businesses are determined according to the contract and the repricing cycles of non-fixed-term businesses
such as demand deposits are set as overnight. Regardless of the risk management activities that may be taken by the

management to mitigate interest rate risk, the interest rate sensitivity analysis of the Bank’s banking book is as follows:

In RMB million

December 31, 2023 December 31, 2022

(Decrease)/Increase (Decrease)/Increase

Basis point movements in yield rate in net interest income in net interest income
Upward parallel shift of 100 bps for yield curves (15,670) (13,143)
Downward parallel shift of 100 bps for yield curves 15,670 13,143

Exchange Rate Risk Management

Exchange rate risk refers to the risk of losses in foreign exchange exposure arising from unbalanced foreign exchange
assets and liabilities due to adverse movements in exchange rates. During the reporting period, the foreign exchange
exposure of the Bank remained relatively stable. Relevant indicators of exchange rate risk met regulatory requirements,

and the exchange rate risk was controllable on the whole.

During the reporting period, the Bank paid close attention to the impact of geopolitical events and the Fed'’s interest rate
hike on the global economy and finance, actively studied and analyzed market exchange rate fluctuations and future
trends, and dynamically monitored and analyzed foreign exchange exposure limits. It regularly conducted stress testing,
strengthened risk monitoring, explored the proactive management approaches for foreign exchange exposure, and

ensured that the exchange rate risk of the Bank was within an acceptable range.



For analysis of the Bank’s exchange rate risk, please refer to “Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements - 45.4 Market

risk — Foreign exchange rate risk”.

Currency Concentration

In RMB million
December 31, 2023
usD HKD Others
Item (RMB equivalent) (RMB equivalent) (RMB equivalent) Total
Spot assets 75,038 848 7,979 83,865
Spot liabilities (39,744) (3,301) (1,726) (44,771)
Forward purchases 59,458 6,740 2,939 69,137
Forward sales (74,261) (3,777) (9,371) (87,409)
Net long/(short) position 20,491 510 (179) 20,822
December 31, 2022
usbD HKD Others
Iltem (RMB equivalent) (RMB equivalent) (RMB equivalent) Total
Spot assets 78,939 854 6,581 86,374
Spot liabilities (40,886) (242) (1,034) (42,162)
Forward purchases 35,823 1,376 480 37,679
Forward sales (49,599) (1,407) (6,218) (57,224)
Net long/(short) position 24,277 581 (191) 24,667

> Liquidity Risk

Liquidity Risk Management
Liquidity risk refers to the risk of failure to obtain sufficient funds by commercial banks at a reasonable cost in a timely

manner to repay matured debts, fulfill other payment obligations and meet other financial needs of normal operation.

Governance Structure of Liquidity Risk Management

The governance structure of the Bank's liquidity risk management consists of the systems for decision making, execution
and monitoring. Among them, the decision-making system includes the Board of Directors and its Risk Management
Committee, the senior management of the Head Office and its Asset and Liability Management Committee and Risk
Management Committee; the execution system comprises the department responsible for liquidity management,
leading management departments of on- and off-balance sheet businesses, Risk Management Department, Information
Technology Department and Operation Management Department of the Head Office, and relevant departments of branches
and sub-branches; the monitoring system consists of the Board of Supervisors, the Audit Department, and departments

responsible for legal affairs and compliance, etc.
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Objective, Strategy and Policy of Liquidity Risk
Management

The objective of liquidity risk management of the Bank
is to effectively identify, measure, monitor and control
liquidity risk via the establishment of a scientific and
comprehensive liquidity risk management system, and to
ensure the liquidity demand is satisfied and its payment
obligation to external parties is fulfilled promptly under
the normal operation scenario and the stress scenario.
The Bank adheres to a prudent and sound liquidity
risk management strategy to strike a balance between
fund sources and utilization in terms of their amount,
maturities, and structure. The Bank, in accordance
with requirements in regulatory policies, changes in
external environment as well as the characteristics of its
business, formulates liquidity risk management policies
such as those on limit management, intraday liquidity
management, stress testing, and contingency plans,
manages the liquidity risk of the Bank in a centralized
manner and clarifies that the subsidiaries assume primary

responsibilities for their liquidity risk management.

Liquidity Risk Management Method

The Bank paid close attention to changes in macroeconomic
situation and monetary policies, closely monitored
liquidity conditions in the market and of the Bank,
and strengthened trend forecast and analysis on
factors affecting liquidity. It strictly implemented limit
management, strengthened asset-liability management
and matching, and effectively controlled the risk of
maturity mismatch. It adhered to the philosophy of
maintaining high-quality liability development, ensured
a stable source of deposits, and used interbank liabilities
as liquidity replenishment and adjustment tool to
enhance the diversification of capital sources. The Bank

strengthened capital position management to meet

Corporate Governance Financial Statements and Others

various payment requirements. It also strengthened
liquidity risk consolidated management to ensure safety
of the Group’s liquidity. The Bank continued to optimize
its liquidity management system to enhance the level of

informatization and intelligent management.

Key Factors Affecting Liquidity Risk

In addition to changes in macroeconomic situation,
monetary policies and market liquidity conditions,
liquidity risk of the Bank may arise from the following
events or factors: withdrawal of customers’ deposits,
drawing of loans by borrowers, overdue payment of
debtors, excessive maturity mismatch of assets and
liabilities, difficulties in liquidating assets, and weakening

in financing ability, etc.

In 2023, the situation for commercial banks to conduct
liquidity risk management was complex and volatile. The
Bank focused on the impact of external factors such as
macroeconomic situation, market liquidity and changes
in capital prices on liquidity. It also paid close attention
to the fluctuation of internal capital sources, total size,
structure and matching pace of assets and liabilities, and
strengthened prospective and proactive management to

effectively balance safety, liquidity and efficiency.

Liquidity Risk Stress Testing

The Bank performs liquidity risk stress testing every
quarter to test the risk tolerance under stress scenarios
and constantly improves stress testing methods based
on regulatory and internal management requirements.
During the reporting period, the stress testing results
indicated that the Bank could pass the minimum viability

test under various stress scenario assumptions.



Liquidity Risk Analysis

The Bank's liabilities were stable, as its major source of funds was retail deposits. Its assets were highly liquid, with a
relatively large proportion of qualified high-quality bonds. Its overall liquidity position was sufficient, safe, and under
control. As at the end of the reporting period, the liquidity ratio of the Bank was 83.39%; the liquidity coverage ratio was

303.61%; and the net stable funding ratio was 166.79%, all meeting the regulatory requirements.

Liquidity Gap Analysis
Net Position of Liquidity

In RMB million
Repayable Within 1-3 3-12 Over
Item Overdue on demand 1 month months months 1-5 years 5 years Undated Total
December 31,2023 15,035  (3,935,590) (635,188) (1,668,430) (1,578,122) 2,820,698 4,558,237 1,255,660 832,300
December 31, 2022 15586 (4,005,681) (541,711)  (1,319,402) (935,554) 1,948,002 4,357,384 1,207,176 725,800

Liquidity Coverage Ratio

In RMB million, except for percentages

Item

December 31, 2023

December 31, 2022

High-quality liquid assets
Net cash outflow for the next 30 days
Liquidity coverage ratio (%)

2,950,726

971,893
303.61

2,601,067
1,036,868
250.86

Net Stable Funding Ratio

In RMB million, except for percentages

Item

December 31, 2023

September 30, 2023

June 30, 2023

Total available stable funding
Total required stable funding
Net stable funding ratio (%)

13,284,936
7,965,288
166.79

12,611,319
7,809,126
161.49

12,526,993
7,665,836
163.41

The net stable funding ratio (NSFR) is introduced to ensure commercial banks have sufficient stable sources of funding to
meet the needs for stable funding of all types of assets and off-balance sheet risk exposures. According to the minimum
regulatory standard set by the Rules on Liquidity Risk Management of Commercial Banks, NSFR should be no less than
100% from July 1, 2018.

The formula for calculating the NSFR is: Net stable funding ratio = available stable funding (ASF)/required stable funding
(RSF) x 100%

Available stable funding refers to the sum of the book value of a commercial bank’s all types of capital and liability items
multiplied by their corresponding ASF coefficients. Required stable funding refers to the sum of the book value of a
commercial bank’s all types of asset items and off-balance sheet risk exposures multiplied by their corresponding RSF
coefficients.
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» Operational Risk

Operational risk refers to the risk of losses resulting
from problems in internal procedures, employees and
IT systems, or from external events, including legal risk
but not including strategic risk and reputational risk.
The operational risks which the Bank may be exposed to
mainly include internal fraud, external fraud, employment
rules and workplace safety, customers, products and
business activities, damage to physical assets, IT systems,
as well as execution, delivery and process management.
During the reporting period, the Bank’s operational risk
and operational risk loss ratio were kept at a relatively low
level.

The Bank continuously improved the operational
risk management framework, strengthened the joint
performance of operational risk management tools, and
enhanced the quality and efficiency of the application
of operational risk management tools. It completed the
annual self-assessment of operational risk and control,
and included directly-operated institutions and agency
outlets into the assessment scope. The Bank carried out
re-examination of key risk indicators, and introduced over
40 indicators in such areas as newly occurred cases in the
sector, regulatory penalties, and anti-money laundering.
It consolidated the foundation for operational risk data
management, and carried out assessment of operational
risk events and loss data quality. The Bank worked
towards the digital transformation of operational risk
management in all aspects, adopted an agile iterative
approach to optimize the functions of the operational risk
management system, had access to data from systems
such as the compliance management system, lending
risk management system, and legal affairs management
system, and further expanded the loss data sources. The
Bank developed and launched a new operational risk
“cockpit” to create a multi-dimensional data analysis
visual card, and worked to make the operational risk
management system more intelligent. Meanwhile, it
advanced the regular implementation of operational risk
management tools at agency outlets, completed self-
assessment of operational risk and control at agency
outlets, pushed forward the submission of agency outlets’
operational risk events and loss data, and continued to
improve the operational risk management across the
Bank.

Corporate Governance Financial Statements and Others

Legal Risk

Legal risk refers to the risk of commercial banks suffering
from adverse legal consequences including legal liabilities,
loss of rights and reputational damage due to violation of
laws and regulations or terms of contract of its business
operations, non-compliance with laws and breach of
contracts by others including the counterparty to the
contract, and significant changes in the external legal
environment. During the reporting period, the Bank’s legal

risk was manageable in general.

The Bank continued to improve the legal risk management
framework, and enhanced the capability for legal risk
management, prevention and control. It prepared
legal review guidelines, and gradually improved the
specialization and standardization level of legal review. It
properly responded to major litigation and legal disputes,
and effectively prevented and controlled litigation
risks. The Bank continued to strengthen civil litigations
management, carried out in-depth analysis of lawsuits,
timely summarized and promoted experience in handling
litigations, and worked to improve the capabilities of
branches at all levels to forestall and defuse legal risks.
It strengthened authorization management, optimized
annual authorization and further refined authorization
management. It tightened intellectual property
management, and encouraged independent innovation,
to promote the creation, use and protection of intellectual
property rights in an all-around manner. Moreover, the
Bank actively carried out law publicity to enhance the
legal awareness of all employees. It optimized the legal
affairs system, and increased the technological support for

legal risk prevention and control.



» Compliance Risk

Compliance risk refers to the risk of being subject to legal
sanctions, regulatory penalties and significant financial
and reputational losses as a result of failure to comply
with laws, regulations and rules. During the reporting
period, the foundation for compliance management was
effectively strengthened. The Bank maintained its business
operation in compliance with laws and regulations, and
sustained the momentum of steady development, with

the overall compliance risk under control.

The Bank continued to oversee the review of compliance
risks, optimized the review mechanism and review
procedures, and took compliance review as an essential
requirement for the formulation of all rules and
regulations of the Bank, research and development
of business products, the operation of major projects
and other business management behaviors. During the
reporting period, the Bank reviewed over 800 new rules
and regulations, new products, new businesses and
meeting materials, and gave more than 2,000 opinions.
Leveraging the enterprise knowledge management
system, it built a basic database of internal and external
rules and regulations, imported over 1.8 million external
laws and regulations and continued to maintain and
update the data, and completed the access of more
than 3,200 data of the Head Office's policies. The Bank
optimized the query function, enabled queries from five

aspects, i.e., business module, policy category, year of
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issuance, applicable agencies, and invalidated regulations,
and realized the intelligent search, sorting, clustering
of multiple data sources and other functions. Also, the
Bank carried out sorting and re-examination of policies
in an all-round way, continuously improved policies,
and strengthened its business operation in compliance
with laws and regulations. It strengthened compliance
risk monitoring, intensified efforts to learn and research
regulatory policies, issued regulatory trends and risk
alerts, and strictly abided by laws and regulations as well
as regulatory requirements. The Bank organized all its
employees to sign the letter of commitment to compliance
online, consolidated compliance management, and raised

employees’ awareness of compliance.

Anti-Money Laundering

Money laundering risk refers to the risk arising from illegal
activities such as money laundering, terrorist financing
and proliferation financing caused by the use of business
and products by illegal criminals. Centering on core tasks
such as customer due diligence, retention of customer
identity information and transaction records, and
suspicious transaction monitoring and analysis, the Bank
continuously strengthened management mechanisms,
optimized workflow processes, worked further to make the
management of money laundering risk more digitalized
and intensive, and improved the management of money
laundering risk. During the reporting period, the Bank had
no major money laundering risk events, and the money

laundering risk was overall under control.
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In strict compliance with anti-money laundering (AML)
laws and regulations, the Bank upheld the risk-based
AML management concept, and earnestly fulfilled its
legal obligations and social responsibilities concerning
AML. It improved the “Three Lines of Defense” duty
performance mechanism at all levels and for AML,
strengthened the building of AML teams at the Head
Office and branches, and enhanced the foundation and
capabilities of performing AML duties. The Bank further
refined and specified the compliance requirements for
customer due diligence, carried out in-depth governance
in the basic information of customer identities, and
comprehensively improved the information compliance
and effectiveness. It continued to improve its strategies
and measures for customer-related money laundering risk
management and control, and promoted the effectiveness

of customer-related money laundering risk management
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and control. The Bank also further optimized the model
of money laundering risk assessment approaches, and
continuously adjusted and improved the management
policies, measures and procedures for money laundering
risk management. It completed 77 R&D requirements
for suspicious transaction monitoring models and Al
intelligent screening algorithm models for warning cases,
and fully enhanced the compliance and effectiveness of
the suspicious transaction monitoring standard system.
It sorted out 557 key points for manual identification of
suspicious transactions, and improved the guidelines on
manual selection for suspicious transaction monitoring.
The Bank successfully launched the new generation AML
system, and continued to upgrade the system, to further
improve its functionality. It completed the Phase | of the
AML data governance project and constantly reinforced
the data foundation for AML.



> Information Technology Risk

Information technology risk refers to the operational,
legal, reputational and other risks caused by natural and
human factors, technological loopholes and management
flaws when applying information technology. During the
reporting period, the operation of the Bank’s information
systems was overall stable, with no material security
incident found, and various monitoring indicators of
information technology risk were within a reasonable

range.

The Bank reinforced the information technology internal
control and risk prevention and control system. It drove
the implementation of its cyber safety plan, strengthened
the security of key IT infrastructure, and further improved
the capabilities of “three-pronged approach and six
defenses” for cyber safety. The Bank strengthened data
security management and promoted lifecycle data
classification and rating. It also enhanced IT outsourcing
management, and strictly put the requirements for
outsourcing risk identification, assessment, monitoring
and disposal in place. It enhanced the quality of the
building of a backup system for disaster recovery,
improved the emergency response mechanism, ensured
uninterrupted services in critical periods and business
peaks, and constantly improved the business continuity

management.
> Reputational Risk

Reputational risk refers to the risk resulting from negative
comments by stakeholders, the public, the media and
other parties due to the Bank’s institutional behaviors,
employees’ behaviors or external events, etc., which
damages the brand value, adversely affects normal
operations, and even affects market and social stability.
During the reporting period, public opinions about the
Bank remained overall positive, and no major reputational
incident occurred. Through effective reputational risk
management, the Bank created a favorable external
public opinion environment for the transformation and
development of the Bank and the implementation of

various key tasks.
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Upholding the reputational risk management concept of
“addressing both symptoms and root causes, with a focus
on root causes”, the Bank strengthened the coordinated
management of reputational risk and other types of
risk, and continuously enhanced the foundation for
reputational risk management. It kept optimizing the ex
ante evaluation mechanism in light of actual conditions,
made a list of ex ante assessment, progressively expanded
the scope of items to be evaluated, and strengthened
management and control over reputational risk from
the source. The Bank continued to press ahead with the
management of reputational risk at earlier stages, and
carried out screening of reputational risk. It conducted
in-depth analysis of hidden reputational risk, and took
targeted steps for control in time. It continued to
utilize information technology to improve the quality
and effectiveness of reputational risk management,
and enhanced the role of science and technology in
supporting management of reputational risk. Moreover,
the Bank further improved the closed-loop management
mechanism of reputational events, and responded to and
handled such events in an orderly manner. With the main
focus on better telling PSBC stories, the Bank effectively
carried out publicity activities on key themes such as
supporting the real economy, serving rural revitalization,
financing micro and small-sized enterprises, developing
green finance, strengthening technology empowerment,
and protecting consumer rights. It carried out integrated
marketing by coordinating the use of various media
resources, in particular, enhancing outreach to both
lower-tier markets and key urban branches. By doing
so, the Bank achieved favorable outcomes in improving
its corporate image, facilitating market expansion,
communicating investment value, and supporting
business development, and continuously improved its
brand image and social impact. These efforts helped the
Bank continue to accumulate reputation capital, forestall

and defuse reputational risk.
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» Strategic Risk

Strategic risk refers to the risk arising from improper
operational strategies or the changes in the external
environment of commercial banks. During the reporting
period, the Bank continued to improve its management
and control over strategic risks, and the strategic risk was

generally under control.

The Bank sped up the pace of making breakthroughs
and innovations, as well as transformation and upgrade,
and persisted in building its countercyclical capabilities.
Focusing on the five major differentiated growth poles,
it developed differentiated development characteristics.
Leveraging the advantages in resources, it fostered new
competitive strengths, promoted the organizational
structure reform and intensive reform to fully invigorate
the vitality of development. The Bank strengthened
technology empowerment, and conducted in-depth
innovation and application of new technology, and
worked hard to build a digital ecosystem-based bank.
By comprehensively assessing the implementation of
strategies, the Bank fully identified and monitored various
risk factors during the implementation of strategies,
continued to carry out in-depth strategic research, and

increased the effectiveness of strategy management.

» Country Risk

Country risk refers to the risk of the inability or refusal of
the debtors of a country or region to repay their debts
owed to the bank, or commercial benefit loss suffered by
the bank in that country or region due to changes and
incidents occurred in its politics, economy and society.
During the reporting period, the Bank’s country risk
exposure mainly concentrated in low-risk countries or

regions, and country risk was generally controllable.
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In strict compliance with country risk policies and relevant
regulatory requirements, the Bank managed country risk
through a series of management instruments such as
country risk rating, limit control, exposure measurement
and monitoring. The Bank paid close attention to the
changes in country risks of all countries or regions,
regularly monitored and reported the implementation of
country risk limit and changes in country risk exposure,
optimized the country risk rating and limit approval
methods, and gave priority to low-risk countries or regions
in business development, thus effectively controlling

country risk.

> Climate Risk

Climate risk refers to the potential adverse effects of
climate change on the natural system and the economic
and social system, mainly including physical risks and
transition risks. Among them, physical risk refers to the risk
of events such as climate anomalies and environmental
pollution that may lead to severe damage to the balance
sheets of enterprises, households, banks, insurance
companies and other market entities, which in turn affects
the financial system and the macro economy. Transition
risk refers to the risk of repricing of high-carbon assets and
financial losses due to significant tightening of relevant
policies such as carbon emissions or technological
innovations, in order to address climate change and
promote low-carbon economic transformation. During the
reporting period, the Bank’s climate risk was controllable

overall.



The Bank paid high attention to environmental and climate
risks, and incorporated them into its comprehensive risk
management framework for control. It formulated and
issued management measures for ESG risk, incorporated
environmental and climate risks into the whole-
process credit management in terms of risk policy,
risk limit, credit policy, customer rating, review and
approval, disbursement management and post-lending
management, and effectively identified, monitored
and prevented ESG risk in business activities. The Bank
carried out stress tests of climate risk sensitivity for
eight industries, including electric power, steel, building
materials, petrochemical, chemicals, papermaking,
civil aviation and non-ferrous metal smelting, for two
consecutive years to analyze the potential impact of
rising cost in high-carbon industries after the introduction
of carbon cost on the Bank’s credit asset quality and
capital adequacy level. The test results showed that
under the stress scenario, the credit risk of some high-
carbon customers increased, but the impact on the
Bank's capital adequacy level was generally controllable.
The Bank has deepened environmental and climate risk
management, conducted ESG and climate risk inspections
for seven consecutive years to find out the real situation,
handle them by category, and prevent and mitigate
potential risks. It also supported the green and low-
carbon transformation and development of high-carbon
enterprises engaged in coal power, coal, steel, non-ferrous
metals etc. to support their reasonable financing needs. It
prohibited support for overseas high-carbon fossil energy
projects such as coal and coal power, and resolutely
implemented the one-vote veto system for environmental

assessment.
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> Risk Consolidated Management

Risk consolidated management refers to the continuous
improvement of the comprehensive risk management
framework of the Bank Group and its subsidiaries, and the
management process of effectively identifying, measuring,
monitoring and controlling the overall risk of the Bank
Group. Pursuant to regulatory requirements, as at the
end of the reporting period, the Bank’s subsidiaries were
all incorporated into its risk consolidated management
framework, and the overall risks of the Bank Group were

manageable.

The Bank strictly followed national policies and relevant
regulatory requirements, firmly held the bottom line
to ensure no systemic risks arise, and continuously
improved the risk consolidated management of the Bank
Group. With a focus on the Bank Group’s risk appetite
plan, the Bank limited the risk of its subsidiaries within
an acceptable range. It developed risk compliance
assessment plans in a rational manner to ensure all
risk limits and compliance requirements be effectively
implemented. The Bank continued to improve the long-
term risk reporting mechanism for subsidiaries, and
optimized the risk information reporting mechanism for
subsidiaries, to ensure the Bank keep abreast of their
risk levels and management in a comprehensive and
timely way. The Bank also strengthened risk isolation
management of the Bank Group, optimized management
of businesses coordination, realized the coordination of
business collaboration and risk isolation, and effectively
prevented the risk contagion among all institutions of the

Bank Group.



Overview Corporate Governance Financial Statements and Others

Capital Management

Capital Management

The objective of the Bank’s capital management is to maintain a stable and reasonable capital adequacy level, and
continuously meet regulatory policies and macro-prudential requirements; to comprehensively establish and apply a
value management system centered on economic capital, strengthen capital constraints, and communicate the concept
of value creation; to continuously strengthen the Bank’s capital, constantly improve the endogenous growth of capital

and proactively expand external channels for capital replenishment.

In September 2023, the PBC and the NFRA released the 2023 list of domestic systemically important banks, and the
Bank was again included in the list. According to the regulatory requirements, the Bank established and improved the
management mechanism for the recovery and disposal plan based on its own operation situations, constantly improved
the risk prevention and control ability, strengthened the crisis management, and reduced the Bank’s risk spillover in the
crises to maintain financial stability. During the reporting period, the Bank continued to improve its capital management
system, effectively implemented regulatory requirements, stepped up refined capital management, steadily improved
the capital replenishment by internal resources, and replenished capital through external resources in a reasonable and
orderly manner, hence further building up its capital strength and effectively supporting the sustainable and healthy
development of various businesses. As at the end of the reporting period, the Bank’s capital indicators stayed within the
reasonable range, and the capital adequacy ratios and the leverage ratio continued to meet all regulatory requirements
including additional requirements for domestic systemically important banks and maintained at a sound and reasonable

level.

Through overall arrangement, the Bank vigorously propelled the implementation of the new rules on capital management,
continuously refined the risk management and capital management, and pushed forward relevant work in an orderly
manner, with a focus on tasks such as exposure category, information system building, business process optimization
and data governance. It carried out multiple rounds of training, and comprehensively transmitted the concept of the new
rules from top to bottom, hence consolidating the implementation quality and efficiency of new regulations. The Bank

enhanced the basic capabilities of refined risk management in an all-round manner through refined capital measurement.

Capital Planning and Capital Adequacy Ratio Management Plan

Pursuant to regulatory requirements, the Bank made capital planning in light of economic and financial situations,
development strategies, risk appetite and other factors, and defined capital management objectives and management
measures to ensure the Bank's capital adequacy ratios continue to meet regulatory requirements and are in line with

long-term sustainable development and shareholder return requirements.



Capital Management

Capital Adequacy Ratio

According to the requirements of the Capital Rules for Commercial Banks (Provisional) and its supporting policy
documents, the Bank measured credit risk by weighted approach, market risk by standardized approach, and operational
risk by basic indicator approach. As at the end of the reporting period, the core tier 1 capital adequacy ratio, tier 1 capital

adequacy ratio and capital adequacy ratio were 9.53%, 11.61%, and 14.23% respectively.

Capital Adequacy Ratio
In RMB million, except for percentages
December 31, 2023 December 31, 2022
Item The Group The Bank The Group The Bank
Core tier 1 capital - net 780,106 757,568 679,887 658,372
Tier 1 capital - net 950,258 927,554 820,013 798,358
Net capital 1,165,404 1,141,720 1,003,987 981,608
Risk-weighted assets 8,187,064 8,119,361 7,266,134 7,216,448
Credit risk-weighted assets 7,680,735 7,628,202 6,779,896 6,744,048
Market risk-weighted assets 56,108 56,108 52,806 52,806
Operational risk-weighted assets 450,221 435,051 433,432 419,594
Core tier 1 capital adequacy ratio (%) 9.53 9.33 9.36 9.12
Tier 1 capital adequacy ratio (%) 11.61 11.42 11.29 11.06
Capital adequacy ratio (%) 14.23 14.06 13.82 13.60

Market Risk Capital Requirements
In RMB million

Item December 31, 2023 December 31, 2022
Interest rate risk 2,792 2,230
Exchange rate risk 1,696 1,994

Leverage Ratio
As at the end of the reporting period, the leverage ratio calculated by the Bank pursuant to the Administrative Measures
for the Leverage Ratio of Commercial Banks (Revised) was 5.78%, meeting the regulatory requirements. For details of

leverage ratio, please refer to “Appendix I: Supplementary Financial Information”.
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Capital Management

Economic Capital Management

The Bank continued to improve the refined management of economic capital and pressed ahead with the implementation
of the concept of achieving transformation and development with less capital consumption. It reinforced internal capital
constraint and advanced the intensive use of capital. The Bank promoted greater application of the capital allocation
mechanism with risk-adjusted return on capital (RAROC) as the core indicator, and intensified resource allocation in
businesses with high returns. It continuously promoted the application of internal rating results in economic capital
measurement, allocation and performance assessment in an orderly manner. The awareness of capital saving and value

creation has been continuously enhanced across the Bank, and business structure continuously improved.

Capital Financing Management
On the basis of replenishing capital from internal sources through retained earnings, the Bank comprehensively utilized

external financing instruments to replenish its capital.

In accordance with its capital requirements and capital replenishment plan, the Bank non-publicly issued 6,777,108,433
A shares of ordinary shares in March 2023 at an issue price of RMB6.64 per share, raising a total of approximately RMB45
billion. After deducting the issuance cost, actual net proceeds were approximately RMB44,980.159 million, all of which
were used to replenish core tier 1 capital. Please refer to “Changes in Share Capital and Shareholdings of Shareholders” for

details.

The Bank issued RMB30 billion write-down undated capital bonds each in the national Interbank Bond Market in October
2023 and March 2024, respectively, with all proceeds used to replenish additional tier 1 capital in accordance with

applicable laws and approval of the competent authorities.

The Bank issued RMB20 billion tier 2 capital bonds in the national Interbank Bond Market in May 2023, with all proceeds

used to replenish tier 2 capital in accordance with applicable laws and approval of the competent authorities.









Changes in Share Capital and Shareholdings of Shareholders

Ordinary Shares

As at the end of the reporting period, the total number of ordinary shares of the Bank amounted to 99,161,076,038,
including 79,304,909,038 A shares and 19,856,167,000 H shares, accounting for 79.98% and 20.02% of all shares

respectively.

Details of Changes in Shares

share, except for percentages

As at December 31, 2022 Increase/decrease (+, -) during the reporting period As at December 31, 2023
Issuance
Number Percentage  Issuanceof of bonus Transferred Number Percentage
of shares (%)  newshares  shares from reserve Others Subtotal of shares (%)

. Shares subject to selling restrictions
1. Shareholdings of the State
2. Shareholdings of state-owned
legal entities
3. Other domestic shareholdings
Including: Shareholdings of domestic
non-state-owned legal
entities
Shareholdings of domestic
natural persons
4, Foreign shareholdings
Including: Shareholdings of foreign
legal entities
Shareholdings of foreign

natural persons

61,253,339,187 6630 +6,777,108433 -

55847933782 -49,070,825349  12,182,513,838 1229

61,253,339,187 6630 +6,777,108433 - 55847933782 -49,070,825349  12,182,513,838 1229

. Circulating shares not subject to

selling restrictions 31,130,628,418 3370 - - - 455847933782 455847933782  86,978,562,200 811
1. RMB ordinary shares 11,274,461,418 1221 - - - 55847933782 +55847,933782  67,122,395,200 67.69
2. Domestically listed foreign shares - - - - - - - - -
3. Overseas listed foreign shares 19,856,167,000 2149 - - - - - 19,856,167,000 20.02
4. Others - - - - - - - - -
Il. Total ordinary shares 92383967605 10000 +6,777,108433 - - - 4677708433 99,161,076,038  100.00
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Changes in Ordinary Shares

Pursuant to the Approval of the Non-public Issuance of Shares by Postal Savings Bank of China Co., Ltd. (Zheng Jian Xu Ke
[2023] No. 340) issued by the CSRC on February 16, 2023, the Bank completed the non-public issuance of 6,777,108,433
A shares of ordinary shares in March 2023. The closing price of the A shares of the Bank on the date of signing the
subscription agreement (i.e. February 24, 2023) was RMB4.54 per share. After issuance, the Bank raised a total of around
RMB45,000 million at an issue price of RMB6.64 per share. After deducting the issuance fee, the actual net proceeds raised
totaled approximately RMB44,980.159 million, and net proceeds per share was approximately RMB6.64. After completion
of the non-public issuance, total number of shares of the Bank increased from 92,383,967,605 to 99,161,076,038. For

details, please refer to the announcement of the Bank dated March 29, 2023.

During the reporting period, the Bank completed the non-public offering of ordinary A shares. After the issuance, the total
number of shares of the Bank increased from 92,383,967,605 to 99,161,076,038, with an increase of RMB6,777,108,433.00
in share capital and RMB38,203,050,586.96 in capital reserve.

RMB Yuan
2023
under same
Item 2023 standard™
Basic earnings per share 0.83 0.88
Diluted earnings per share 0.83 0.88
Net assets per share attributable to ordinary shareholders of the Bank 7.92 8.01

Note (1): Basic earnings per share, diluted earnings per share and net assets per share attributable to ordinary shareholders of the
Bank for 2023 under same standard are calculated on the basis of no share issuance in 2023.

share
Number of shares
Number of shares subject to selling
subject to selling Shares released  Increase in shares restrictions at
restrictions at the fromselling  subject to selling the end of the Date of release from
Name of shareholder beginning of 2023  restrictionsin 2023 restrictionsin2023  reporting period  Reason for selling restrictions selling restrictions
55,847,933,782 55,847,933,782 - - Commitments on selling restrictions of June 12,2083
China Post Group Corporation initial public offering of A shares
Limited 5,405,405,405 - - 5405405405  Commitments on selling restrictions of March 25, 2026
non-public issuance of A shares in 2021
China Mobile Communications - - 6,777,108433 6,777,108433  Commitments on selling restrictions of March 28,2028
Group Co, Ltd. non-public issuance of A shares in 2023

Total 61,253,339,187 55,847,933,782 6,777,108433 12182513838/ /




Changes in Share Capital and Shareholdings of Shareholders

Number of Shareholders and Shareholdings

As at the end of the reporting period, the Bank had a total number of 185,559 ordinary shareholders (including 183,091

A-share holders and 2,468 H-share holders) and no holders of preference shares with voting rights restored or holders of

special voting shares.

As at February 29, 2024, the Bank had a total number of 162,312 ordinary shareholders (including 159,847 A-share holders

and 2,465 H-share holders) and no holders of preference shares with voting rights restored or holders of special voting

shares.

The shareholdings of top 10 ordinary shareholders as at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

Shareholdings of Top Ten Ordinary Shareholders

share, except for percentages

Number of
Number of ~shares pledged,

Number of  Shareholding  shares subject to marked or
Name of shareholder sharesheld percentage (%) selling restrictions locked-up  Nature of shareholder  Type of ordinary shares
China Post Group Corporation Limited 62,255,549,280 62.78 5,405,405,405 - State-owned legal entity  RMB ordinary shares, overseas
listed foreign shares

HKSCC Nominees Limited 19,843,173,300 2001 - Unknown  Foreign legal entity Overseas listed foreign shares
China Mobile Communications Group Co,, Ltd. 6,777,108433 6.83 6,777,108433 - State-owned legal entity ~ RMB ordinary shares

China Life Insurance Company Limited 1,730,893,405 175 - - State-owned legal entity  RMB ordinary shares

China Telecommunications Corporation 1,117,223218 113 - - State-owned legal entity ~ RMB ordinary shares

Hong Kong Securities Clearing Company Limited 586,506,809 059 - - Foreign legal entity RMB ordinary shares

New China Life Insurance Co,, Ltd. - Traditional - 159,440,321 0.16 - - Others RMB ordinary shares

General insurance products - 018L - CT001 Shanghai

National Social Security Fund Portfolio 108 132,345,044 0.13 - - Others RMB ordinary shares
Shanghai Intemational Port (Group) Co, Ltd. 112,539,226 0N - - State-owned legal entity ~ RMB ordinary shares
Shanghai Pudong Development Bank Co,, Ltd. - 91,121,435 0.09 - - Others RMB ordinary shares

E Fund Yufeng Return Bond Fund

Note (1):

Note (2):

Note (3):

Note (4):

Note (5):

Note (6):

The total number of shares held by HKSCC Nominees Limited as the nominee is the total number of H shares held by all
institutional and individual investors registered with the company as at the end of the reporting period, which includes
80,700,000 H shares held by the controlling shareholder China Post Group Corporation Limited through HKSCC Nominees
Limited as the nominee.

The total number of shares held by Hong Kong Securities Clearing Company Limited refers to the A shares (Shanghai-Hong
Kong Stock Connect) held on behalf of Hong Kong investors and overseas investors as the nominee.

HKSCC Nominees Limited is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Hong Kong Securities Clearing Company Limited (HKSCC). Apart
from this, the Bank is not aware of any connected relations among the aforementioned shareholders or whether they
constitute persons acting in concert as stipulated in the Administrative Measures for the Takeover of Listed Companies.
Except for HKSCC Nominees Limited, whose participation in margin trading, short selling or refinancing was unknown to the
Bank, the rest of the top ten ordinary shareholders of the Bank did not participate in margin trading or short selling.

The above shareholders do not have special repurchase accounts nor do they involve delegation/entrustment of voting
rights or abstention of voting rights.

In March 2023, the Bank completed the non-public offering of 6,777,108,433 new shares, and China Mobile Communications
Group Co., Ltd. became one of the top ten ordinary shareholders due to the participation in placement of new shares. Save as
disclosed above, no other strategic investor or general legal entity became the top ten ordinary shareholders of the Bank due
to the participation in placement of new shares.
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Shareholdings of the Top Ten Shareholders Not Subject to Selling Restrictions

share
Number of
circulating shares
held not subject Type and number of shares
Name of shareholder to selling restrictions ~ Type Number
China Post Group Corporation Limited 56,850,143,875  RMB ordinary shares 56,769,443,875
Overseas listed foreign shares 80,700,000
HKSCC Nominees Limited 19,843,173300  Overseas listed foreign shares 19,843,173,300
China Life Insurance Company Limited 1,730,893,405  RMB ordinary shares 1,730,893,405
China Telecommunications Corporation 1,117,223,218  RMB ordinary shares 1,117,223,218
Hong Kong Securities Clearing Company Limited 586,506,809  RMB ordinary shares 586,506,809
New China Life Insurance Co., Ltd. - Traditional - 159,440,321 RMB ordinary shares 159,440,321
General insurance products - 018L - CT001 Shanghai
National Social Security Fund Portfolio 108 132,345,044 RMB ordinary shares 132,345,044
Shanghai International Port (Group) Co., Ltd. 112,539,226 RMB ordinary shares 112,539,226
Shanghai Pudong Development Bank Co., Ltd. - 91,121,435 RMB ordinary shares 91,121,435
E Fund Yufeng Return Bond Fund
Industrial and Commercial Bank of China Limited - 82,568,700  RMB ordinary shares 82,568,700

Huatai-PineBridge CSI 300 Trading Open-ended Index Fund

Note (1):

Note (2):

Note (3):

Note (4):

Note (5):

The total number of shares held by HKSCC Nominees Limited as the nominee is the total number of H shares held by all
institutional and individual investors registered with the company as at the end of the reporting period, which includes
80,700,000 H shares held by the controlling shareholder China Post Group Corporation Limited through HKSCC Nominees
Limited as the nominee.

The total number of shares held by Hong Kong Securities Clearing Company Limited refers to the A shares (Shanghai-
Hong Kong Stock Connect) held on behalf of Hong Kong investors and overseas investors as the nominee.

HKSCC Nominees Limited is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Hong Kong Securities Clearing Company Limited (HKSCC). Apart
from this, the Bank is not aware of any connected relations among the aforementioned shareholders or whether they
constitute persons acting in concert as stipulated in the Administrative Measures for the Takeover of Listed Companies.
Except for HKSCC Nominees Limited, whose participation in margin trading, short selling or refinancing was unknown to the
Bank, the rest of the top ten shareholders not subject to selling restrictions of the Bank did not participate in margin trading
or short selling.

The above shareholders do not have special repurchase accounts nor do they involve delegation/entrustment of voting
rights, abstention of voting rights, nor do any strategic investor or general legal entity become the top ten shareholders not
subject to selling restrictions due to the participation in placement of new shares.



Changes in Share Capital and Shareholdings of Shareholders

Lending of Shares by the Top Ten Shareholders through Participation in Refinancing

share, except for percentages

Shares held in common

accounts and credit

accounts at the beginning

of the reporting period

Shares lent through

refinancing and
unreturned at the
beginning of the

reporting period

Shares held in common Shares lent through

accounts and credit refinancing and
accounts at the end of unreturned at the end of

the reporting period the reporting period

Number in Percentage

Numberin Percentage

Numberin Percentage Numberin Percentage

Name of shareholder aggregate (%)  aggregate (%)  aggregate (%)  aggregate (%)
Industrial and Commercial Bank of China

Limited - Huatai-PineBridge CSI 300

Trading Open-ended Index Fund 44,715,800 0.05 - - 82,568,700 0.08 120,100 0.00

Changes in the Top Ten Shareholders Compared with the Prior Year-end

share, except for percentages

Number of shares held in
the shareholders’ common
accounts and credit
Number of shares lent  accounts and shares lent
through refinancing and  through refinancing and

unreturned at the end of unreturned at the end of the

the reporting period reporting period
Addition/exit
during the
reporting Number in Percentage Number in Percentage
Name of shareholder period aggregate (%) aggregate (%)
China Mobile Communications Group Co., Ltd. Addition - - 6,777,108,433 6.83
New China Life Insurance Co., Ltd. - Traditional
- General insurance products - 018L - CT001 Shanghai Addition - - 159,440,321 0.16
National Social Security Fund Portfolio 108 Addition - - 132,345,044 0.13
Shanghai Pudong Development Bank Co., Ltd.
- E Fund Yufeng Return Bond Fund Addition - - 91,121,435 0.09
Industrial and Commercial Bank of China Limited
- Huatai-PineBridge CSI 300 Trading Open-ended Index Fund ~ Addition 120,100 0.00 82,688,800 0.08
E Fund Management Co,, Ltd. - Social Security Fund Portfolio 1104 Exit 35,200 0.00 73,800,000 0.07
Dajia Life Insurance Co., Ltd. - Universal Products Exit - - 29,773,476 0.03
Foresea Life Insurance Co., Ltd. - Self-owned funds Exit - - 7,394,997 0.01
Shenzhen New Star Investment Management Co., Ltd.
- New Star Growth No. 1 Fund Exit - - - -
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Shareholdings of the Top Ten Shareholders Subject to Selling Restrictions

share
Conditions for listing and trading
of shares subject to selling restrictions
Number of Date on which Number of new
shares subject to listing and trading shares allowed to
Name of shareholder selling restrictions may commence  be listed and traded Selling restrictions
China Post Group Corporation 5,405,405,405 March 25, 2026 - 5years since share acquisition after the
Limited non-public issuance of A shares
of the Bank in 2021
China Mobile Communications 6,777,108,433 March 28, 2028 - 5years since share acquisition after the
Group Co,, Ltd. non-public issuance of A shares

of the Bank in 2023

Strategic Investor or General Legal Entity Becoming Top Ten Shareholders Due to Placement of New Shares

Name of strategic investor or general legal entity Agreed start date of shareholding  Agreed end date of shareholding

China Mobile Communications Group Co., Ltd. March 28, 2023 -

Shareholdings by the Directors, Supervisors and Senior Management Members
During the reporting period, the shareholdings by the Directors, Supervisors and senior management members of
the Bank remained unchanged. As at the disclosure date of this report, none of the Directors, Supervisors and senior

management members of the Bank held any shares of the Bank.

Substantial Shareholders

According to the Interim Measures on Equity Management of Commercial Banks published by the former CBIRC, China
Post Group, China Mobile Communications Group Co., Ltd., China State Shipbuilding Corporation Limited (“CSSC”) and
Shanghai International Port (Group) Co., Ltd. (“SIPG") are substantial shareholders of the Bank, as China Post Group and
China Mobile Communications Group Co., Ltd. hold more than 5% of interests in the Bank while CSSC and SIPG designate

Directors to the Bank.

Basic Information of Substantial Shareholders

There was no change in the controlling shareholder or de facto controller of the Bank during the reporting period.
During the reporting period, the Bank non-publicly offered 6,777,108,433 A shares of ordinary shares in March 2023

to China Mobile Communications Group Co., Ltd., making China Mobile Communications Group Co., Ltd. a substantial

shareholder of the Bank as it holds more than 5% of the Bank's shares.

Green world,
better life
L2



Changes in Share Capital and Shareholdings of Shareholders

The controlling shareholder and de facto controller of the Bank is China Post Group. China Post Group Corporation
Limited (“China Post Group”), a wholly state-owned enterprise incorporated in accordance with the Company Law of the
People’s Republic of China, was established on October 4, 1995, and was officially restructured into China Post Group
Corporation Limited on December 17, 2019. It engages in various postal businesses in accordance with law, undertakes
the obligations of general postal services and provides special postal services entrusted by the government. China Post
Group has a registered capital of RMB137.6 billion. Its registered address is No. 3 Financial Street, Xicheng District, Beijing.
Its unified social credit code is 911000000000192465 and legal representative is Mr. Liu Aili. China Post Group is principally
engaged in domestic and international mail delivery, distribution of publications such as newspapers and journals, stamp
issuance, postal remittance, operation of postal savings business in accordance with law, confidential correspondence,
postal financial business, emerging business such as postal logistics and e-mail, e-commerce, agency business and other
businesses as stipulated by the state.

Other domestic and overseas listed companies directly held by China Post Group as at the end of the reporting period are
listed below:

Shareholding

No. Name of institution percentage Stock exchange

1 Bank of Communications Co., Ltd. 0.0847%  SSE, Hong Kong Stock Exchange
2 Shanghai Pudong Development Bank Co., Ltd. 0.5370%  SSE

3 China Merchants Bank Co., Ltd. 0.0837%  SSE, Hong Kong Stock Exchange
4 New Guomai Digital Culture Co., Ltd. 0.1846%  SSE

5 Shenergy Company Limited 0.0059%  SSE

6 Orient Securities Company Limited 2.6927%  SSE, Hong Kong Stock Exchange
7 China Merchants Securities Co., Ltd. 0.0278%  SSE, Hong Kong Stock Exchange
8 Industrial Bank Co., Ltd. 0.1094%  SSE

9 China Pacific Insurance (Group) Co., Ltd. 0.0018%  SSE, Hong Kong Stock Exchange
10 Petrochina Company Limited 0.0004%  SSE, Hong Kong Stock Exchange
11 COSCO SHIPPING Development Co., Ltd. 0.0025%  SSE, Hong Kong Stock Exchange
12 China Coal Energy Company Limited 0.0025%  SSE, Hong Kong Stock Exchange
13 Yangmei Chemical Co., Ltd. 0.0556%  SSE

14 Southwest Securities Company Ltd. 0.1361%  SSE

15 Bank of Chongging Co., Ltd. 0.1349%  SSE, Hong Kong Stock Exchange

As at the end of the reporting period, China Post Group directly held 62,174,849,280 A shares and 80,700,000 H shares of
the Bank, with a shareholding percentage of 62.78%. The property right relationship between the Bank and China Post
Group, the controlling shareholder and de facto controller, is as follows:

62.78%

v

Postal Savings Bank of China Co., Ltd.
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Overview

China Mobile Communications Group Co., Ltd. (“China
Mobile Group”) is a wholly state-owned enterprise
established under the Company Law of the People’s
Republic of China by the state with a registered capital
of RMB300 billion. Its registered address is No. 29
Financial Street, Xicheng District, Beijing. Its unified
social credit code is 911100007109250324, and the
legal representative is Yang Jie. China Mobile Group, a
central state-owned enterprise established on July 22,
1999 in accordance with the overall plan of the national
telecommunications system reform, is the world’s largest
mobile communications service provider with over 900
million mobile users and over 200 million household
customers. China Mobile Group is principally engaged
in basic telecommunications business, value-added
telecommunications business, and innovative digital
services such as digital media content and information
solutions. As a unit which holds the license for operating
international networking of computer information and
international communication accesses, China Mobile
Group is able to provide quality products and services
related to information and communication, and integrated
information solutions to individuals, families, government

agencies, enterprises and other customers.

Discussion and Analysis

Financial Statements and Others

China State Shipbuilding Corporation Limited (“CSSC")
is a wholly state-owned enterprise established on
November 8, 2019 under the Company Law of the
People’s Republic of China by the state with a registered
capital of RMB110 billion. Its registered address is No.
889 Zhonghua Road, Huangpu District, Shanghai and
its unified social credit code is 91310000MA1FL70B67
and the legal representative is Wen Gang. CSSC has
the largest shipbuilding and repair base in China and
the most complete research and development capacity
for shipping and supporting products. It is the world's
largest shipbuilding group capable of designing and
building shipping and marine equipment that meet
the requirements of global classification societies,
international general technical standards and safety
conventions. CSSC is principally engaged in the research,
development and production of naval products, merchant
ships and supporting facilities as well as non-marine
equipment, and is one of the Global 500 companies in

China’s shipping industry.



Changes in Share Capital and Shareholdings of Shareholders

Shanghai International Port (Group) Co., Ltd. (“SIPG"),
the operator of public terminals in the Port of Shanghai,
is a large specialized business group established in
January 2003 by restructuring the former Shanghai
Port Administration Bureau. In June 2005, SIPG was
transformed into a joint-stock limited liability company
after completion of the conversion into a joint-stock
company, and was listed on SSE on October 26, 2006,
becoming the first joint-stock port company listed as a
whole in China. It is now the largest public company in
the port industry in China and is also one of the largest
port companies in the world. The registered capital of
SIPG is approximately RMB23,284 million. SIPG has its
registered address at 4/F, Area A, Comprehensive Building,
No. 1 Tonghui Road, China (Shanghai) Pilot Free Trade
Zone, and its headquarters at No. 358 (International Port
Building) East Daming Road, Hongkou District, Shanghai.
Its unified social credit code is 913100001322075806, and
the legal representative is Mr. Gu Jinshan. Its de facto
controller is Shanghai State-owned Assets Supervision
and Administration Commission. SIPG is mainly engaged
in port-related business including container services, bulk

cargo services, port logistics and port services.

Pledging of the Bank’s Shares by Its Substantial
Shareholders

As at the end of the reporting period, CSSC pledged
1,560,000,000 ordinary shares of the Bank, accounting for
1.57% of the total share capital of the Bank, and there was
no share pledge by other substantial shareholders of the
Bank.

Other Legal Entity Shareholders Holding 10% or
More of the Bank’s Shares

Save for China Post Group, as at the end of the reporting
period, the Bank had no other legal entity shareholders’

holding 10% or more of its shares.

Related Parties of Substantial Shareholders and
Connected Transactions

About 1,700 institutions including the above-mentioned
substantial shareholders and their controlling shareholders,
de facto controllers, related parties, persons acting in
concert and ultimate beneficiaries are regarded as related
parties of the Bank. During the reporting period, the types
of transactions between the Bank and the above-mentioned
related parties mainly included credit extension, asset
transfer, service provision, etc. These connected transactions
were included in the routine connected transaction
management of the Bank and submitted to the Board
of Directors and its Related Party Transactions Control

Committee for approval or kept on record.

For details on the Bank’s connected transactions with
substantial shareholders and their related parties, please
refer to “Connected Transactions and the Implementation
of the Management System for Connected Transactions”
and “Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements - 40

Relationship and transactions with related parties”.

1 Excluding HKSCC Nominees Limited.
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Interests and Short Positions Held by Substantial Shareholders and Other Persons
As at the end of the reporting period, so far as was known to the Directors, Supervisors and President of the Bank, saved

as disclosed below, there were no other persons (other than the Directors, Supervisors and President of the Bank) or

companies who had interests or short positions in the shares or underlying shares of the Bank which were required to be

disclosed to the Bank and Hong Kong Stock Exchange under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO as

recorded in the register required to be kept pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO:

share, except for percentages

Relevant interests Percentage of Percentage of
Class of and short  Nature of issued class  total issued
Name of shareholder Capacity shares positions (shares) interests shares (%) shares (%)
China Post Group Corporation Limited Beneficial owner A shares 62,174,849,280  Long position 78.40 62.70
Beneficial owner H shares 80,700,000  Long position 0.41 0.08
China Mobile Communications Group  Beneficial owner A shares 6,777,108,433  Long position 8.55 6.83
Co,, Ltd.
China State Shipbuilding Corporation  Interest of controlled H shares 3,939,907,462  Long position 19.84 3.97
Limited corporations
Shanghai International Port (Group) ~ Beneficial owner and H shares 3,702,921,041  Long position 18.65 373
Co,, Ltd. interest of controlled
corporations
Beneficial owner A shares 112,539,226 Long position 0.14 0.1
Li Ka-Shing Interest of controlled H shares 1,774,700,000  Long position 8.94 1.79
corporations
Founder of discretionary H shares 196,138,000  Long position 0.99 0.20
trust
Li Tzar Kuoi, Victor Interest of controlled H shares 1,774,700,000  Long position 8.94 1.79
corporations
Potential beneficiary of ~ H shares 196,138,000  Long position 0.99 0.20
discretionary trust
BNP PARIBAS SA Interest of controlled H shares 1,545,250,830  Long position 7.78 1.56
corporations
Interest of controlled H shares 197,955,033  Short position 1.00 0.20
corporations
China National Tobacco Corporation  Beneficial owner H shares 1,296,000,000  Long position 6.53 1.31
LiLu Interest of controlled H shares 1,274,411,000  Long position 6.42 1.29
corporations
CITIC Securities Company Limited Interest of controlled H shares 1,652,007,744  Long position 832 1.67
corporations
Interest of controlled H shares 2,595,731,797  Short position 13.07 2.62
corporations
Note (1):  The information disclosed above is based on the information provided on the website of Hong Kong Stock Exchange and the

Note (2):

information available to the Bank at the end of the reporting period. Pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO, shareholders of the
Bank are required to file a disclosure of interests form when certain criteria are met. When a shareholder’s shareholding in
the Bank changes, the shareholder is not required to inform the Bank and Hong Kong Stock Exchange unless certain criteria
are met, therefore the shareholder’s latest shareholding in the Bank may differ from the shareholding filed with Hong Kong
Stock Exchange.

China State Shipbuilding Corporation Limited is interested in a total of 3,939,907,462 H shares (long position), of which
3,777,884,462 H shares (long position) are indirectly held by controlled corporations, namely China Shipbuilding Industry
Corporation, China Shipbuilding & Offshore International Co., Limited, China Shipbuilding & Offshore International (H.K.)
Co., Limited and China Shipbuilding Capital Limited through CSIC Investment One Limited as the beneficial owner,
and 162,023,000 H shares (long position) are indirectly held by the controlled corporation China Shipbuilding Industry
Corporation through China Shipbuilding Capital Limited as the beneficial owner.



Changes in Share Capital and Shareholdings of Shareholders

Note (3):

Note (4):

Note (5):

Note (6):

Note (7):

Shanghai International Port (Group) Co., Ltd. is interested in a total of 3,702,921,041 H shares (long position), of which
337,300,000 H shares (long position) are beneficially owned by it, 3,215,660,360 H shares (long position) are beneficially
owned by the controlled corporation Shanghai International Port Group (HK) Co., Limited; and 149,960,681 H shares (long
position) are indirectly held by the controlled corporation Shanghai International Port Group (HK) Co., Limited through
Shanghai Port Group (BVI) Holding Co., Limited as the beneficial owner.

Mr. Li Ka-Shing and Mr. Li Tzar Kuoi, Victor is each interested in a total of 1,970,838,000 H shares (long position), of which
1,108,228,000 H shares (long position), 397,221,000 H shares (long position), 269,251,000 H shares (long position) and
196,138,000 H shares (long position) are beneficially owned by the controlled corporation Li Ka Shing (Canada) Foundation,
Li Ka Shing (Global) Foundation, Li Ka Shing Foundation Limited and Silvery Ring Limited.

BNP PARIBAS SA is deemed to be interested in a total of 1,545,250,830 H shares (long position) and 197,955,033 H shares
(short position) as it controls several enterprises, of which 1,297,692,946 H shares (long position) are available for lending,
116,837,789 H shares (long position) and 106,540,595 H shares (short position) are owned through holding listed derivatives
of convertible instruments, and 57,041,925 H shares (long position) are owned through holding cash-settled unlisted
derivatives.

Li Lu is interested in 1,274,411,000 H shares (long position) indirectly held by the controlled corporation LL Group, LLC
through Himalaya Capital Investors, L.P. as the beneficial owner. Himalaya Capital Management LLC is interested in the
1,274,411,000 H shares (long position) as the investment manager.

CITIC Securities Company Limited is deemed to be interested in a total of 1,652,007,744 H shares (long position) and
2,595,731,797 H shares (short position) as it controls several enterprises, including 26,427,459 H shares (long position) and
1,297,173,870 H shares (short position) held through holding listed derivatives of convertible instruments, 327,826,130 H
shares (long position) and 1,297,753,870 H shares (short position) held through holding unlisted derivatives delivered in kind,
and 804,057 H shares (short position) held through holding cash-settled unlisted derivatives.

Issuance and Listing of Securities

Type of equity and Issue price  Issuing quantity Permitted trading ~ Termination date
derivative securities Issuing date (RMB/share) (share) Listing date volume (share)  of transaction
RMB ordinary shares March 28, 2023 6.64 6,777,108433  March 28,2023 6,777,108433 -

For details of the issuance of other securities of the Bank during the reporting period, please refer to “Notes to the

Consolidated Financial Statements - 33 Debt securities issued” and “Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements — 35.2

Other equity instruments”.

The Bank has no employee stocks.
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Corporate Governance

Corporate Governance Code

During the reporting period, the Bank complied with laws
and regulations, requirements for corporate governance
put forth by the NFRA, CSRC, SSE and other regulatory
authorities as well as the principles and code provisions
of the Corporate Governance Code in Appendix C1
(previously Appendix 14) to the Hong Kong Listing
Rules. It continued to improve the corporate governance
structure and mechanism, and cultivated the corporate
governance culture. All corporate governance bodies
performed their respective duties and responsibilities,
operated in a coordinated way with effective checks and
balances, and continuously improved the quality and

efficiency of corporate governance.

Shareholders’ Rights

Convening of an Extraordinary General Meeting
The Bank protects shareholders’ rights in strict compliance
with the regulatory requirements and the Articles of
Association. Shareholders who individually or collectively
hold more than 10% of the total voting shares of the Bank
(the “Requesting Shareholders”) are entitled to request the
Board of Directors to convene an extraordinary general
meeting and submit proposals to the Board of Directors
in writing. The Board of Directors shall reply in writing as
to whether it agrees or refuses to convene such a meeting
within 10 days upon receipt of the proposal in accordance
with the laws, administrative regulations, ministerial rules

and the Articles of Association.

If the Board of Directors agrees to convene an
extraordinary general meeting, a notice of such a meeting
shall be issued within 5 days after relevant resolution
of the Board of Directors is passed. Consent of the
Requesting Shareholders must be sought if there are any
changes to the original proposal in the notice. If the Board
of Directors does not agree to convene an extraordinary
general meeting, or fails to provide feedback within
10 days upon receipt of the proposal, the Requesting
Shareholders have the right to propose to the Board of
Supervisors to convene an extraordinary general meeting,
and shall submit such proposal to the Board of Supervisors
in writing.
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If the Board of Supervisors agrees to convene an
extraordinary general meeting, a notice of such a meeting
shall be issued within 5 days upon receipt of the proposal.
Consent of the Requesting Shareholders must be sought
if there are any changes to the original proposal in the

notice.

If the Board of Supervisors fails to issue the notice of the
extraordinary general meeting within the specified period,
it is deemed that such a meeting will not be convened
or presided over by the Board of Supervisors, and
shareholders who individually or collectively hold more
than 10% of the Bank's shares for over 90 consecutive days
have the right to convene and preside over the meeting

on their own initiative.

Convening of an Extraordinary Board Meeting

The Requesting Shareholders are entitled to propose
the convening of an extraordinary board meeting to the
Chairman of the Board of Directors. The Chairman should
convene and chair the extraordinary board meeting within

ten days upon receipt of the proposal.

Enquiries to the Board of Directors

Shareholders of the Bank have the right to access
information and are entitled, in accordance with laws,
administrative regulations, ministerial rules and the
Articles of Association, to obtain relevant information
including the Articles of Association of the Bank, the share
capital, the latest audited financial statement, reports of
the Board of Directors and of the Board of Supervisors,
minutes of Shareholders’ General Meetings, and other
relevant information. Shareholders who request access to
information or request documents shall provide the Bank
with written documents evidencing the class and number
of shares held by them in the Bank, and the Bank shall
provide such information or documents as requested upon
verification of such shareholders’ identities. The Office of
the Board of Directors shall be responsible for assisting
the Board of Directors with its daily matters. Shareholders
can contact the Office of the Board of Directors for any

enquiries.



Overview

Proposals to the Shareholders’ General Meeting

Pursuant to the Articles of Association, shareholders who
individually or collectively hold more than 3% of the total
voting shares of the Bank (the “Proposing Shareholders”)
have the right to submit proposals to the Shareholders’
General Meeting. Shareholders holding individually or
collectively more than 1% of the total voting shares of
the Bank have the right to propose Independent Non-
executive Director candidates and External Supervisor
candidates to the Shareholders’ General Meeting. The
Proposing Shareholders have the right to submit interim
proposals to the convener in writing up to ten days before
the Shareholders’ General Meeting. The convener shall
issue a supplemental notice on the Shareholders’ General

Meeting within two days upon receipt of such proposals.

Discussion and Analysis

Financial Statements and Others

Proposals to the Board of Directors
The Requesting Shareholders are entitled to submit

proposals to the Board of Directors.




Corporate Governance

Shareholders’ General Meeting
During the reporting period, the Bank held one Annual General Meeting in total, with 12 proposals reviewed and

approved and 4 reports listened to. Details are as follows:

Websites for publishing Disclosure date

Meeting Date resolutions of resolutions Meeting resolutions

2022 Annual June 30, 2023 The announcement on June 30, 2023 See the

General Meeting resolutions was published announcements on
on the websites of SSE the resolutions and
(www.sse.com.cn), Hong poll results of the
Kong Stock Exchange Shareholders' General
(www.hkexnews.hk) and Meeting

the Bank on June 30, 2023.

On June 30, 2023, the Bank held the 2022 Annual General Meeting in Beijing. The meeting reviewed and approved 12
proposals, including the proposals on the final financial accounts for 2022, the profit distribution plan for 2022, the change
of registered capital and the revision of the Articles of Association. The meeting also listened to 4 reports including the
Independent Directors Debriefing Report in 2022, the Report on the Evaluation of the Substantial Shareholder in 2022, the
Report on the Implementation of the Plan on Authorization of the Shareholders’ General Meeting to the Board of Directors

in 2022, and the Report on the Special Report on Related Party Transactions in 2022.

The aforementioned Shareholders’ General Meeting was convened and held in strict accordance with relevant laws,
regulations and the listing rules of the Chinese mainland and Hong Kong. Directors, Supervisors and senior management
members of the Bank attended or sat in on the meeting and exchanged views with shareholders on matters of their
concern. The Bank issued relevant announcements on resolutions and legal opinions in a timely manner in accordance

with the regulatory requirements. For details, please refer to the announcement of the Bank dated June 30, 2023.

In order to protect the rights of minority shareholders to access information, participate and make decisions, the
Shareholders’ General Meeting was held in the form of on-site meeting, and an A-share online voting was provided
to promote in-depth communication and exchange with shareholders, especially minority shareholders, effectively

protecting the rights and interests of shareholders.
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Directors, Supervisors and Senior Management

Basic Information
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Name Title Gender Date of birth Tenure
Directors
Liu Jianjun Executive Director Male August 1965 August 2021 - July 2024
President August 2021 - now
Yao Hong Executive Director Female October 1966 August 2016 - now
Vice President December 2006 - now
Chief Risk Officer May 2023 - now
Han Wenbo Non-executive Director Male December 1966 May 2017 - April 2024
Chen Donghao Non-executive Director Male June 1964 July 2021 - July 2024
Wei Qiang Non-executive Director Male August 1963 May 2021 - May 2024
Huang Jie Non-executive Director Male January 1969 January 2024 - January 2027
Liu Yue Non-executive Director Male March 1962 December 2017 - now
Ding Xiangming Non-executive Director Male October 1968 October 2017 - now
Wen Tiejun Independent Non-executive Director Male May 1951 October 2019 - October 2025
Chung Shui Ming Timpson Independent Non-executive Director Male November 1951 October 2019 - October 2025
Hu Xiang Independent Non-executive Director Male November 1975 October 2017 - now
Pan Yingli Independent Non-executive Director Female June 1955 December 2019 - November 2025
Tang Zhihong Independent Non-executive Director Male March 1960 March 2023 - March 2026
Supervisors
Chen Yuejun Chairman of the Board of Supervisors Male June 1965 January 2013 - now
Shareholder Representative Supervisor December 2012 - now
Bai Jianjun External Supervisor Male July 1955 October 2019 - now
Chen Shimin External Supervisor Male July 1958 December 2019 - now
Li Yue Employee Supervisor Male March 1972 December 2012 - July 2025
Gu Nannan Employee Supervisor Male July 1969 June 2021 - June 2024
Senior Management Members
Liu Jianjun See "Directors” above
Yao Hong See “Directors” above
Xu Xueming Vice President Male July 1967 January 2013 - now
Du Chunye Vice President Male May 1977 July 2020 - now
Secretary to the Board of Directors April 2017 - now
Joint Company Secretary March 2017 - now
Niu Xinzhuang Vice President Male July 1976 June 2023 - now
Chief Information Officer July 2020 - now
Wang Fei Secretary of the Commission for Female October 1972 April 2023 - now
Discipline Inspection
Liang Shidong Retail Business Director Male January 1976 July 2023 - now
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Name Title Gender Date of birth Tenure
Resigned Personnel
Zhang Xuewen Former Executive Director, former Vice Male November 1962 January 2013 - April 2023
President
Fu Tingmei Former Independent Non-executive Male May 1966 August 2016 - March 2023
Director
Zhao Yongxiang Former Shareholder Representative Male February 1964 May 2016 - March 2024
Supervisor
Wu Yu Former External Supervisor Male January 1966 May 2016 - May 2023
Bu Dongsheng Former Employee Supervisor Male September 1965 May 2017 - May 2023
Qu Jiawen Former Vice President Male April 1963 January 2013 - April 2023
Note (1): According to laws, regulations and the Articles of Association of the Bank, the Directors and Supervisors of the Bank may be
re-elected for consecutive terms after their current term expires. Before the newly elected Directors and Supervisors take
office, the former Directors and Supervisors shall continue to perform their duties.
Note (2): During the reporting period, none of the Directors, Supervisors and senior management members of the Bank held any share

options or were granted restricted shares of the Bank.

Positions Taken by Directors, Supervisors and Senior Management Members at Shareholder Companies

Name of the Positions held in the
Name shareholder company shareholder company Term of office
Liu Jianjun China Post Group Vice President May 2021 - now
Han Wenbo China Post Group Board Member February 2021 - now
Chen Donghao China Post Group Board Member February 2021 - now
Ding Xiangming SIPG Vice President July 2013 - now
Secretary to the Board of Directors March 2014 - now
General Counsel November 2022 - now
Zhang Xuewen China Post Group Assistant President February 2022 - April 2023
Zhao Yongxiang China Post Group Senior Manager of Discipline February 2023 - February
Inspection Office of the Leading 2024
Party Members’ Group
Note (1): The relevant regulatory authorities have agreed to exempt Mr. Liu Jianjun and Mr. Zhang Xuewen from restrictions on

concurrent positions as senior management. Mr. Zhang Xuewen resigned from his positions as Executive Director, Vice
President, etc. of the Bank on April 19, 2023, due to reaching the statutory retirement age. Moreover, there were no other
instances where Directors, Supervisors, or senior management of the Bank held positions in any shareholder companies.
The Independent Non-executive Directors of the Bank are of the view that during the reporting period, Mr. Liu Jianjun and
Mr. Zhang Xuewen practically fulfilled their undertakings, performed their duties with due diligence and properly managed
the relationship between the Bank and its controlling shareholder while holding concurrent positions. Their actions did not
harm the interests of the Bank or other shareholders due to such concurrent positions, which was in compliance with the
independence requirements of personnel in listed companies.
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Remuneration Paid to Directors, Supervisors and Senior Management Members of the Bank in 2023

In RMB10,000

Contributions

Obtain

by the employer remuneration
to social from shareholder
insurance, companies or
housing other related
provident fund, parties or not
Remuneration enterprise Total  during the tenure
Name Title Fees (1) paid (2) annuity, etc.(3)  (4)=(1)+(2)+(3) in 2023
Liu Jianjun Executive Director, President - - - - Yes
Yao Hong Executive Director, Vice President, - 50.97 26.08 77.05 No
Chief Risk Officer
Han Wenbo Non-executive Director - - - - Yes
Chen Donghao Non-executive Director - - - - Yes
Wei Qiang Non-executive Director - - - - Yes
Huang Jie Non-executive Director - - - - -
Liu Yue Non-executive Director - - - - No
Ding Xiangming Non-executive Director - - - - Yes
Wen Tigjun Independent Non-executive Director 34.80 - - 34.80 No
Chung Shui Ming Timpson  Independent Non-executive Director 34.80 - - 34.80 No
Hu Xiang Independent Non-executive Director 34.80 - - 34.80 Yes
Pan Yingli Independent Non-executive Director 34.80 - - 34.80 No
Tang Zhihong Independent Non-executive Director 2823 - - 2823 Yes
Chen Yuejun Chairman of the Board of Supervisors, - 52.14 27.09 79.23 No
Shareholder Representative
Supervisor
Bai Jianjun External Supervisor 30.00 - - 30.00 Yes
Chen Shimin External Supervisor 30.00 - - 30.00 Yes
Li Yue Employee Supervisor - - - - No
Gu Nannan Employee Supervisor - - - - No
Xu Xueming Vice President - 5091 2592 76.83 No
Du Chunye Vice President, Secretary to the - 5091 26.00 76.91 No
Board of Directors, Joint Company
Secretary
Niu Xinzhuang Vice President, Chief Information - 60.75 2212 82.87 No

Officer

Green world,
better life
L2
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/n RMB10,000
Contributions Obtain
by the employer remuneration
to social from shareholder
insurance, companies or
housing other related
provident fund, parties or not
Remuneration enterprise Total  during the tenure
Name Title Fees (1) paid (2)  annuity, etc.(3)  (4)=(1)+(2)+(3) in 2023
Wang Fei Secretary of the Commission for - 3222 23.07 5529 No
Discipline Inspection
Liang Shidong Retail Business Director - 80.00 2172 101.72 No
Resigned Personnel
Zhang Xuewen Former Executive Director, former - 17.75 8.24 25.99 No
Vice President
Fu Tingmei Former Independent Non-executive 8.70 - - 8.70 No
Director
Zhao Yongxiang Former Shareholder Representative - - - - Yes
Supervisor
Wu Yu Former External Supervisor 1250 - - 1250 Yes
Bu Dongsheng Former Employee Supervisor - - - - No
Qu Jiawen Former Vice President - 16.83 7.96 2479 No

Note (1): The remuneration plan of senior management members of the Bank was reviewed and determined by the Board of Directors;
the remuneration plan of Directors was reviewed and determined by the Board of Directors and the Shareholders’ General
Meeting; and the remuneration plan of Supervisors was reviewed and determined by the Board of Supervisors and the
Shareholders’ General Meeting.

Note (2): During the reporting period, the total remuneration paid to Directors, Supervisors and senior management members by the
Bank amounted to RMB8,493.1 thousand. The final remuneration payable to Directors, Supervisors and senior management
members of the Bank is still subject to confirmation, and the remaining details will be disclosed separately upon confirmation.

Note (3): Mr. Liu Jianjun, Executive Director and President of the Bank, held positions at and received remuneration from China Post
Group Corporation Limited, the controlling shareholder of the Bank, and did not receive any remuneration from the Bank.

Note (4): Mr. Han Wenbo, Mr. Chen Donghao, Mr. Wei Qiang, Mr. Liu Yue and Mr. Ding Xiangming, Non-executive Directors of the Bank,
did not receive any remuneration from the Bank. Mr. Huang Jie, who was appointed as a Non-executive Director of the Bank on
January 19, 2024, did not receive any remuneration from the Bank in 2023.

Note (5): Mr. Zhao Yongxiang, a former Shareholder Representative Supervisor, did not receive any remuneration from the Bank.

Note (6): Employee Supervisors of the Bank did not receive remuneration as Employee Supervisors, and the remuneration due to them
as employees of the Bank is not included here.

Note (7): Some of the Bank’s Independent Non-executive Directors held positions as Independent Non-executive Directors at and

received remuneration from other legal entities or organizations. Such circumstance does not constitute the receipt of
remuneration from related parties under the regulatory rules of the listing places.
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Biographies of Directors, Supervisors and Senior

Management Members

Liu Jianjun, Executive Director and President

Liu Jianjun, male, obtained a master’s degree in Economics
from Dongbei University of Finance and Economics and
holds the title of Senior Economist. Mr. Liu Jianjun began
to serve as Executive Director and President of the Bank
since August 2021, and has performed responsibilities
on behalf of Chairman of the Bank since April 2022. He
previously served as Deputy General Manager of Weifang
Branch and Jinan Branch as well as the General Manager
of Dezhou Branch under Shandong Branch of China
Construction Bank; Deputy General Manager of Jinan
Branch of China Merchants Bank, General Manager of the
Retail Banking Department, General Manager of the Retail
Management Department, Business Executive of the Head
Office and Senior Executive Vice President of the General
Office of Retail Finance, Director of the Credit Card Center
of China Merchants Bank, Executive Director, Executive
Vice President and Secretary of the Board of Directors of
China Merchants Bank. He is now Vice President of China

Post Group.

Yao Hong, Executive Director, Vice President and Chief
Risk Officer

Yao Hong, female, obtained a master’s degree in
Management from Hunan University and holds the
title of Senior Economist. Ms. Yao has served as Vice
President, Executive Director and Chief Risk Officer of the
Bank since December 2006, August 2016 and May 2023
respectively. She previously served as Deputy Director of
the Savings Business Division under the Postal Savings
and Remittance Bureau of the Ministry of Posts and
Telecommunications, and Director of the Savings Business
Division and Associate Director General of the Postal
Savings and Remittance Bureau of the State Post Bureau.
She concurrently serves as Vice Chairman of Payment &

Clearing Association of China.

Discussion and Analysis

Financial Statements and Others

Han Wenbo, Non-executive Director

Han Wenbo, male, obtained a doctor’s degree in
Management from Northeast Agricultural University and
holds a PRC lawyer’s license and the title of Economist.
Mr. Han has served as Non-executive Director of the
Bank since May 2017 and has served as Board Member
of China Post Group since February 2021. He previously
served as Deputy Director of General Office and Assistant
Ombudsman of Heilongjiang Fiscal Ombudsman Office
of the Ministry of Finance (MOF), Assistant Ombudsman
of Beijing Fiscal Ombudsman Office of the MOF, Vice
Ombudsman of Sichuan Fiscal Ombudsman Office of the
MOF, Vice Ombudsman of Beijing Fiscal Ombudsman
Office of the MOF, and Deputy Director (Deputy Director
General level) and Director (Director General level) of the
General Office of the Inspection Work Leadership Group of
the MOF.

Chen Donghao, Non-executive Director

Chen Donghao, male, graduated from Renmin University
of China with a bachelor’s degree in law. Mr. Chen has
served as Non-executive Director of the Bank since July
2021 and the Director of China Post Group since February
2021. Mr. Chen served as Deputy Director of Division lI,
Deputy Director and Director of the General Office,
Director of Division IV of the Department of Treaty and
Law, Deputy Chief of the Department of Tax Policy of the

Ministry of Finance, etc.

Wei Qiang, Non-executive Director

Wei Qiang, male, graduated from Party School of the
Central Committee of the Communist Party of China and
holds the title of Senior Auditor. Mr. Wei has served as
Non-executive Director of the Bank since May 2021. He
served as teacher and the deputy chief of the finance
department of Sichuan Post and Telecommunication
College, deputy chief staff member, chief staff member,
Deputy Director and Deputy Director (presiding over

work) of the Public Finance Audit Division, Director of the
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Financial Audit Division | of the Chengdu Regional Office
of the National Audit Office, Assistant Commissioner
and Deputy Commissioner of Changsha Regional Office,
Deputy Commissioner of Chengdu Regional Office, Deputy
Commissioner (presiding over work) and Commissioner
of Lanzhou Regional Office, Head of the Department of
Enterprise Audit, Director of the General Office, Director of
the Training Center (Audit Communication Center), Head
of the Department of Public Finance Audit of the National
Audit Office, etc.

Huang Jie, Non-executive Director

Huang Jie, male, obtained an Executive Master’'s degree
of Business Administration from Xiamen University and
is a senior accountant. Mr. Huang has served as Non-
executive Director of the Bank since January 2024. Mr.
Huang previously served as Deputy Director of Finance
Department of Hebei Mobile Communication Company,
General Manager of Finance Department of China Mobile
Group Hebei Co., Ltd., Director, Deputy General Manager
and Chief Accountant of China Mobile Group Hebei Co.,
Ltd., as well as General Manager of Finance Department and
Securities Affairs Department and Domestic Representative
for information disclosure at China Mobile Limited, etc.
He currently serves as Chief Accountant of China State

Construction Engineering Corporation Limited.

Liu Yue, Non-executive Director

Liu Yue, male, obtained a doctor’'s degree in Engineering
from Harbin Engineering University and holds the
title of Senior Engineer. Mr. Liu has served as Non-
executive Director of the Bank since December 2017. He
previously served as an engineer and Deputy Director
of Comprehensive Planning Bureau of China State
Shipbuilding Corporation, Deputy Director of Science,
Technology and Quality Control Department of China
National Space Administration, Board Secretary, Director and
Executive Director of CSIC Science & Technology Investment
& Development Co., Ltd., Assistant Director, Deputy Director
and Director of Planning and Development Department and
Chief Economist of China Shipbuilding Industry Corporation,
and Chairman of China Shipbuilding Capital Limited.
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Ding Xiangming, Non-executive Director

Ding Xiangming, male, obtained an MBA degree from
Shanghai Maritime University, and holds the title of Senior
Economist. Mr. Ding has served as Non-executive Director
of the Bank since October 2017. He previously served
as General Manager of Investment and Development
Department, Vice President, General Manager of
Investment and Development Department, Vice President,
Board Secretary and General Manager of Investment and
Development Department of Shanghai International Port
(Group) Co., Ltd. (“SIPG"). Mr. Ding currently serves as Vice

President, Board Secretary and General Counsel of SIPG.

Wen Tiejun, Independent Non-executive Director

Wen Tiejun, male, obtained a doctor’s degree in
Management from China Agricultural University. Mr.
Wen has served as Independent Non-executive Director
of the Bank since October 2019. He previously served
as an assistant researcher of the Rural Development
Research Center of the State Council, a researcher of the
Research Center for Rural Economy of the Ministry of
Agriculture, Deputy Secretary General of the China Society
of Economic Reform, Dean of School of Agricultural
Economics and Rural Development at Renmin University
of China, and Independent Non-executive Director of
Agricultural Bank of China Limited. Mr. Wen currently
serves as a member of the National Committee of Experts
on Food Security, a provincial and ministerial-level adviser
and policy advisory expert of the Ministry of Commerce,
the Ministry of Civil Affairs, the National Forestry and
Grassland Administration, Beijing Municipality and Fujian
Province of the PRC, etc., and external director of Xinjiang

Culture & Tourism Investment Group Co., Ltd.
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Chung Shui Ming Timpson, Independent Non-executive
Director

Chung Shui Ming Timpson, male, obtained an honorary
doctor’s degree in Social Science from the City University
of Hong Kong. He is a fellow member of the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants, and received the
title of Justice of the Peace from the HKSAR Government
in 1998 and was awarded the Gold Bauhinia Star by
the HKSAR Government in 2000. Mr. Chung has served
as Independent Non-executive Director of the Bank
since October 2019. He previously served as Senior
Auditing Director of Coopers & Lybrand, Chairman of the
Management Board of the City University of Hong Kong,
Chief Executive Officer of Shimao International Holdings
Ltd., Chairman of the Hong Kong Housing Society, a
member of the HKSAR Executive Council, Chief Executive
Officer of HKSAR Government Land Fund Trust, and
Independent Non-executive Director of Nine Dragons
Paper (Holdings) Limited, Henderson Land Development
Co., Ltd., China Everbright Bank Co., Ltd., China
Construction Bank Corporation, Jinmao Hotel and Jinmao
(China) Hotel Investments and Management Limited,
Glorious Sun Enterprises Limited, etc. He currently serves
as Independent Non-executive Director of China Unicom
(Hong Kong) Limited, Miramar Hotel and Investment
Company Limited, China Overseas Grand Oceans Group
Ltd., China Everbright Limited, China Railway Group
Limited and Orient Overseas (International) Limited and

Pro-Chancellor of City University of Hong Kong.
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Hu Xiang, Independent Non-executive Director

Hu Xiang, male, obtained a master’s degree in Economics
from the Graduate School of the PBC. Mr. Hu has served
as Independent Non-executive Director of the Bank since
October 2017. He previously served as Principal Staff
Member of Entrusted Investment Division of Investment
Department and Deputy Director (presiding over the
work) of Share Transfer Division of Overseas Investment
Department of National Council for Social Security Fund,
Deputy General Manager of Penghua Fund Management
Co., Ltd., Director of Shanghai Zhitong Construction
Development Co., Ltd., Director of Shanghai TURIN Chi
Robot Co., Ltd. and Independent Director of New China
Fund Management Co., Ltd., etc. Mr. Hu currently serves
as Chairman and General Manager of Great Wheel Asset
Management Company Zhejiang and Director of World

Transmission Technology (Tianjin) Co., Ltd.

Pan Yingli, Independent Non-executive Director

Pan Yingli, female, obtained a doctor’s degree in World
Economics from East China Normal University. Ms. Pan has
served as Independent Non-executive Director of the Bank
since December 2019. She previously served as associate
professor, professor and tutor of doctorate candidates
in East China Normal University, an invited expert of
Shanghai Municipal Government on decision-making
consultation, as well as an Independent Non-executive
Director of China Merchants Bank Co., Ltd. Ms. Pan
currently serves as Director of Research Center for Global
Finance at Shanghai Jiao Tong University, professor in
Finance at Antai College of Economics and Management
of Shanghai Jiao Tong University, Chief Expert of the
Decision-making Consultation Research Base Pan Yingli
Studio of Shanghai Municipal Government, Independent
Non-executive Director of Pujiang International Group
Limited and Independent Director of Asia Cuanon

Technology (Shanghai) Co., Ltd.
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Tang Zhihong, Independent Non-executive Director

Tang Zhihong, male, obtained a Bachelor of Arts degree
from Jilin University and is a senior economist. Mr. Tang
has served as Independent Non-executive Director of
the Bank since March 2023. Mr. Tang previously served
as Deputy Director of the Education Department and
Deputy Director of the Audit Department of Liaoning
branch of the People’s Bank of China, Deputy Secretary
of Party Group and Vice President, Secretary of Party
Group and President of Liaoning Jinzhou branch of the
People’'s Bank of China, Director of Jinzhou branch of the
State Administration of Foreign Exchange, Vice President
of Shenyang branch of China Merchants Bank Co., Ltd.,
Deputy Director of Shenzhen management department
of China Merchants Bank Co., Ltd., President of Lanzhou
branch of China Merchants Bank Co., Ltd., Secretary of
the Party Committee and President of Shanghai branch
of China Merchants Bank Co., Ltd., Secretary of the Party
Committee and Director of the Shenzhen management
department of China Merchants Bank Co., Ltd., a member
of the Party Committee, Assistant President and Vice
President of China Merchants Bank Co., Ltd. He currently
serves as Independent Non-executive Director of Harbin
Electric Company Limited and External Director of

Overseas Chinese Town Holdings Company.
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Chen Yuejun, Chairman of the Board of Supervisors and
Shareholder Representative Supervisor

Chen Yuejun, male, obtained a doctor’s degree in
Economics from the Southwestern University of Finance
and Economics, and holds the title of Senior Economist.
Mr. Chen has served as Chairman of the Board of
Supervisors of the Bank since January 2013. He previously
served as Deputy Director and Director of the Audit and
Supervision Bureau and Bank Supervision Department | of
the PBC, Deputy Chief of the Sichuan Regulatory Bureau of
former CBRC, Deputy Director of the Banking Regulatory
Department IV of former CBRC, and Director (Director
General level) of the Financial Work Office of the People’s

Government of Sichuan Province.

Bai Jianjun, External Supervisor

Bai Jianjun, male, obtained a master’s degree and doctor’s
degree in Law from Peking University. Mr. Bai has served
as External Supervisor of the Bank since October 2019. He
previously served as a professor and tutor of doctorate
candidates in Peking University Law School, Director
of the Research Institute of Empirical Legal Affairs of
Peking University, Deputy Director of the Financial Law
Research Center of Peking University, a visiting researcher
in New York University in the USA, a visiting professor in
Niigata University in Japan, External Supervisor of China
Construction Bank Corporation, and Independent Director
of Beijing Boya-Yingjie Science & Technology Co., Ltd, CSC
Financial Co., Ltd., and Sichuan Xinwang Bank Co., Ltd.
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Chen Shimin, External Supervisor

Chen Shimin, male, obtained a bachelor's degree and a
master’s degree in Economics from Shanghai University of
Finance and Economics, a doctor’s degree in Accounting
from the University of Georgia in the USA, and is a
Certified Management Accountant in the USA. Mr. Chen
has served as External Supervisor of the Bank since
December 2019. He previously served as Sub-dean and
Curriculum Director of the master's degree programme
of business administration of China Europe International
Business School, External Supervisor of Shanghai Pudong
Development Bank Co., Ltd., and Independent Director of
Huaxia Happiness Foundation Co., Ltd. He currently serves
as a professor of Accounting and Director of the Case
Center in China Europe International Business School, as
well as Independent Director of Yincheng International
Holding Co., Ltd., Sun. King Power Electronics Group
Limited, Advanced Micro-Fabrication Equipment
(Shanghai) Inc. China and China Guangfa Bank Co., Ltd.

Li Yue, Employee Supervisor

Li Yue, male, obtained a bachelor’s degree in Arts
from Heilongjiang University and holds the title of
Senior Corporate Culture Specialist. Mr. Li has served
as Employee Supervisor of the Bank since December
2012. He previously served as Project Manager of the
Investment Attraction Bureau, Deputy Director and
Director of Beijing Liaison Office of Jiangsu Nantong
Economic & Technological Development Area, Deputy
Director of Beijing Liaison Office of Nantong People’s
Government of Jiangsu Province, as well as Deputy
Director (presiding over the work) of Party and Masses’
Affairs Department, Deputy Director of Inspection and
Supervision Department, Director of Party and Masses’
Affairs Department and Director of Party Committee and
Party Building Department of the Bank. He currently serves
as Director of Party Building Department and Deputy
Secretary to the Party Committee of the Bank.
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Gu Nannan, Employee Supervisor

Gu Nannan, male, obtained a master’'s degree in
Management from the Australian National University and
holds the title of Senior Economist. Mr. Gu has served
as Employee Supervisor of the Bank since June 2021. He
served as Deputy Director of Personnel and Education
Department and Deputy Director of Organization
Department of the Party Committee of Beijing Municipal
Postal Administration, General Manager of the Human
Resources Department of the Beijing Branch of the
Bank, Deputy General Manager of the Human Resources
Department, Deputy General Manager (presiding over
the work) of Office of the Board of Directors and General
Manager of Office of the Board of Directors of the Bank.
Mr. Gu Nannan currently serves as General Manager of the

Office of the Board of Supervisors of the Bank.

Liu Jianjun, Executive Director and President
For the biography of Liu Jianjun, please refer to the

aforesaid section “Biographies of Directors”.

Yao Hong, Executive Director, Vice President and Chief
Risk Officer
For the biography of Yao Hong, please refer to the

aforesaid section “Biographies of Directors”.

Xu Xueming, Vice President

Xu Xueming, male, obtained an Executive Master’s degree
of Business Administration from Peking University and
holds the title of Senior Economist. Mr. Xu has served
as Vice President of the Bank since January 2013. He
previously served as Deputy Chief of Beijing Postal Savings
and Remittance Bureau, Director of the Public Service
Division of the Beijing Postal Administration Bureau, Chief
of Beijing Western Post Bureau, Deputy Chief of Beijing
Postal Administration Bureau, Deputy General Manager
of Beijing Post Company, President of Beijing Branch
and Secretary to the Board of Directors of the Bank. He
concurrently serves as Director of China Post Securities
Co., Ltd., Director of Ule Holdings Company and Director

of China Bankers Institute of China Banking Association.
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Du Chunye, Vice President, Secretary to the Board of
Directors and Joint Company Secretary

Du Chunye, male, obtained a master’s degree in Business
Administration from Beijing University of Posts and
Telecommunications and holds the title of Senior
Economist. Mr. Du has served as Joint Company Secretary
of the Bank since March 2017, Secretary to the Board of
Directors of the Bank since April 2017, and Vice President
of the Bank since July 2020. He previously served as
Deputy Manager and Manager of the General Manager's
Office of China Post Group, as well as General Manager
of the General Office, Vice President of Beijing Branch,
President of Shenzhen Branch and President of Beijing
Branch of the Bank. He concurrently serves as natural-
person member representative (and Vice-President
member) of China Association for Public Companies, and
Deputy Chairman of the ESG Special Committee of China

Association for Public Companies.

Niu Xinzhuang, Vice President and Chief Information
Officer

Niu Xinzhuang, male, obtained a master’s degree in
Management from Nanjing University of Aeronautics
and Astronautics. He has served as Chief Information
Officer of the Bank since July 2020, and Vice President
of the Bank since June 2023. He previously served as
Assistant to General Manager, Deputy General Manager
and General Manager of the Technology Development
Department and General Manager of the Information
Technology Department of the Head Office of China
Minsheng Banking Corporation Limited, Executive Director
and General Manager of Minsheng Fintech Corp. Ltd., and
General Manager of the Financial Technology Innovation

Department of the Bank.
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Wang Fei, Secretary of the Discipline Inspection
Committee

Wang Fei, female, obtained a doctor’s degree in
Economics from Renmin University of China and holds
the title of Senior Economist. Ms. Wang has served as
Secretary of the Discipline Inspection Committee of the
Bank since April 2023. Ms. Wang once held the positions
in China Post Group Corporation including Manager of
the Salary and Welfare Division, Director of the Division
of Human Resources, Deputy General Manager, Deputy
Director of the Party Organization Department, Director
of the Vocational Skills Appraisal and Guidance Center,
Vice President of the CPC China Post Group Corporation
Party School, General Manager of the Human Resources
Department (Director of the Party Committee Organization

Department) of the Bank.

Liang Shidong, Chief Retail Banking Officer

Liang Shidong, male, obtained a doctor’s degree in
Management from University of Science and Technology
of China and holds the title of Researcher. Mr. Liang has
served as Chief Retail Banking Officer of the Bank since
July 2023. He previously served as Deputy Director and
Director of the Risk Management Department of China
Construction Bank, Deputy Director General of the
Financial Stability Bureau of the PBC, a member of the CPC
committee of National Association of Financial Market
Institutional Investors, Director of CNIC Corporation
Limited, Chief Risk Officer and General Manager of the Risk
Management Department of the Bank, and Secretary of
the Party Committee and Chairman of YOU* BANK. He used
to be a member of the Policy Development Committee
of the Basel Committee on Banking Supervision (BCBS)
and a member of the Steering Committee of the Financial
Stability Board (FSB). Mr. Liang previously served as
a member of the 12th committee of All-China Youth

Federation.
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Changes in Directors, Supervisors and Senior

Management Members

According to the resolution of the Board of Directors and
the resolution of the Shareholders’ General Meeting of the
Bank and upon approval by the former CBIRC on March 10,
2023, Mr. Tang Zhihong would serve as Independent Non-
executive Director, Chairman and member of the Related
Party Transactions Control Committee of the Board of
Directors, member of the Risk Management Committee
of the Board of Directors and member of the Nomination
and Remuneration Committee of the Board of Directors of
the Bank, with a three-year term of office. Mr. Fu Tingmei
no longer serves as Independent Non-executive Director
or at relevant special committees of the Board of Directors
of the Bank from the date when Mr. Tang Zhihong took
office. For details, please refer to the announcements of
the Bank dated October 26, 2022, November 11, 2022 and
March 16, 2023.

On April 19, 2023, Mr. Zhang Xuewen reached the
mandatory retirement age, and resigned from positions
as Executive Director, member of the Strategic Planning
Committee of the Board of Directors, member of the
Related Party Transactions Control Committee of the
Board of Directors and member of the Nomination and
Remuneration Committee of the Board of Directors of the
Bank. For details, please refer to the announcement of the
Bank dated April 19, 2023.

On May 29, 2023, the Board of Directors of the Bank
nominated Mr. Huang Jie as candidate for Non-executive
Director of the Bank. At the 2022 Annual General Meeting
of the Bank held on June 30, 2023, Mr. Huang Jie was
elected as Non-executive Director of the Bank. On
January 19, 2024, the qualification of Mr. Huang lJie as a
Director has been approved by the NFRA, and he has been
appointed as a Non-executive Director of the Bank as well
as a member of the Strategic Planning Committee and a
member of the Audit Committee of the Board of Directors
of the Bank for a term of three years. For details, please
refer to the announcements of the Bank dated May 29,
2023, June 30, 2023 and January 23, 2024.
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On December 28, 2023, the Board of Directors of the
Bank nominated Mr. Ding Xiangming for re-election
as a candidate for Non-executive Director of the Bank.
The election is subject to approval of the Shareholders’
General Meeting. For details, please refer to the

announcement of the Bank dated December 28, 2023.

On December 28, 2023, the Board of Directors of the
Bank nominated Mr. Hong Xiaoyuan as a candidate for
Independent Non-executive Director of the Bank. The
election is subject to the approval of the Shareholders’
General Meeting, and his qualification as a director is
pending approval from the NFRA. For details, please refer
to the announcement of the Bank dated December 28,
2023.

On May 29, 2023, Mr. Bu Dongsheng resigned from his
positions as Employee Supervisor and member of the
Finance and Internal Control Risk Supervision Committee
of the Board of Supervisors of the Bank due to expiry
of term of office. As the composition of the Board of
Supervisors of the Bank met the requirement for the
proportion of external supervisors, Mr. Wu Yu no longer
serves as External Supervisor, Chairman and member
of the Finance and Internal Control Risk Supervision
Committee of the Board of Supervisors of the Bank from
the date of resignation of Mr. Bu Dongsheng. For details,
please refer to the announcement of the Bank dated
May 29, 2023.

On March 8, 2024, Mr. Zhao Yongxiang resigned from
his positions as a Shareholder Representative Supervisor
and a member of the Duty Performance Supervision
Committee of the Board of Supervisors of the Bank due to
reaching the statutory retirement age. For details, please
refer to the announcement of the Bank dated March 8,
2024.
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On April 19, 2023, Mr. Zhang Xuewen reached the
mandatory retirement age, and resigned from the position
as Vice President of the Bank. For details, please refer to
the announcement of the Bank dated April 19, 2023.

On April 19, 2023, Mr. Qu Jiawen reached the mandatory
retirement age, and resigned from the position as Vice
President of the Bank. For details, please refer to the

announcement of the Bank dated April 19, 2023.

On April 19, 2023, Ms. Wang Fei began to serve as
Secretary of the Discipline Inspection Committee of the
Bank.

On April 27, 2023, the Board of Directors of the Bank
appointed Mr. Niu Xinzhuang as Vice President of the
Bank. On June 6, 2023, the qualifications of Mr. Niu
Xinzhuang were approved by the NFRA. For details, please
refer to the announcements of the Bank dated April 27,
2023 and June 8, 2023.

On May 29, 2023, the Board of Directors of the Bank
appointed Ms. Yao Hong to concurrently serve as Chief
Risk Officer of the Bank; and Mr. Liang Shidong ceased to
serve as Chief Risk Officer of the Bank. For details, please
refer to the announcement of the Bank dated May 29,
2023.

On May 29, 2023, the Board of Directors of the Bank
appointed Mr. Liang Shidong as Chief Retail Banking
Officer of the Bank. His qualification was approved by
the NFRA on July 14, 2023. For details, please refer to
the announcements of the Bank dated May 29, 2023 and
July 21, 2023.
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Board of Directors and Special Committees
Functions and Powers of the Board of Directors

The Board of Directors is responsible to the Shareholders’
General Meetings. It is responsible for convening the
Shareholders’ General Meetings, reporting its work at
the meetings and implementing resolutions adopted at
the Shareholders’ General Meetings; making decisions
on the Bank’s development strategies, business plans
and investment plans; reviewing and approving capital
management plans and risk capital a